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(PROCEEDINGS, JULY 16, 2015)

THE COURT: Solicitor?

MR. SAMS: Thank you, Your Honor.

Before you is Alonzo Columbus Jeter, III. He is
pleading gﬁilty to six indictments.

Indictment Number 2015-GS-11-461, which is
possession of methamphetamine, second offense. He's
pleading that down from a third offense. That is --

And all of these are negotiated, Your Honor, by

~ the way.

That is with a negotiated recommendation of
fifteen years.

Indictment Number 2015-GS-11-463, distribution of
methamphetamine, second offense. Again, down from a third
offense with a negotiated recommendation of fifteen years.

Indictment Number 2015-GS-11-462, which is
distribution of methamphetamine within proximity to a
playground or school. That is a negotiated recommendation
of concurrent with other charges.

Indictment Number 2015-GS-11-464. That is agaig
distribution within proximity to a school or playground with
a negotiated recommendation of concurrent sentencing with
other charges.

Indictment Number 2015-GS-11-465, that's

trafficking in methamphetamine between ten grams and
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twenty-eight grams, second offense, down from a third
offense, with a negotiated sentence of fifteen years.

And, finally, Indictment Number 2014-GS-11-591,
which is possession of an ounce or less of marijuana, second
offense -- second or subsequent offense, with a negotiated
recommendation of concurrent sentence with other charges.

Your Honor, he's represented by Mr. Chris Kennedy.

Also, Your Honor, on the record, on Indictment
Number 2014-GS-11-591, which is the possession of marijuana
indictment, the State would move to amend the defendant's
name on the indictment to add the III designation, Alonzo
Columbus Jeter, III, which we have left off of that
indictment.

THE COURT: You can make that change. TI'll
initial it, get him to initial it.

MR. SAMS: Yes.

THE COURT: No objection?

MR. KENNEDY: No, Your Honor.

THE CLERK: Please raise your right hand.

ALONZO COLUMBUS JETER, III, having been first duly
sworn, testified as follows:

THE COURT: Sir, you are Alonzo Columbus Jeter,
III, is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: How old are you, sir?
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THE DEFENDANT: I'm thirty-eight.
THE COURT: How far did you go in school?
THE DEFENDANT: Some college.

THE COURT: What do you do for a job or

|| occupation?

THE DEFENDANT: I was a pianist, a church pianist,
and I was -- in fact, been looking for a job in the past and
I couldn't never find one.

THE COURT: Are you married, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have children?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: What are their ages?

THE DEFENDANT: I have one that's eighteen, one
that's sixteen, and one that's fourteen.

THE COURT: How much have you served in jail on
these charges?

THE DEFENDANT: I have been here this time since
March the 31lst, and I was out on house arrest, on home
detention, for approximately like ten months on that.

THE COURT: If y'all try to figure it out.

Counsel, if you can give me the exact numbers of
days, I can put that on the sentencing sheet. Otherwise,
I'll just give him credit for time served.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.
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MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: But sometimes they don't just -- they
dont' agree down in Columbia, but, you know, they don't
usually quarrel with the judges.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: If you will try to figure that out and
let me know in the morning.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Now, Mr. Jeter, you are charged with
several charges today. One of those charges --

Well, let me take it back. All but one of these
charges have not been presented to the grand jury for
indictment.

You have a Constitutional Right to have these
charges presented to the grand jury and have the grand jury
act on them before this court acts on them. The grand jury
would either enter a No Bill, which means they would dismiss
them, or they would enter a True Bill. A True Bill is the
action by the grand jury which gives this court the right,
authority and jurisdiction to hear and resolve your cases,
regardless of the outcome.

Do you understand that you have a Constitutional
Right to have these charges presented to the grand jury and

have the grand jury act on them before this court acts on
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them?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that?

Do you wish to give up or waive your right to have
the charges presented to the grand jury and proceed on today
with guilty pleas?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Counsel, how about getting him to
initial the waivers on the sentencing sheet?

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

(Off the record).

(Back on the record).

THE COURT: Mr. Jeter, are these your initials on
each of these sentencing sheets waiving presentment to the
grand jury?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I find the defendant's decision to
waive his right to have these charges presented to the grand
jury being made freely, voluntarily and intelligently.

Now, again, you are charged with possession of
marijuana, second offense, which carries a maximum
punishment of one year and $1,000 fine. Do you understand
that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You are also charged with two counts
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of distribution or possession with intent to distribute
controlled substances within proximity of a school, park or
playground, each of which carries a maximum punishment of
ten years and a $10,000 fine. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You are also charged with distribution
of methamphetamine, second offense, two counts, each of
which carries a minimum sentence of five years, a maximum
sentence of thirty years and $50,000 fine. Do you
understand that those charges, the maximum punishment you
could receive on each of them?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You are also charged with trafficking
ice, crank, or crack in an amount between ten and
twenty-eight grams, second offense, which also carries a
minimum sentence of five years and a maximum sentence of
thirty years and a $50,000 fine. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Now, understanding all of that, how do
you wish to plead to these five charges today, guilty or not
guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: I plead quilty.

THE COURT: Do you understand that by pleading
guilty you give up your right to remain silent?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: Do you understand that by pleading
guilty you give up your right to a trial by jury?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

>THE COURT: Let me back up. There are six
charges, not five.

Do you understand if you give up your right to a
trial by Jjury, you also give up your right to assert any
legal defenses that you might have in a jury trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I know that your attorney has gone
over that right with you, and I'm going to do so as well.

If you requested a matter of a trial by jury, the
State would give you a trial. At trial you would have the
right to confront and cross-examine all witnesses against
you.

You would have the right to present any witnesses
and/or evidence in your own defense.

You would have the right to testify in your own
defense, if you wished to do so, but no one could make you
testify in your own trial.

If you decided to go to trial and not testify, the
judge would tell the jury they could not hold your failure
to testify against you. In fact, the jury couldn't even
consider your failure to testify in their deliberations on

your guilt or innocence.
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You would be presumed innocent throughout your
trial. The State would have to prove you guilty beyond a
reasonable doubt to a jury of twelve people.

All twelve people would have to unanimously agree
that you were guilty in order for you to be convicted. And
even if you were convicted, you would still have the right
to appeal that conviction.

Do you understand your rights with regard to a
trial by jury?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Understanding that right, do you still
want to plead guilty or do you want me to set your cases for
trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty, Your Honér.

THE COURT: Let me further explain to you that
each of these drug charges, other than the marijuana charge,
which is a misdemeanor, each of them is classified as a
felony.

Are these second offenses serious offenses? 1Is
possession with intent to distribute, or distribute, second
offense, are they --

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- serious offenses?

MR. SAMS: It's considered a serious. Let me

double check that for you, Your Honor.

11
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THE COURT: That's what I have got. I don't know
if that had been changed or not.

MR. SAMS: It was at the time of the -- it was at
the time of the incident dates, yes, sir.

MR. KENDALL: I believe that it falls under that
provision, Your Honor, that it carries thirty years, and
that's how ~- I believe that's correct.

THE COURT: All right. I just wanted to be sure.
I know they changed a couple of these.

All right. All right. Each of them is classified
as a serious offense.

And the possession with intent to distribute
within proximity of a school, park or playground, or
distribution with intent to distribute within proximity of a
school, park, or playground is also classified as a serious
offense.

And the -- at any rate, each of them is classified
as a serious offense.

The importance of that classification is should
you get three separate serious offenses on your record, or a
combination of three serious and most-serious offenses on
your record, upon receiving the third such offense you could
get a sentence of life without parole, the so-called
Three-Strikes Rule. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: Now, the distribution of
methamphetamine, or possession with intent to distribute
methamphetamine, second offense, they are classified as
violent offenses, as is the trafficking in ten grams to
twenty-eight grams, second offense, trafficking, they are
classified as violent offenses, which could affect, of
course, your eligibility for parole and also your ability to
participate in certain programs at the South Carolina
Department of Corrections. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

'THE COURT: And understanding all of that, how do
you wish to plead to these charges?

Well, T have already asked you that, but let me
ask you again. How do you wish to plead to these charges,
guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: All right. Now, the State is
recommending to the court --

Now, you said -- solicitor, to be sure T
understand your negotiations, it was on the possession with
intent to distribute methamphetaminé, second offense,
fifteen years, correct?

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And then the distribution of

methamphetamine, second offense, fifteen years?

13
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MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you talking about -- you didn't
say anything about concurrently.

MR. SAMS: Concurrent sentences. I apologize,
Your Honor, I meant to recommend concurrent sentencing on
everything.

THE COURT: Okay.

And then on the proximity charge, that there was
no specific negotiated sentence, but whatever sentence would
run concurrently?

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir, since it doesn't carry aboveb
ten, just whatever the court would give concurrent with the
fifteen.

THE COURT: There's two of those.

And then in the trafficking, ten to twenty-eight
grams, fifteen years to run concurrent?

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And possession of marijuana, second
offense, that would run concurrent?

MR. SAMS: That's correct.

THE COURT: Now, is that your understanding of the
agreement that you had with the solicitor's office in order
to plead guilty to these charges, Mr. Jeter?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir?

THE COURT: 1In other words, the total sentence
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would be fifteen years.

Has anybody promised you anything other than that
in order to get you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Are you pleading guilty
today of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you, in fact, guilty of these six
charges?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Please give me the facts, solicitor.

MR. SAMS: Thank you, Your Honor.

I'll start with the marijuana offense. It
occurred on April the 10th, 2014.

Officers from the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office
were patrolling a location in Cherokee County. They
obse;ved a vehicle driveﬁ by Ms. Kimberly McSwain, who did
not have a seat belt on, pass by their vehicle. They
conducted a traffic stop. Subsequent to that Ms. McSwain
didn't have a valid driver's license.

They then spoke with Ms. McSwain to obtain consent
to search that vehicle. There was a bag of what they
believed to be methamphetamine in plain view in this
vehicle.

And subsequently the occupants, one of whom was

15
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Mr. Jeter were taken into detention. Pursuant to search
incident to arrest a bag of marijuana was found in, I
believe, it was his -- I believe it was his sock.

As to the other counts, these all were essentially
a series of undercover controlled purchases by the sheriff's
office through undercover operatives. They were captured on
audio and video, the first o;curring on January the 12th,
2015. The undercover operative was captured on audio and
video purchasing methamphetamine from Mr. Jeter in Cherokee
County.

Based upon that purchase, on January the 14th the
undercover operative coordinated with the sheriff's office
and engaged in a series of phone calls with Mr. Jeter to
coordinate a purchase of a larger amount of methamphetamine
from him.

On January the 14th that undercover operative then
traveled to a location in Cherokee County and met with Mr.
Jeter and exchanged what I believe they call it an eight
ball of methamphetamine -- or bought an eight ball of
methamphetamine, which is approximately 3.4 grams from Mr.
Jeter. That was also captured on audio and video.

There was a discussion during the phone
conversations of a purchase of a larger amount of
methamphetamine from Mr. Jeter. The undercover and Mr.

Jeter at that time made arrangements to meet back up so that
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the operative could then purchase the larger amount from Mr.
Jeter. That occurred on January the 15th. That operative
again met up with Mr. Jeter. It was captured on audio and
video in Cherokee County purchasing a quantity of
methamphetamine from Mr. Jeter. It was originally believed
to be more than eleven grams, but it turned out, I believe,
pursuant to the SLED weight to be 10.4 grams, purchased on
January the 15th from Mr. Jeter. Again, it was captured on
audio and video in Cherokee County.

THE COURT: Mr. Jeter, you have heard the facts
recited to the court by the solicitor's office with regard
to these charges. Do you disagree in any way with what they
say happened?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: I find the decision of the defendant,
Alonzo Columbus Jeter, III, to plead guilty to these six
charges being made freely, voluntarily and intelligently.

He's had the representation of a competent
attorney with whom he says he is satisfied.

I find the facts presented to the court by the
solicitor's office, concurred in by the defendant, fully
support the guilty pleas in this case.

I'll accept the pleas.as freely and voluntarily
made.

Mr. Jeter, if you disagree with the proceeding

17
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which we are currently involved, you have ten days from
today's date within which to file a notice of intent to
appeal.

Do you understand your right to appeal today's
proceedings?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Counsel?

MR. KENNEDY: Your Honor, just briefly, because I
know this is primarily a negotiated sentence.

Your Honor, I would ask the court obviously to
except the negotiated sentence that we have had. It's been
ongoing for several weeks.

Mr. Jeter -- I have reviewed all the discovery
thoroughly. I have gone over the discovery with him, as
well as I viewed the videos and discussed the videos with
Mr. Jeter. There is little question and he's already
admitted it, obviously, but there's little question that
it's him in the videos and you can actually see the
transactions take place in the videos.

Your Honor, I'm happy to get you the amount of

time that he has served in the detention center here at the

.beginning of these cases and more recently when he was

arrested on these other charges.
The only other thing I would ask the court to

consider is under South Carolina law, the court can award
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him time spent on home detention. I don't have that
specific figure, but I would ask the court to consider to do
that as well.

THE COURT: Any comment on that, solicitor?

MR. SAMS: As far as home detention? No, the
State would not -- would not agree with the home detention
as part of the negotiation.

MR. KENNEDY: Well, I didn't -- I don't want him
to be on home detention. 1It's just that pursuant to the
law, if he's --

THE COURT: No, he's wanting me to give.him credit
for his time served.

MR. SAMS: Oh, I'm sorry, I was not listening
properly, Your Honor. The State doesn't take a position on
that.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, I will give him credit
for that, just --

MR. KENNEDY: 1I'll get you the time.

THE COURT: -- get me the time.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: 1I'll need the actual amount, if you
want me to put it on here. Otherwise, all I'm doing is just
checking off the block for the credit for time served.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Put the time in here and they'll

19
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accept it. 1If nof, you may be in a dispute with them down

there.
MR. KENNEDY: That sounds good, judge.
THE COURT: All right.
MR. SAMS: Your Honor, may I place on the
record --

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. SAMS: -- also just for appellate purposes
that Mr. Jeter does have prior convictions for controlled
substances that could have given rise to a third, an
enhanced third offense, and these have been knocked down to
second.

THE COURT: Well, I think -- I'm glad you brought
that up. I think you should go ahead énd put it on the
record what his priors are --

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- since we are -- these are being
handled.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

MR. SAMS: Would you like the whole record, or
just the enhancing drugs?

THE COURT: I want all the enhancement stuff.

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: It's a negotiated sentence. I'm not

worried about what his other charges are, but we need to put
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the offenses to which it would enhance these on him.
MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.
Marijuana, of course, wouldn't enhance it.

However, starting in '05, there was a possession

of -- it was either methamphetamine or crack cocaine. There
were ~- there was one of those in '05.
And '06 -- no, I'm sorry. That's another

marijuana itself.

So that was an '05 possession of either meth or
crack.

And then a '13 possession of a controlled
substance. That was a second offense at that time.

THE COURT: So he's got two either crack or meth?

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SAMS: Well, one of them was a controlled
substance and one of them was crack or meth. That would run
under the statute. Either one would --

THE COURT: I understand, but actually I
understood you to say there were two possession of crack or
two of those.

MR. SAMS: No, I misspoke. I believe it waé one.
I had looked at a mérijuana charge and thought it was two of
the crack or meth.

THE COURT: Okay.

21
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Well, let me ask you this. This is kind of
unusual to have these kind of quantities of meth. Most of
these little cults, people around doing their little
cooking, and other people getting it and bringing them the
stuff to them, him cooking it and then everybody getting a
little bit here and there. We are talking about a
substantial amount here. Is Mr. Jeter manufacturing all
that stuff, or is he getting it from somebody else? 1It's
got to be a pretty good operation, manufacturing this much
meth.

MR. KENNEDY: You have to answer the question.

THE DEFENDANT: I was getting it from someone
else, sir.

THE COURT: All right. It must be more than a
usual little meth labs that they have out here in‘the gallon
bottles, or whatever, to cook this kind of meth. Most of it
won't produce that kind of meth, so I don't know. I'm sure
that the authorities are looking at those to try to figure
that out.

All right. 1In case number 2015-GS-11-463, Alonzo
Columbus Jeter, III, having pled guilty to distribution of
methamphetamine, second offense, the sentence of the court
is you be committed to the State Department of Corrections
for a determinate term of fifteen years.

This sentence is concurrent with all other
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sentences this date.

He's to be given credit for time served in the
amount to be plugged in, if you get that to me.

Case number 2015-GS-11-461, Alonzo Columbus Jeter,
III, having pled guilty to distribution of methamphetamine,
second offense, the sentence of the court is the same as the
previous sentence, to run concurrent.

Case number 2015-GS-11-465, Alonzo Columbus Jeter,
III, having pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine,
the sentence of the court is the same as the previous
sentence; that is, fifteen years concurrent.

Case number 2015-GS-11-464, Alonzo Columbus Jeter,
III, having pled guilty to distribution or possession with
intent to distribute a controlled substance near a school,
the sentence of the court is to be committed to the State
Department of Corrections for a determinate term of ten
years, to run concurrent. Credit for time served.

Case number 2015-GS-11-962, Alonzo Columbus Jeter;
III, having pled guilty to distribution of a controlled
substance within proximity of a school, the sentence of the
court is the same as the previous sentence, to run
concurrent with credit for time served.

And in the marijuana charge, case number
2014-GS-11-591, Alonzo Columbus Jeter, III, having pled

guilty to possession of marijuana, second offense, the
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sentence of the court is to be committed to the count&
detention center for a determinate term or time served.
That's concurrent and time served. No use -- it's jﬁst a
lot of extra paperwork. It's nothing compared to the major
charges.

MR. SAMS: Yes, sir.

MR. KENNEDY: VYes, sir.

THE COURT: So this would be one less bit of
paperwork to deal with, but he will be getting a time served
sentence that's on his record.

MR. KENNEDY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Now, of course, you need to sign all
these indictments, do you understand?

MR. SAMS: I apologize, Your Honor.

MR. KENNEDY: Thank you, judge.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

(END OF REQUESTED TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD)
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CERTIFICATE

I, the undersigned, Michael R. Watts, Official Court
Reporter for the Seventh Judicial Circuit of the State of
South Carolina, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a
true, accurate and complete Transcript of Record of the
proceedings had and the evidence introduced in the trial of
the captioned case, relative to appeal, in the Court of
General Sessions for CHEROKEE County, South Carolina, on the
l16th day of July, 2015.

I do further certify that I am neither of kin, counsel

nor interest to any party hereto.

June 3, 2016

el o O [ L bcts

Michael R. Watts
Circuit Court Reporter
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FORM 5

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA }
. ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
County of _Cherokee )
- 0160211029
Rlonz o Colupbus Jeter $#282902. ) 1 6 “ 3
Fulf name and prison aumber (if any) of Applicant }
)
v )
) APPLICATION FOR
)
State of South Carolina ) POST-CONVICTION RELIEF
) &
) N
i @
INSTRUCTIONS - READ CAREFULLY A -

e o S

In order for this application to receive consideration by the Coust, it shall be in writing{legibly
handwritten or typewritten), signed by the applicant and veritied {notarized). and it shall set forth in’
concise form the answers to each applicable question. It necessary, applicant may furnish his answer to a
particular question on the reverse side of the page or on an additional page. Applicant shall make clear to

which question any such continued answer refers.

Since every application must be sworn under oath, any false statetient of a material fact therein
may serve as the basis of prosecution and conviction for perjury. Applicants should, therefore. exercise
care to assure that all answers are true and correct.

[f the application is taken jn forina pauperis. it shall include an affidavit (attached at the back of
the form) setting forth information which establishes that applicant will be unable to pay the fees and
costs of the proceedings. When the application is completed, the otiginal shall be mailed to the Clerk of
Court for the County in which the applicant was convicted.

I. Place of detention [~e. . £/ 7. /7
2. Name and location of Court which imposed sentence (hemkee (fcanml‘}z
” S¢ - 2 e .

3. Name(s) of co-defendant(s) (if any) _/V //7

4. The indictment number or numbers (if known) upon which and the oftenses for which
sentence was imposed: .See ,4 tached Page Lof Y]
(a) i _ i
) . :




The date upon which sentence was imposed and the terms of the sentence

=D,
SEE Atfached PageL ot 4.

(a)
(b}
(c)
Check whether a finding of guilty was made:

(a) after a plea of guilty 1/

(b) after a plea of not guilty

(c) after a plea of nolo contendere
Did you appeal from the judgmient of conviction or the imposition of sentence?

NO

8. If you answered *yes” to (7), list:
the name of each Court to which you appealed:

(a)
e
1N 777

il

T
(b}  the result in each such Court to which you appealed:

. IV —

a- o)
1 77
(c) the date of each such result:
1

o VI

(d)  if known, citations of any written opinion or orders entered pursuant to such

results:

I,

] A [ A
i N [ /\
[ /[

. V / / \

If you answered “no” to (7). state your reasons for not so appealing:

@ _Didnot Know how 4o

(b)

»o
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. (b)

010029

(C) 4 . : > <,
State concisely the grounds on which you base your aliegation that you are being held in

custody unlawtully: See Attached qué & of 4
(a)
(b)
(c}

State concisely and in the same order the facts which support each of the grounds set out

in(10): SE£ H#ackec/ Pa,yes Qof Y and Fof o
(a)

)

Prior to this application have vou filed with respect to this conviction:

(a) any petition in a State Court under South Carolina Law? MQ

(b)  any petition in State or Federal Courts for habeas corpus or post-convictions
relief? NO

(c) any petition in the United States Supreme Court for certiorari other than petitions.
if any. already specified in (8)? NO S~

(d any other petitions. motions or applications in this or any other Coun . [wz

If you answered “yes"” to any part of (12). list with respect to each petlthn, ml.leon or

.~

application:

cD> )
(@)  the specific nature thereof: G~ -
i. A A w7

/7 T
ii. [N [ ’ '

v 1N/

(b) the name and location of the Court in which each was filed:

i. /. L A

i \ [ /)]
i \ | / /1

.

R
el
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(c) the disposition thereof:
. R
i \ [ //

Gl ]
v
]
~

™

—
m—————

' v 7 1\
(e) if known. citations of any written opinions or orders entered pursuant to each such

disposition: = :E:

i | /A 3

. TN/ S

i, TN/ /=) >
Caurt, &

14.  Hasany ground set forth in (10) been previously presented to this or any other

State or Federal. in any petition. motion or application which you have filed?

_NO

15.  If you answered “yes™ to (14) identify:

(a) which grounds have been presented:

i N[ /A
i NS /)
i I\ / /7
{ Y/ /7 A
(b) the proceedings in which each ground was raised:

. A [ [/ 4

] AN
i |\

[ [\
V77

Revised 3/2003
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16.

18.

See Attatched Page 4ot 4. 0 1 6 {;‘P.Hoz 9 3 (

If any ground set forth in (10) has not previously been presented to any Court. State or
Federal. set forth the ground and state concisely the reasons why such ground has not

previously been presented: This s ~y st epportuaity
THIS is my £rerst-

@ 6™ - ¢hue Asiistance el ity
(b)HMMMMLMﬁMQMEy.
(©) hack of Suls = Tis 1 iz £

Were you represented by an attorney at any time during the course of’

(a)  yourarraignment and plea?

(b) your trial, if any?

(¢)  yoursentencing? YES

(d) vour appeal. if any. from the judgment of conviction or the imposition of

g =
sentence? =
(e) preparation, presentation or consideration of any petitions. motioriéfor :Ew_'
applications with respect to this conviction. which vou filed? i & )
= > -
If you answered “yes” to one or more parts of (17). list: ,—:; j =
(a) the name and address of cach attorney who represented you: T
4

L

SC Rar #F 79073

iii.

(b) the proceedings at which each such attorney represented you:

1. V> s —

wee

Revised 3/2003

W
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19. State clearly the relief you seek in filing this application: See. ﬁ-H?u'-Aéﬂ/ Page YoF 4

20.  Are you now under sentence from any other court that you have not challenged?

NO

=5

=9

- N

z [we)
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) > -
) VERIFICATION - 7 ]
County of CAerok&e, ) M SO

I._Alonzo Columbus Jeter I #282902 . being duly sworn

upon my oath, depose and say that I have subscribed to the foregoing application: that [ know the
contents thereof: that it includes every ground known to me for vacating. setting aside or
correcting the conviction and sentence attacked in this application: and that the matters and

allegations therein set forth are true.
g :

SWORN to and subscribed before me thigs2 ( d

Notary Public

My Commission Expires: gl

Revised 3/2003




015010293

APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PAYMENT
OF COSTS AND AFFIDAVIT
IN SUPPORT THEREOF

I oa20 , IZ Sc G2~ . hereby apply for leave to
proceed in this action without prepayment of fees or costs or security therefor. [n support of my
application | declare under penalty of perjury that the following facts are true:

(h [ am the applicant in this action and | believe I am entitled to redress.

(2) Because of my poverty | am unable to pay the costs of said proceeding or give

security thereof.
% Applicant

SWORN or affirmed 10 and subscribed before me this

\ ; : =
w_dayof&_?h4,( el - =
SO 3
Notary Public . ~N
.

ommission Expires: 0>

o @©

Revised 3/2003
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" oflenses Lor which senterce was imposeds

(2) 2015-65-//-00461 = Distrebudion, etc. of methamphetamine,dnd

Offeanse.

5, The date upon which Seatesce was 1‘mpo.s::o/ ad the ferms of the
Seatesce.

(0)_July 16, 2015 = |5 Years State Departoment of Lovretioas (Concucreat)
B July /6, 20l5 = [0 Years State Deonitreat of Correcttons (concucreat)

(¢) July 16, 2015 — L5 Years Stute Degurtmeat of Conrections (concurreatd)
O Tuty 16, 2015 = 10 Yoars State Depctmeat of Losrections (roscicert)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
) FOR THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )
Alonzo Columbus Jeter III, #282902 ) Case No.: 2016-CP-11-0293
)
Applicant, )
) RETURN
V. )
)
State of South Carolina, )
‘ )
Respondent. )
)

Respondent, making its Return to the Application for Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) filed

on April 28, 2016, would respectfully show this Court:
L

Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant
to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Cherokee County. Applicant was charged with
two counts of distribution of methamphetamine, third or subsequent offense (2015-GS-11-0461
and -0463), two counts of distribution of methamphetamine within one-half mile of a park or
school (2015-GS-11-0462 and -0464), and one count of trafficking in methamphetamine 10-28
grams, third offense (2015-GS-11-0465). Applicant was represented by Christopher Kennedy,
Esquire. On July 16, 2015, Applicant waived presentment to the grand jury on all charges and
pleaded guilty to the lesser included offenses of two counts of distribution of methamphetamine,
second offense, and trafficking in methamphetamine 10-28 grams, second offense. Pursuant to a
negotiated recommendation of 15 years and concurrent sentencing, the Honorable Lee S. Alford
sentenced Applicant to imprisonment for concurrent terms of 15 years for each count of

distribution of methamphetamine and trafficking in methamphetamine, and 10 years for each

Page 1 of 9
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count of distribution of methamphetamine within one-half mile of school.! Applicant did not
appeal his guilty plea or sentence.

Attached herewith and incorporated herein by reference are the records of the Cherokee
County Clerk of Court regarding the subject convictions, the transcript from Applicant’s plea,
and Applicant’s records for the Department of Corrections. Respondent reserves the right to
amend its return upon the receipt of other relevant records.

II.

In his Application, Applicant alleges he is being held in custody unlawfully for the

following reasons:

1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, in that:

a. “Counsel failed to investigate and request
continuance. . . . A continuance would have
given counsel more time to investigate, prepare
for mitigation and bargaining, as well as time to
discover the applicant's state of mind and
needs."”

b. “Counsel failed to challenge insufficient
indictments.

c. “Counsel failed to present nor allow me to
present mitigating evidence and factors at
opportunity

d. “Counsel failed to obtain the original plea offer
of seven (7) years.

e. “Counsel failed to inform me of my right to
appeal and make sure I understood what it was
and how to do it.”

f. “Failure to withdraw guilty plea where
indictment charging ‘possession with intent to
distribute marijuana’ did not sufficiently state
level of offense.”

2 Due Process Violation

a. “My constitutional rights of due process under

the Fourteenth Amendment, and applicable case

! Applicant was also charged with possession of an ounce or less of marijuana (2014-GS-11-

591), second offense, and pleaded guilty to that charge in the same proceeding. Judge Alford

sentenced him to time-served. Applicant does not challenge that conviction in his application.
Page 2 of 9 '
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law, was violated as counsel failed to request a
competency hearing.”

i. Absent counsel's errors there is a
reasonable probability that the evidence
would have been reweighed and thus it
would have been concluded that the
balance of aggravating and mitigating
circumstances did not warrant such
harsh sentencing and punishment.

ii. Applicant also had the right to be
competent when entering a guilty plea
and a complete picture of the Applicant's
mental condition would have established
that the Applicant was suffering from a
mental or emotional disturbance both at
the time the crimes were committed and
at the time of entering a plea of guilty.

iii. Due process prohibits this conviction
therefore the conviction is illegal.

3. Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction
a. “The court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to
accept my guilty pleas.”

IIL

Applicant alleges he received ineffective assistance of counsel. Respondent also
interprets Applicant's due process allegations as additional allegations of ineffective assistance of
counsel. Respondent submits these allegations are without merit.

In a PCR action, Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application.
Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective
assistance of counsel as'a ground for relief, Applicant must prove that “counsel's conduct so
undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon

as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286

S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies

the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117,
Page 3 of 9
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386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). First, the Applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was
deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness
under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney
provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286
S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assis-
tance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id.
(citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The Applicant must overcome this presumption to receive
relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, with respect to guilty plea counsel,
counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Applicant such that “there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, he would not have [pleaded] guilty, but

would have insisted on going to trial.” Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 116, 531 S.E.2d 294,

297 (2000).

Applicant can satisfy neither requirement of the Strickland test. However, the allegation
of ineffective assistance of counsel probably raises questions of fact that the record does not
conclusively refute. Accordingly, Respondent requests an evidentiary hearing to fully resolve
this issue. See Sharper v. State, 279 S.C. 264, 305 S.E.2d 247 (1983).

IV.

Applicant alleges counsel failed to inform of him of his right to appeal. Counsel has a
constitutionally-imposed duty to consult with defendant about appeal when there is reason to
think either (1) that rational défendant would want to appeal, or (2) that this particular defendant

reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega,

528 U.S. 470 (2000). Although not determinative, a highly relevant factor in this inquiry will be
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whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the
scope of potentially appealable issues and because such a plea may indicate that the defendant
seeks an end to judicial proceedings. Id. 528 U.S. at 480. To show prejudice in these
circumstances, a defendant must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel's deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appéaled.
Id. 528 U.S. at 484.

In White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), the South Carolina Supreme Court
held that even if the post-conviction relief court finds that the Applicant never voluntarily and
intelligently abandoned his appeal, the court has no jurisdiction to grant a belated appeal.
Therefore, where an accused establishes in a post-conviction relief hearing that he was
unconstitutionally deprived of his statutory right to a direct appeal, the South Carolina Supreme
Court, upon an appeal of the post-conviction relief decision, will review the trial record and pass
upon all issues properly raised and argued as if the direct appeal has been perfected.

Respondent submits that this allegation is without merit and demands strict proof thereof,
Nevertheless, the allegation raises a question of fact which cannot be conclusively refuted by the
record and, therefore, requires that an evidentiary hear.ing be held. Sharper v. State, 279 S.C.
264, 305 S.E.2d 247 (1983); Delaney v. State, 269 S.C. 555, 238 S.E.2d 679 (1977). |

V.

Applicant claims infringement of his rights under certain amendments to the United
States Constitution. However, the Applicant fails to set forth with specificity the grounds upon
which these constitutional violations are based. The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act
requires that the Applicant must "specifically set forth the grounds upon which the application is

based.” S.C. Code § 17-27-50 (2003). In an application for post-conviction relief, it is
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incumbent upon the Applicant to make at least a prima facie showing which would entitle him to

relief before an evidentiary hearing will be scheduled and held. Welch v. MacDougall, 246 S.C.

258, 143 S.E.2d 455 (1965); Blandshaw v. State, 245 S.C. 385, 140 S.E.2d 784 (1965). Since
the Applicant has failed to make even a prima facie showing that his due process and other
constitutional rights were violated, the Respondent would submit that this allegation should be
summarily dismissed for failing to specifically set forth the grounds upon which the application
is based.
VL

Applicant alleges the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to accept his plea.
Respondent submits this allegation is without merit. A circuit court has subject matter
jurisdiction to convict a defendant of an offense if there is an indictment that sufficiently states
the offense, the defendant waives presentment, or the offense is a lesser-included offense of the
crime charged in the indictment. State v. Wilkes, 353 S.C. 462, 464-465, 578 S.E.2d 717, 719
(2003) (citing Brown v. State, 343 S.C. 342, 540 S.E.2d 846 (2001)). In this case, Applicant
waived presentment to the Cherokee County grand jury. A presumption of regularity attaches to
all proceedings in the courts of this State, and it is incumbent upon one who challenges a
proceeding to prove his claims. See, e.g., Tate v. State, 345 S.C. 577, 549 S.E.2d 601 (2001);
Pringle v. State, 287 S.C. 409, 339 S.E.2d 127 (1986). Applicant here cannot show any
irregularity because he waived presentment on these charges. Therefore, this Court should
summarily dismiss this allegation.

VIL
Respondent interprets Applicant’s claims regarding his competency at his guilty plea as

an allegation that his guilty plea was involuntary. Respondent submits this allegation is without
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merit. In post-conviction relief cases, an applicant asserting a constitutional violation must frame
the issue as one of ineffective assistance of counsel. Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 363-64,
527 S.E.2d 742, 747 (2000) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 430 S.E.2d 517 (1993); Hyman

v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983); Richardson v. State, 310 S.C. 360, 426 S.E.2d

795 (1993)). An applicant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the
plea only by showing (1) counsel was ineffective and (2) there is a reasonable probability that
but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on
going to trial. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001) (citing Lockhart, 474
U.S. 52; Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000); Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112,
531 S.E.2d 294 (2000); Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994)). An applicant
alleging his guilty plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove counsel's
advice was not “within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Lockhart, 474
U.S. at 56. Furthermore, “[a] guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the

charges” against the applicant. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App.

2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977)). Admissions “made during a guilty plea
should be considered conclusive unless [an applicant] presents valid reasons why he should be
allowed to depart from the truth of his statements.” Id. at 137-38, 654 S.E.2d at 874 (citing

Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975); Edmonds v. Lewis, 546 F.2d 566 (4th

Cir. 1976)).

Respondent submits the record fully supports the knowing and voluntary nature of
Applicant's plea. However, allegations regarding the voluntariness of the plea may raise
questions of fact the record does not conclusively refute. Accordingly, Respondent requests an

evidentiary hearing on this allegation. Sharper, 279 S.C. 264, 305 S.E.2d 247.
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VIIL
Respondent therefore requests that this Court convene an evidentiary hearing on the
allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea. As to all other
allegations, Respondent moves for summary dismissal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-70 on
the basis that there is no genuine issue of material fact which would necessitate an evidentiary
hearing and that those allegations should be dismissed as a matter of law.
IX.
Applicant must sﬁecify any claims he intends to raise at the PCR evidentiary hearing.
Any claims not specifically laid out in this PCR application or in amendments will be opposed by
the State at an evidentiary hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-10 to -160; Rule 71.1, SCRCP. All
claims should be made well in advance of the PCR hearing. Because Applicant has been
appointed an attorney, the attorney, and not Applicant, is the only individual authorized to file
amendments to this application. See Rule 11, SCRCP. Filings by Applicant will not be
considered at the PCR hearing.
X.
Each and every allegation contained within the application not expressly admitted,
qualified, or explained is hereby denied.
| XI.
WHEREFORE, having made its Return, Respondent requests that a hearing be held on

the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea.

[Signature on following page)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) :
) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )
)
) 2016-CP-11-0293
ALONZO C. JETER, III, #282902, )
)
Applicant, )
)
Vs ) AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE BY MAIL
)
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, )
)
Respondent. )
)
1. I am an employee of the Respondent in the above-captioned action.
2. Regular communication by mail exists throughout the State of South Carolina and that
this is a proper circumstance of service by mail.
3. I have this day served a copy of the Return on the above-captioned matter on the

following person by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid:

Mr. Steven D. Epps, Esquire
104-A Franklin Ave., #281
Spartanburg, SC 29301

DATED this 15™ day of November, 2016.

Ashley Haw’é?th, Legal Assistant
For Respondent
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )

) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG )

The State,
TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD
RApplicant, 2016-CP-11-00293

-vs-—

Alonzo Columbus Jeter,
1171,

March 20, 2017

Spartanburg, South Carolina

Respondent.

BEVFORE:

HONORABLE ROBIN B. STILWELL, JUDGE

A PPEARANCES:

STEVEN D. EPPS, ESQUIRE
Attorney for the Applicant

JULIE A. COLEMAN, ESQUIRE
Attorney for the Respondent

Margaret A. Woods
Circuit Court Reporter
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

THE COURT: Alright, we'll let's go ahead and call to bar
the case of Alonzo Columbus Jeter the third vs. the State a
South Carolina, Case Number 2016-CP-11-293.

MR. EPPS: And and, Your Honor, I'll go ahead and tell
you just to kinda get the Court up to speed ---

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. EPPS: --- I did file a motion for discovery in this
case, -——

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. EPPS: =--- uh, because my client desires that, uh, we
may need to have a a brief discussion about those items, Your
Honor, —-—-—-

THE COURT: That's fine.

MR. EPPS: --- but then beyond that, Your Honor, we are
ready to proceed however the Court may rule, obviously if the
Court grants the motion we'd ask for a continuance simply
because I don't have the documents, ---

THE COURT: Yes; sir.

MR. EPPS: --- uh, and Ms. Coleman's been provided a copy
of the motion, Your Honor.

MS. COLEMAN: Yes, uh-huh.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Whereupon, a discussion was held off the record.)
EXAMINATION BY THE COURT:

0. Alright, you are Mr. Jeter, is that correct?

4
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Good mornin', sir, hope you're doin' well today.
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Very well. Um, I've called the case to bar,

Mr. Jeter, and I believe that Mr. Epps has a preliminary, uh,
motion to take up with the Court 'fore we get started this
mornin'.

MR. EPPS: Yes, Your Honor, I do and may it please the
Court.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. EPPS: Uh, I will tell ya there is a motion it's
already been filed in the Cherokee County, uh, Clerk of
Court's office, it's my notice of motion for discovery,
copy of that has been provided to the Attorney General,

Ms. Coleman, um, it lists four particular items, I have just,
uh, uh, that there are, there are two other items or one I may
need to expand a little more and one other specific item, uh,
to ask the Court for. As yoﬁ know on a PCR discovery is, uh,
extremely limited, may be the most, uh, a a liberal way of
saying it. Your Honor, my client, the underlying plea for
which we're here about today involves, uh, drug transactions
or alleged drug transactions that took place January 2nd, 14
and 15th of July or of 2015, uh, he is requesting the SLED
drug analysis and as, uh, as he terms it, I I use the drug
analysis records as in my regquest, the BEST bags what he's

5
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

asked for, uh, literally to contest the actual drudge tra --
drug transaction of January 12th and, uh, there's a
trafficking charge on the date of January 15th to, uh, to show
that that charge would not lie because of the weight, we
dispute or he disputes the weight of the, uh, the sale a as
it's related in the indictment, he's also asking for medical
records and disciplinary records with the Cherokee County
Sheriff's Detention Center from January to July of 2015 to
corroborate his mental condition at the time of the underlying
guilty plea, uh, related to this PCR, he's asking for his, uh,
medical records from the Cherokee County Department of Mental
Health, uh, to corroborate his mental condition at the time of
the underlying guilty plea, he is also asking since we're
talking about the mental, um, records he's requesting, he's
asking for his medal or his mental health or or mental
treatment records from the SCDC, uh, since he's been in, uh,
related to this plea, he is asking for the transcript from
his, we'll say his August 2013 plea because that during that
plea he had asked the Court for some assistance regarding his
mental condition and; lastly, he is asking for family court
transcripts in the case of Jeter vs. Jeter, that's Mr. Jeter
who's before you and, uh, and his, uh, wife?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, uh, the child's mother.

MR. EPPS: Child's mother, ---

THE COURT: Um-hum.
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

MR. EPPS: --- um, he's wanting those t -- for mitigation
material as to his employment, uh, again, Your Honor, in a PCR
action we have to specifically ask for a, an order granting
discovery. Uh, to give the Court a little bit more background
without getting into the PCR matter, uh, at hand, what we're
here today about, uh, is a a series of drug transactions or at
least alleged drug transactions. There was a guilty plea, uh,
that came about regarding those, Mr. Jeter has informed me,
uh, in the past of his, uh, mental health treatment, he is
ftreating now with SCDC as well. Uh, there is, uh, obviously a
and potential issue as to his, uh, voluntariness, uh, and his
his knowledge and intelligence during the time of his guilty
plea, uh, even though he did have the, know, counsel at the
fime, uh, and then also, Your Honor, we're going into into
this PCR, there are some issues regarding the indictments and
the drug material, uh, would be relative to that.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright, position a the State.

MS. COLEMAN: Uh, Your Honor, the State opposes this
motion, uh, and there's several different things asked for
here. As far as the materials that coulda been presented as
mitigation, this was a, he pled pursuant to a negotiated
sentence so the mitigation I don't think is relevant, um, the
the analysis of the drugs that he was alleged to have sold we
don't think that's relevant to the action because this was a
gullty plea and he waived his right to challenge the evidence

7
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

that woulda been presented at trial, um, and medical records
and everything else we we are opposed to, we think we would,
uh, we're, and we're prepared to go forward today if you deny
this motion but a course it's in your discretion.

THE COURT: Alright.

MS. COLEMAN: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. Um, here's —-- here —-- here's the
question and I, that all a those medical, uh, those medical
records and those med, that medical information isn't the
subject of the discovery, that's just the subject of him
requesting the same, am I correct, 'cause we're not talkin'
about the underlying mental health evaluation at the time of
the proceeding, we're talking about his continuous mental
health records, correct?

MR. EPPS: Correct, Your Honor. I do have a HIPAA
authorization from Mr. Jeter but then the other issue comes
into play. Your Honor, I'm an appointed attorney, ---

THE COURT: Right.

MR. EPPS: --- um, those things are not cheap and so I
would either need, uh, and it it may not be discovery, I put
that in discovery simply because some people view and there's
a recent case in the event I had to send any sort, sort of
subpoena out there because some people don't take those
HIPAAs, uh, on their face wvalue, uh, that if I had to send a
subpoena out some people view tho -- that as discovery and I'm

8
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

not putting anything, uh, on Ms. Coleman to say that she would
object to it or anything like that but I lumped it in just to
dot my I's and cross my T's, there's also though, Your Honor,
I would have to have an order from the Court to have, uh, a
repayment because, Your Honcr, I cannot, ---

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. EPPS: --- uh, on an appointed case take that on and
the financial burden of that as well, um, so

THE COURT: I understand, that, and thaf makes sense.
Okay, this what I'm gonna do: I I'm gonna take the discovery
matters under under advisement. With regard to, um, uh,
discovery of underlying, a a drug or chemical analysis, I'm
not certain that that's relevant for a post-conviction relief
application, um, but, and and in mental health evaluations it
may be relevant but I don't know right now so let's do this:
let let's go ahead and proceed with the, uh, with the
proceeding today, I'll, um, once I've heard the testimony if I
feel like there is a sufficient basis to request the mental
health records, uh, or, and/or to provide additional discovery
then, uh, I'll continue it, uh, in anticipation of receiving
all those documents or I'll leave the record open, okay, so
let's go ahead and ---

MR. EPPS: Thank Your Honor.

THE COURT: --— and, uh, let's go ahead and proceed on

this one.
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MOTIONS AND MATTERS

MS. COLEMAN: Sure. May it please the Court.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. COLEMAN: Applicant is presently confined in the
South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of
commitment of the clerk of court for Cherokee County.
Applicant waived presentment to the grand jury and pled guilty
on July 16th 2015 to two counts of distribution of
methamphetamine second offense, two counts of distribution
methamphetamine within one-half mile of a park or school and
one trafficking in ice, crank, or crack, 10 grams or more but
less than 28 grams second offense. Applicant was represented
by Christopher Kennedy, Esquire. Applicant was sentenced on
July 16, 2015 by the Honorable Lee S. Alford to a negotiated
sentence of 15 years imprisonment for each charge, um, and
10 years'imprisonment for each charge of distribution of meth
within one~half mile of a park or school all to be served
concurrently, applicant did not appeal his plea or his
sentence. Applicant filed a timely application for
post~conviction relief on April 28th 2016 alleging that he was
being held in custody unlawfully based on the following
allegations: ineffective assistance of counsel, Fourth
Amendment violation, lack of subject matter jurisdiction and
involuntary guilty plea. The State filed its return on
November 15th 2016 and he's present today and represented in
this matter by Mr. Steven Epps.

10
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THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Epps, you're prepared to proceed,
sir?

MR. EPPS: Yes, Your Honor. May it please the Court, ---

THE COURT: Yes,

MR. EPPS: -—- I call Alonzo Jeter to the stand.

THE COURT: Alright, Mr. Jeter, if you'd come up please,
sir, take the stand.

THE APPLICANT: If I could.

(Whereupon, the Applicant came forward.)

THE COURT: It's right over here (indicating). There it
is (indicating). Is there a Bible over there?

THE APPLICANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Place your left hand on the Bible,
Mr. Jeter, uh, you put that right there (indicating) in that
seat for right now and then raise your right hand to the
extent that you're capable.

ALONZO COLUMBUS JETER, III, having

been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

THE COURT: Okay, good enough. You just have a seat
please, sir, and state your full name for the record.

THE APPLICANT: My name's Alcnzo Jeter, —---

THE COURT: Okay.

THE APPLICANT: --- uh, Alonzo Columbus Jeter, third.

THE COURT: Okay.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS:

11
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

Q. Mr. Jeter, and thank you for speaking up, we do have a
court reporter here who's gonna make a verbatim transcription
so appreciate you talkin' clearly in the microphone. Um,
let's kinda get down to the the meat of things and help the
Court, uh, to, that the transcript's already been provided
but, uh, there's some discrepancies in that transcript that we
need to try and clear up I believe. Uh, you will admit that
and you pled guilty to, uh, a cocaine base charge in October
of 2004, correct? |

A. Yes.

Q. And, uh, while not disputing that you pled guilty to that
charge, the 10 years for an enhancement purpose, uh, for that

charge was over in October of 2014 by the operation of math,

correct?
A. Yes.
0. Alright, uh, so in your guilty plea when the solicitor,

uh, Mr. Sams said that you had a prior charge of cocailne base,
uh, that showed up around June or July of 2005, that was
incorrect, right?

A. Yes, that was —---

Q. Alright.

A. --- incorrect.

Q. Could not be used for an enhancement to your knowledge.
A. Yes, no, sir.

Q. And then in the guilty plea there was also discussion

12
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

about an August of 2013 charge of a controlled substance, do
you remember that?
A. Yes, sir.
(Whereupon, a discussion was held off the record.)
Q. And you pled guilty of marijuana on that, uh, that-
charge, the August of 2013 charge, correct?
A. Yes.
Q. May I approach, Your Honor?
THE COURT: Yes, sir, go ahead.
(Whereupon, counsel approached the witness.)
Q. Gonna hand you a photocopy of a sentencin' sheet, sir, do
you see the sentencing sheet I handed you?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Alright, and if you look here (indicating), there's a

date on the bottom right hand corner that says 8/15/2013,

correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the charge i1f you look up here (indicating) in the
upper left third corner it says, "Possession of greater than

1 ounce MJ second offense,”" is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And MJ to your knowledge is marijuana.

A. Yes.

Q. And your signature is on this sentencing sheet right here

(indicating) where it says "Defendant"?

13
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

A. Yes.
Q. That, 1is that where you pled guilty to the marijuana
charge in August of 20137
A. Yes, sir, 1t is.
Q. Alright. 1I'd ask this would be marked as an exhibit to
today's proceeding.

THE COURT: Any objection?

MS. COLEMAN: No objection.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright.

(Copy of Indictment Number 13-11-00130 marked Applicant's
Exhibit Number 1 for identification.)

MR. EPPS: Thank you, ma'am.

COURT REPORTER: Welcome.
BY MR. EPPS:
Q. So just to recap in terms of a prior, uh, that would
would benefit enhancement on a any meth charges you were
facing from 2015, you had, uh, a a 2004 charge but was

essentially time-barred ---

A. Yes.

Q. --- for cocaine base, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then you had a marijuana charge in 2013 but that

marijuana did not enhance your, uh, any methamphetamine
charge.
A. Yes, they used, they they just, they used, that they used

14
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

that to enhance.

Q. Potentially incorrectly.

A. Yes.
0. Now you also at the time of your, uh, the the time you

were alleged to have committed these, uh, methamphetamine, uh,
drug transactions in January of 2015 you had two other meth

charges pending, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. Yes.

Q. And those were from April of 2014 and May of 2014,
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Alright. Now of those one involved a friend?

A. Yes.

Q. And he had, to use very strong legal words, he had "taken

the rap" for that charge?

A. Yes, it was his.

Q. Alright, while while that charge was still pending you
had knowledge that the drugs were actually his and felt
confident that charge would go away?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then on the other charge there was some some question
as to whether you actually, you might've been convicted of
that, you may not a been convicted a that, the May charge, ---

15
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

A. Yes, —--—-—

0. ———icorrect?

A. --- sir.

Q. Alright, but those were not yet, they were still pending

at the time you did the guilty plea which led to today's PCR.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Alright. Um, Mr. Kennedy represented you on all of these

January 2015 charges, correct, ---

A. Yes, sir.

Q. --—- and he represented you on a marijuana charge ---

A. Yes, sir.

Q. —-—-- and these two, the April and May 2014 meth charges.
A.  Yes.

Q. Now the, after the plea to these January 2015 charges,

the April and the May 2014 meth charges were nolle prossed,

correct?

A. Yes, -—---

Q. Correct?

A. -—— I I didn't ---

Q. Okay, and so they're not convictions on your record.

A. No, sir.

Q. Alright. So within the past, say going back to 2005, ---
A. Yes.

Q. -—— the only convictions you have on your record for meth

or cocaine, uh, or something harder than marijuana, uh, would

16
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

be the convictions that relate to January 12th, 14th an 15th

2015, ---

A. Yes.

Q. -—— correct? And you pled to those in July of 2015 ---
A Yes

0. -—-— in in front of Judge Alford, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Alright. Um, you were originally charged with

distribution third, PWID near a park or a school I believe
third, distribution third again, PWID near a park or school
third again and trafficking third, correct?

A. Well yes, sir.

Q. Uh, let's talk about the PWID charge real quickly.
You've had a chance to review the indictments related to the
PWID charges?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And those indictments state that the charges are based
on, uh, the possession with intent to distribute near

Macedonia Baptist Church ---

A. Yes.

Q. --—- and, sir, that church has a playground, right?

A. It has a basketball goal.

0. Okay, it doesn't have a school, there's no, there's no

school inside Macedonia Baptist Church ---
A. No, sir.

17
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

Q. —--- and there's no playground ---
A. No, sir.
Q. -—— there. Alright, so the PWID charge, uh, wasn't near

a public park ---

A. No, sir.

Q. --— and it wasn't near a school.

A. No, sir.

Q. Um, did you ever mention that issue to Mr. Kennedy when

he represented you?
A. No, sir, I I trusted that, uh, uh, Mr. Kennedy knew the

law on everything and I Jjust trusted, ---

Q. Okay.
A. --— uh, ---
Q. Uh, regarding the -- so you're you're, you were charged

with third offenses on these drug charges, —--

A. Yes, sir.

Q. -—— correct? And they were, as part of the negotiations

Mr. Kennedy had worked out with the solicitor's office, they

were reduced down to second offenses, ---

A. Yes, --—-

Q. —-—— correct?

A. --— sir, but it ---

Q. Uh, were were you, uh, di -- did you plead guilty to that

because you believed that those charges were, uh, were going
to stick?

18
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ALONZO C. JETER, III - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

A. No, it, um, they said it was my third offense and I asked
Mr. Kennedy and he said yes, it's gonna be my third offense
and said that, um, have have a plea deal for ya for second
offense and T I took the plea because I thought it was gonna
be third offense and, uh, you know, it's gonna be automatic

t —-—- uh, 25 years.

Q. And, uh, m -- and let's talk the 25 years would have been
on the trafficking, ---

A. Yes.

Q. --- had a mandatory minimum on the third offense of a
25-year sentence, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now let's let's talk about that since we talked about
your, um, your motion just a minute ago. Uh, you dispute that

that you sold over 10 grams of methamphetamine on the July

15th drug sale, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Alright, you believe it was less than 10 grams so it
would not support a trafficking charge.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Alright. And you also dispute that you sold any drugs on
January 12th, the first date of alleged drug activity.

A. Yes, sir, whatever day it was that I first met, uh, the
informant I, there was no sale, there was nothin' ---

0. Okay.
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ALONZO C. JETER,

A. -—— but, um, I I,
right state a thinkin',
get myself together.

Q. Okay,
together.
A. I just, I I I,
think,
with my case,

that the, uh,

and I knew I didn't have any any prior,

I just,

that I just couldn't.

ITIT - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS

when I pled guilty I wasn't in my,

I couldn't ge -- I

explain explain how you couldn't get yourself

I co —-

I couldn't think enough to help my attorney out with
I I couldn't even tell him that that was,

the charge from 8/15/13 was a marijuana charge

2004 and —--—-
Q. Any hard drug charges?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Alright,
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Alright. Mr. Jeter,
the PWID charges and the,
would have enhanced your,
elected to move to trial,
guilty plea?

A. Yes,

sir, ---

Q. Alright.

A. -—-- and that's because,

sumtin',

that it wasn't right and,

or convictions I should say.

uh, knowing what you know
uh, the underlying charge
uh,

your sentences, would

to go to trial instead of

um, I -- I've -— I I I

I knew what it wasn't right and I told Mr.

um, uh, he just basically

20
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that I I sold the drugs and, um, I didn't get a chance to give
him the, uh, everything of happened, like again, I say I
couldn't get get get myself together --—-

Q. And you —-—-—

A. --- and, uh, ---

Q. I'm sorry, ——-—

A. -1 -—-

Q. --- didn't mean to cut you off.

A. -—-- and, uh, I told him, I told him that I had been

havin' problems in the jail well and they had jumped on me, I
showed him, uh, on my face where they had, uh, beat me at and,

um, I just couldn't get it together.

Q. Okay. If you knew that the the issues were —---

A, I'm sorry.

Q. -—-- not quite right, why did you agree to plead guilty?
A. Because had had, he said it was gonna be third offense

and I, basically he didn't show me that I had already had a
way out of it. Um, he didn't discuss the entrapment defense
because that's what it was, it was entrapment, he didn't
discuss that with me and, um, I I asked him about my record,
um, and he he Jjust, he just said that it's gonna be third
offense and I knew I didn't have any, I just had the, um,
offense in 2004.

Q. And, sir, knowing that part of the the deal that was
worked out was that the April and May meth charges were nolle

21
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prossed in exchange for your guilty plea for the January 2015

charges ---

A. Yes.

Q. --- and knowing that, uh, if you are successful at your
PCR, the Court all it can do is restore you back to facing

your

intention to,

original charges as they were presented, it it's your

to put you back in that position so you can move forward to

trial.

A.

Q.

Yes.

A and you realize there is the possibility that if you

forward in that manner that you could have more, uh, time

exposure and that you could you get a a heavier sentence.

A.
sir,
Q.

A.

Yes, but I knew -- I know it's, it was entrapments, uh,

Alright.

--— and I knew it was entrapment and I, that's why I

asked for my, um, my medical mental health records -—-—

Q.

A.

wasn'

Now —--

-—-— to show —--—-

—-—— the mental health records wouldn't show ---

That, no, ---

—-——- entrapment ---

-—-— it it would, it would show, it would show that I
t, um, I I I wasn't receivin' my medication that, um,

22

uh, you are asking this court to grant your PCR
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well when I, when I got ready to plea ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—- and, uh, my disciplinary records would show how they
was beatin' me and and put me in the lockup and I forget what
else I asked for for, uh, that, uh, asked for you to get but
everything has its reasons, I, and I do need that because for
the Court to see that.

Q. Right. Well and you had asked for, uh, just so we have
it on the record, you'd asked for the SLED drug analysis and
that's because you wanna show, uh, to con -- to contest the

evidence on your drug, alleged drug sales, —-—-

A. Yes, ——--

Q. —-—— correct?

A. --— that that that the the SLED results which, um, they
sayin' it's three s -- that it was three buys but it was only

two and so that I know the SLED results wouldn't show it was,
it was, um, three.

Q. So you you content -- now my understanding is that

Mr. Kennedy showed you some still shots of yourself, uh,
making, uh, drug, uh, transactions with a a gentleman in a car
that had a grenade thing hangin' from the rearview mirror.

A. I re —— I remember him showin' me somethin' but I am -- I
can't, I can't ---

Q. Okay.

A. That he he showed me them right before I went, um, before

23
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the judge and it was, I I think they were black and white and
I couldn't really see. I knew it was me but I, as far as
drugs, I I I I just knew it was me on on the, um, picture.
Q. Okay. And you also asked, just so we have it on the
record, you asked for family court transcripts 'cause you

wanted some mitigation material, correct?

A. Yes, that, um, okay, that that that woulda showed how I
ha -- how I've been lookin' for a job for years ---

Q. Right.

A. --- and even, uh, Mr. Kennedy, Mr. Kennedy did put some a

my, um, my paperwork in discovery where it would shown where
kept gettin' turned down for jobs and for some reason I have
one sh —-- one sheet here where I know it was at least thirty
sheets, oh, yeah, I'm gonna s -- I'm gonna say sh -- fifteen
to twenty sheets where I had, uh, where I was, where I was

seekin' for jobs every day and, uh, and, uh, it had the the

sheets hold between I think five or seven jobs on every sheet

and I I just wanted the courts to see that I've been loo --
lookin' for a job.every every day or, uh, every other day.

Q. Right, but you realize that your plea that you pled
guilty to was a recommended sentence plea that had been
negotiated so that there was really not a point in time where
as we talked about with mitigation it was either was the plea
going to be accepted or not.

A. Yes, but durin' the, durin' the mitigation, uh, he was

24
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mitigatin' off for a third offense ---

Q. Okay.

A. --- and, uh, ---

Q. You mean off the negotiation with the solicitor's office?
A. Yeah, they're sayin' that that, uh, basically they're

sayin' that I got a deal, um, because it was supposed to been
a third offense and I pled to a second, uh, less included but
that's not true, it was supposed to have been my second with
and with no deal at which woulda been my second.

Q. Gotcha, alright. Mr. Jeter, I don't have anything
further for you at this time, the attorney general may be
asking you some questions.

A. I'm sorry, it woulda been my first, uh, if I'd pled that
day to them, it woulda been my first because I didn't have a
prior since 2004.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. COLEMAN:

Q. Good morning, Mr. Jeter, how are you?
A. I'm okay okay.
Q. Good. How many times did you meet with your attorney

before your guilty plea?

A. Um, either two or three.

- 0. Two or three? Do you recall reviewing the discovery with

your attorney?
A. He he -- I asked him for the discovery and he brought
that on the last visit and, uh, when he gave it to me he told

25
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me to, um, to not be lettin' people see it so I didn't get to
look through it because I was in in dorms fulla people, I
didn't get to look and and, uh, um, I just found that that
that the SLED results that I asked about wasn't in there.

Q. Alright, okay. Do you recall discussing any possible
defenses with your attorney?

A. I told you -- I told him that it wasn't right ---

Q. Alright.

A. --— and he said, he said but it was me, I sold the drugs
and ---

Q Um ---

A. -—-— that was the end of it, he he didn't ask me, uh, what

happened or nothin', I didn't get to discuss or tell him the
story or what happened.

Q. Ckay. And you mentioned a moment, uh, you were
testifying about the entrapment defense, did you talk to him
about that at all?

A. No, he didn't care to discuss it.

Q. Ckay. Did you give your attorney any leads or witnesses
to investigate?

A. I couldn't, I

Q. And you stated earlier that, um, you you did not tell him
that the church playground was not a public park or anything,
is that correct?

A. They, that's what they, they had it on the, uh, on the

26
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warrant that it's it's, um, um, distribution near a playground
at Macedonia Church ~--

Q. Um-hum.

A. ---— and I I figured that they was callin' the pla -- the
the basketball gocal that was there a playground ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—— and I didn't know the law so I had to just trust in

my lawyer.

Q. Um~-hum, and did you, did you tell him the facts? You
sald he didn't ask for the facts but did you just tell him
what you did and how it happened?

A. Of the drug buys?

Q. Yes.

4. No, I I couldn't. I couldn't, like I say, I couldn't get
myself together, the only thing I was able to tell him was,
uh, that they had jumped on me in in jail.

0. Um-hum. Okay, so you did not tell him about the church
playground about what it looked like or how it was Jjust one

basketball goal?

A. No, because that the way it was on the warrant it was
right, ---
Q. Okay.
4. ---— it it was, 1t was at, well it it it wasn't, I was

close to a church.
Q. Okay, and you testified that you did not tell your

27
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attorney about how you did not have any prior offenses, prior
convictions for hard drugs, is that right?

A. Ma'am, I, again, I couldn't think, I couldn't.

Q. Okay. Do you remember at the guilty plea waiving your
constitutional rights like your right to a jury trial and your

right to remain silent?

A. I just signed for somethin'. I signed a waiver but

yes —---—

Q. Yes, —---

A. -—— T guess.

Q. —--- okay. And the transcript shows, would you agree with

me that the transcript shows that you waived all these rights
at the time?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you had no complaints against your attorney at
the time a the guilty plea, correct?

A. Um, I did not. Only thing that I I I felt was that my
attorney didn't listen to me, um, when I said it wasn't right,

when I say the the the buys it wasn't right ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. --- and, uh, when I told him that it it wasn't my third
offense ---

Q. Um-hum.

A -—— and —---

Q. Did you tell the judge that at the guilty plea?

28
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A. No, because my attorney said it was ---
Q. Okay.
A. -—- and, um, I didn't wanna do anything to mess up the

plea because they said it was gonna be my third offense.

Q. Um-hum, so you wanted to plead guilty at the time, right?
A. Yes, because they say it was gonna be my third offense
and they was givin' me a, uh, um, plea bargain to second.

Q. That's right, you got a negotiated sentence, um, of 15
years, right, ---

A. Yes.

Q. --- and 10 years for the other charge, uh, and if you had
gone to trial you would be facing up to 30 years in prison for

each a those charges, correct?

A. Yes.
Q. So you didn't wanna go to trial at the time.
A. I would've went to trial if I woulda knew of the en --

entrapment defense and if I woulda, and if I knew that, um, it
wasn't really my third offense ---

Q. Okay.

A. --— but I knew it wasn't my third offense but I didn't,
the charges that he showed me I didn't know that they could
use them at the time, the marijuana charge.

Q. Okay. Do you recall telling the judge that no one was
promising or threatening you to plead guilty?

A. Yes, I think he, I think he did ask.
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Q. And do you re —-- you recall telling the plea judge that
you were indeed guilty of this crime?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you acall -- do you recall agreeing with the facts
that were presented by the solicitor of the drug buys at the,
at the guilty plea?

A. I'm sorry?

Q. You remember when the solicitor at the guilty plea told
the facts of the case and how the drug buys happened and you

agreed with those?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you still agree with those?

A. No.

‘Q. No, okay. Let's see, do you recall the plea judge

advising you that you had ten days to file an appeal from the
date of the guilty plea?

A. Yes, but I I thought I was gonna see my my attorney again
after, um, after my plea.

Q. Okay, so you did not ask your attorney to file an appeal?
A. I didn't have a chance. When I got s -- when I got
sentenced, the the, um, we shook hands and the police pulled
me back.

Q. Okay. Did you write him any letters or or try to call
him afterwards within that ten days to ask —---

A. IT -—-——-

30
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Q. —-—- for appeal?
A. -—- I couldn't, they put me in, uh, lockup, they put me
back in lockup soon as, um, a -- after I left the courtroom

they put me right back in lockup, I couldn't get to no counsel
or nothin' ---

Q. Ckay.

A, --- and they took my stuff, all my, all my belongings
they they took them and took 'em up front, I I didn't have no
an address or no nothin', his phone number or nothin'.

Q. Okay. Why are you claiming that the Court lacked subject
matter jurisdiction?

A. Gosh, well I I would have to, that's what I, I've been
taught, I, that's that's what it was far as the, um, far as

the basketball goal, ---

Q. Ckay.

A. --- yes, it was at a school --—-

Q. Ckay.

A. --— and I had two a those charges that wasn't supposed to
be.

Q. Okay. Thank you, no further questions.

THE COURT: Any redirect, sir?
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS:
Q. Uh, just real quick so we get it cleared up. The
entrapment defense, you did not present that to Mr. Kennedy?
You didn't mention any a that to him?
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A. No, sir, I didn't know anything about entrapment but I I
told him that it wasn't right, I told him that, uh, that, uh,
that wasn't right ---

Q. Did he ——-

A. --— and ---

Q. -—- mention anything about it to you?

A. No, sir.

Q. That earlier, um, and I just wanna make sure it's clear

for the record, uh, Ms. Coleman had asked you if you could
give Mr. Kennedy any leads and you said you couldn't, let's
talk about that a little bit more. What did you mean when you
said you couldn't, you didn't know any or --—-
A. I couldn't get myself together, I'm -- I I just c —- I
wasn't thinkin' right, I I just couldn't.

MR. EPPS: That's all I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Alright any recross?

MS. COLEMAN: No recross.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright, thank you, sir, I ---

THE APPLICANT: And will I be ---

THE COURT: --- appreciate --—-

THE APPLICANT: --- able able to get my, that discovery?

THE COURT: Yeah, take a seat back at counsel table,
we're gonna talk about the discovery in a minute, okay?

THE APPLICANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Alright, thank you very much.
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THE APPLICANT: Yes, sir.

(Whereupon, the Applicant left the stand.)

THE COURT: Mr. Epps, do you have an addit -- any
additional witnesses you'd like to call, sir?

MR. EPPS: ©Nothin' nothin' further, Your Honor, at this
time.

THE COURT: Alright. Ms. Coleman, the State have any
witnesses you'd like to call to the stand?

MS. COLEMAN: Yes, Your Honor,. the State calls
Christopher Kennedy.

(Whereupon, the witness came forward.)

THE COURT: Alright, Mr. Kennedy, can you raise your
right hand, place your left hand on the Bible.

CHRISTOPHER DAVID KENNEDY,

having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

THE COURT: You may have a seat, sir, if you'd just state
your full name for the record, please, ---

THE WITNESS: Uh, ---

THE COURT: --- sir.

THE WITNESS: --- Christopher David Kennedy.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. COLEMAN:

Q. Good morning, Mr. Kennedy, how -—-
A. Good, ---

Q. -—- are you?

A. --— I'm good, how are you?
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Q. Fine, thank you. How long have you been practicing
law?
A. Um, I graduated law school school in 2009 and I clerked

for a year here in the Seventh Circuit for Judge Cole before
going into, uh, I was at the PD's office for about six months
and then private practice since then.

Q. Ckay. Do you recall whether you were appointed or
retained in this case?

A. Um, actually Mr. Jeter called my office, um, and got a
ride down from Cherokee County, he didn't have a vehicle, um,
he came in and met with me, uh, he had a lot of information,
um, and he was pretty upset when he came in and I actually
agreed to take the cases pro bonoc so I wasn't appcinted but I
did agree to do all of his, at least initially all of those
charges proc bono.

Q. Okay. How many times did you meet with Mr. Jeter before
the guilty plea?

A. Um, from his original charges for numerous times. I know
he came to the office several times, it was hard for him to
get there like I said because he didn't have a car. He came
to my office I would say at least three times ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—— from the the time I initially, uh, initially filed my
notice, um, and then once he was arrested again, uh, I believe
the State moved to revoke his bond which we consented to, uh,
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I met with him I think two or, probably two, maybe three times
in the detention center and then actually the day of the,
there were two different times he was going to enter into a
plea, the first time ended up getting pulled back which I'm
sure ya'll ask me about later and then I met with him again

the day of the actual plea.

Q. Okay. Did you file any Rule 5 or Brady motions?

A. I did.

Q. And did you review the discovery with the Applicant?
A. I did and and and as he stated I I did give him a copy

when he requested it I did and it is my practice to tell
defendants if they want a hard copy of it, obviocusly I'll give
it to 'em whenever they want it, but if they want a hard copy
of it not to review it out where other inmates can see it
where you end up having somebody else that could be a witness
against you.

0. Um-hum, but did you have a chance to sit down and look

through all that with him?

A. Yes.
Q. And that was at the prison?
A, Yes, it was at the South Carolina Dete —-- uh, excuse me,

the Cherokee County Detention Center, ---

Q. Okay.

A. —--- that was for the January charges, the charges from I
believe April and May prior to that those were reviewed in my
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office.

Q. Okay. Um, and can you briefly describe the State's
evidence against the Applicant.

A. Uh, well, um, initially the charge where he was charged
with, um, the methamphetamine and the marijuana, um, he was in
kinda of like a garage behind his home, his mother who is
schizophrenic did not know who was in there, uh, or she did
and forgot, um, and she called the police on them, when the
police came they opened it up, they smelled marijuana, found
marijuana and then I believe inside a speaker, I I d -- I'm
not a hundred perc -- I don't remember a hundred percent, I
believe inside a speaker is where they found some
methamphetamine, uh, they charged both of the individuals that
were there under the hand of one, hand of all. Um, he did
have a good defense for that case because the co-defendant
initially wrote a statement saying that the methamphetamine
was his and that my client knew nothing about it, there was
some discussion later that he may try to retract that
statement. Um, for the January charges, um, it looked to me,
um, as if the State had employed a CI, um, they did two
controlled buys I believe. Uh, the way that the Seventh
Circuit Solicitor's Office does their videotaping and their
disclosure of CIs is if, I think it's their general practice,
generally they're not going to tell you who the CI is or s --
give you the wvideo, um, without withdrawing any potential

36




84

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CHRISTOPHER D. KENNEDY - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. COLEMAN

offers, I did tell Mr. Jeter that, ---

Q. Hum.
A. --- um, so I did review the video and I did get two
screenshots that showed Mr. Jeter and his face. The grenade

that was actually there, um, I didn't know what it was at
first so I, it was described to me that it was, uh, um, an air
freshener that was inside the vehicle, he indicated to me that
he, that that was him in the, in the picture, uh, the buys
looked like they were somethin' that are commonplace in drug
transactions with the police, uh, and I didn't see anything
wrong with the way they had done it so, um, you know, we went
over all of that stuff, we discussed it, um, you know, I I
think that then to me they had valid, you know, I I ca —-- I
don't know about the weight because, you know, we waived
presentment but, um, it seems to, it seemed to me that they
had accurate charges against him. Now I will say that in
terms of the warrants even the first warrant was, um, a third
or subsequent offense which was not accurate but and I can

explain why I think that, you know, the second was valid later

but ---
Q. Um-hum.
A. --— I think that they had enough if they went to trial,

perhaps not on the first charge, uh, on the other charges to
convict him.
Q. Okay. Um, alright, let's see. What kind of test, what
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kind of investigation did you do?

A. Um, well initially before the the second set of charges,
um, you know, we -—- it was, we were in discussions about
either having that case dismissed and when I say "we," the
solicitor and I, either having that case dismissed or, you

know, having some motion hearings to to try to deal with

that, ---
Q. Um-hum.
A. --- he marijuana I think that they could have convicted

him on the possession a marijuana charge.

Q. Um-hum.

A. Um, in terms of investigation I didn't know anything
about the church but a church under the statute complies with
the half mile, um, you know, that that other than that, I
mean, I reviewed all of the discovery, I locoked at the, uh,
his SLED report in terms of his past history of convictions.
Uh, initially, uh, initially there was an offer that he could
plea to a 7-year negotiated sentence, ----

0. Um-hum.

A. --- that was contingent upon Cliff Sams who is a
solicitor speaking with the police, um, that were
investigating him. When we went to the first, uh, day that we
were going to enter that plea, um, he, Mr. Sams had spoken
with several the detectives and the narcotics agents and they
would not sign off on that, um, so we met in chambers with
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Judge Kelly, uh, I told the Court and so did Mr. Sa -- Mr.
Sams said that he was pulling his offer which under the law I
believe he's allowed to do until the Court accepts the plea,
um, and that it was going to have to get renegotiated, ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—— um, so we left that day unable to to finish the case,
ultimately the offer ended up it, they wanted actually more
than 15 years and and, uh, a recommendation rather than a
negotiation so, um, you know, we we kinda went from there the
second time around.

Q. Um-hum, and actually let's go back to that 7-year offer,
one of his allegation, the Applicant's allegations is that you
failed to get this 7-year deal for him, uh, did you have
anything in writing promising this this offer from the
solicitor?

A. No, uh, well, there may a be —-- there were some emails
about it but there was no promise, uh, it was always
contingent on him speaking with his detectives, um, and
narcotics agents and we were there to plea that day on the day
that we could do it in front of Judge Kelly, uh, and it was at
that point we never started the plea, the Court had never
accepted that plea, ---

Q. Um-hum.

A, --- um, the Court wasn't going to take the plea according
to what Judge Kelly told us, um, because of the the solicitor
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was no longer offering that as a, as a plea.

Q. OCkay, so he was ready to plead that day?

A. He was, ---

Q. Okay.

A. --— uh, to the 7 years, yes.

Q. Okay. Was there any reason for you to request a
continuance, uh, 'fore the Applicant pled guilty i -- on the

July date when he pled?

A. For the second time —--—-—
Q. Correct.
A. -—— with for the 15th, um, I didn't believe so, no. He

he is right, he did tell me that he was having issues in the
detention center, um, there was nothing with my discussions
with him that led me to think that he didn't know what was
going on, —---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—— um, but I didn't think I needed a continuance. He
did say he wanted to get out of the detention center and go
ahead and go down to the DOC, I I mean, there's obviously
different privileges at different locations, uh, but there
was, I didn't feel the need to ask for a continuance and he
didn't seem to want me to ask for a continuance, I never got a
request from him for a continuance.

Q. Um-hum. Um, so you testified that you saw no reason at
the time to maybe investigate his mental health?
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A. No, he did have some records -- so when he first came in
with me and I had these, I actually gave them back to his
girlfriend after the plea, he had two folders full of
information, uh, about some mental health background that he
had applying for jobs, um, he'd actually been in school, um,
but there was never a time that I met with him where I felt
like he didn't know what was going on or anything like that.
He did tell me that he was stressed out about being at at the
detention center, uh, and that he wanted to get out of the

detention center, he's having issues with people there, —--

Q. Um-hum.
A. ——- he did he say that he wasn't able to get, um, all of
the medication that he, uh, needed to take but there -- I I

was never given a prescription medication that would have, um,
uh, he never gave me a name of any prescriptions, um, but as I
said he never appeared to me to not well know what was going
on while went over his rights with him prior to the plea, he
seemed to understand those too.

0. Um-hum. And, uh, what what judge was it that accepted

the guilty plea?

A. I think it was Judge Alford.

Q. Yes. Had you appeared in fronta Judge Alford before?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you familiar with Judge Alford's practices, uh, that

had you done a guilty plea-?
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A. I I don't recall if I'd done a guilty plea in front of
him, I know I'd been in front of him in, uh, Union County
several times but I I don't recall if I'd done an actual
guilty plea in front of him.

Q. OCkay. Uh, in your opinicn, based on your experiences
with Judge Alford and with other judges, do you believe that
he would have accepted the guilty plea if he had thought that

the Applicant was not mentally capable of pleaing guilty?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Let's see, did the Applicant tell you that he was
gullty?

A. I believe he did, um, I I specifically asked. I was

rather frustrated with him because of the strength of the

first cases. When he got arrested for the new charges, I was
rather frustrated, um, and I went to go see him once I found
out that he was incarcerated, um, so I I did ask about those

and he asked about the evidence, at that time I didn't have

it ——-
Q. Um-hum.
A. —-—— the initial time but he never denied that he was in

the car and they actually I believe found methamphetamine on
him at one point, uh, in his sock.

Q. Ckay.

A. He never denied that it was him and he never denied that
it was drugs in his sock.
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Q. Okay. Did you ever discuss any possible defenses with
him?
A. I'm sure I did, that that's a regular practice. I do not

remember discussing entrapment, I can tell you though fér, and
he never asked about that, I don't recall or I, after watching
the videos, I never saw anything that would lead me to

believe that there was an entrapment issue at all.

Q. Okay. Did you discuss the elements of the charge with

the Applicant ---

A. Yes.

Q. -—- and what the State was required to prove?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Did you ever discuss with the Applicant his prior

convictions?

A. We had discussed the prior convictions, um, and I think
that there's, you know, when you look on, uh, the central
index, there's some confusion with dates, um, I understand
that the the cocaine base charges from 2004. The the way that
I approached the case once he had and from talking with the
solicitor, the way that I approached the case was he had a, a
and this is just about the meth charges, but he had a
methamphetamine case that was fairly strong in his favor then
he had two more distributions I believe and a trafficking, my
understanding from the State was that they were going to try
the cases individually which subjected him to a significant
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amount more time potentially if he were convicted
consecutively and probably I think coulda probly been subject
to a, an LWOP charge ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—-— if that were the case which obviocusly LWOP's life
without parcle so, you knéw, he had the potential if he were
found guilty individually on all the charges to to be

subjected toc basically never getting outta prison again ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—= potentially, -—=

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—- uh, so when the warrants as I said, even though they

were all thirds, it it didn't really matter to me if they were
thirds or seconds or not because if they were gonna try him
consecutively for those cases and end up potentially being a
third on two of the charges later on, that that was a a a huge
risk for him, ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. -—— um, so the reason for the second didn't really have
anything to do with when the prior charges were or what the
warrant said, it had to do with basically limiting the risk of
the potential amount of time he could receive, um, which it
ultimately did, um, so, you know, it, and and it was
negotiated again so the judge couldn't give him more time and
run them consecutively if he chose to accept the plea which he
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did, ---
Q. Um-hum.
A. -—-- so, you know, it was a mitig -- when you talk about

mitigation, that's really kind of what it was, it was limiting

his exposure from being in the DOC for a significant period of

time.
Q. Um-hum, okay. Who's decision was it to plead guilty?
A. It was Mr. Jeter's, I I recommended and I think I even

stated during the plea that I agreed with his decision.

Q. Um~hum. Do you still agree with his decision?

A. I do, uh, because I think if if if he is successful,
which is obviously up to this court, ---

0. Um—-hum.

A. --- 1f he's successful then he runs the same risk that
he ran before of hypothetically getting multiple guilty
either pleas or being found guilty by a jury on separate
occasions and thus subjecting himself to potentially way ﬁore
than 15 years.

Q. Okay. Did the Applicant ever indicate that he wanted to
go to trial on these charges?

A. For the first case yes, uh, and we, well well as I
discussed with him well once I had that statement from his
co-defendant, you know, I I thought that that case was strong,
I think that case probably would have worked out with probably
in my opinion it probably would have been dismissed upon plea
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to the marijuana on just a possession charge but he definitely
wanted to go to trial on the first one, for the subsequent

charges there was not a indication to me that he wanted to go

“to trial.

A, Okay. Is it your practice to discuss the right to appeal

with your clients?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay. Uh, at what point do you usually discuss this?
A. Prior to the actual plea, um, but but usually I try to

tell my clients what the judge is going to ask them, ---

Q. Um—-hum.

A. --- um, and I go over those rights before and ask if they
understand those rights, um, the reason I do the appeal before
is 'cause the judge says it during his actual plea —---

Q. Um-hum.

A. --— too so you get, you get it twice. There was never an
indication to me that he wanted to to appeal, he did, I do
think I talked to him 'mmediately after the the plea because
he wanted me to give, those folders of documents that he'd
given to me previously with like work history, school history,

uh, he wanted me to give those to his girlfriend which I

actually did at the courthouse. Um, he didn't contact me
after that, ---

Q. Um-hum.

A. —-—— I think he sent a letter to the solicitor's office,
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his girlfriend did call and speak to me one time, uh, I

couldn't tell you what it was that ---

Q. Um—-hum.

A. —-—— she talked to me about, ---

0. Um~-hum.

A. --—- uh, but she did call me once at my office.

Q. Did she say anything about an appeal?

A. Not that I recall but I don't remember the conversation.
Q. Okay. If the Applicant had indicated to you that he

wanted an appeal, would would you have filed one?

A. I woulda filed the Notice of Appeal, yes.

Q. Okay. Did you think that there was any factual or a
legal basis to appeal this guilty plea?

A. No, especially not being with the circumstances of it

being a negotiated sentence, -—-

0. Um-hum.

A, —-—— no.

Q. Were there any objections made during the proceeding?

A. No.

Q. No. ©Nothing. As far as the subject matter jurisdiction

issue, do you recall what the Applicant was originally charged
with?

A. Um, that the first charge was a, uh, it's the same CDR
code, it's, I think it's 0188, but it's the manufacturing,
distribution, possession with intent to distribute charge, he
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was charged with a third, that was not a third, uh, and then
he was charged with possession a marijuana and then
subsequently he was charged I believe it was two two
possessions with intent to distribute or two distributions and
a trafficking.

Q. Um~hum. And did the indictments have any indication of
the number of offense it was?

A. Not that I recall.

Q. Okay. Did the trial court have proper subject matter

jurisdiction over these charges?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Was the Applicant properly indicted?

A. I believe so, well and he waived presentment ---

Q. That's right.

A. -—- later.

Q. And which -- did he waive to all of them ---

A. Um, I thin --- '

Q. -—-- or just one charge?

A. I, that T honestly can't tell you off the top a my head,

I know, I think the first two charges or he was indicted I
believe on the first charge but I don't remember for the the

ones that ---

Q. Okay.
A. -—-— 'cause by the time I got involved in that case ---
Q. Um —-—-

48




96

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CHRISTOPHER D. KENNEDY - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. COLEMAN

A. -—— he was wantin' to resolve the cases in full ---
Q. Um—hum.

A. --— and in order to do that had to waive presentment.
Q. Okay. Did you see any basis for challenging the

indictments on the grounds that the facts didn't support the

charge ---

A. No.

0. —-—— that he was indicted with?

A. No, ——-

Q. Okay.

A. ~-—-—- and again, we were trying to get to a global

resolution. Originally it was going to be the 7 years which I
think I've explained and ultimately we ended up with 15. He
never indicated he wasn't going to take the 7 and I never

heard an objection, I mean, obviocusly he wanted less time than

15 ——-
Q. Um-hum.
A. ---— and and I think that's fair for anybody that pleads,

they want the least amount time possible but ---

Q. Um-hum. And was the Applicant ever evaluated for mental
competency?
A. No. Um, again, I I saw some mental health records that

he had before but I never was under the impression that he
didn't know what I was talking about and he wasn't having an a
difficulty communicating with me ---
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Q. Okay.
A. —-—-- sc I didn't have a basis in my opinion to seek an
evaluation and he didn't ask me for one.
Q. Okay. No further questions, thank you.
A. Thank you.

THE COURT: Alright, yes, sir.

MR. EPPS: Thank Your Honor.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. EPPS:
Q. So relative to the potential for appeal no one contacted
you about appealing the, uh, the background issues Mr. Sams
mentioned about the 2005 conviction and the 2013 conviction?
A. I don't recall anybody ever asking me to appeal his case.
Q. Um, did did you ever discuss entrapment to Mr. Jeter?
Let let me, uh, did did ya'll ever discuss entrapment? him?
you? back either Qay?
A. I don't believe so, no. Uh, it was when I reviewed the
videos, it doesn't seem to me that that that was an issue I
woulda brought up to him and he didn't ask me about it.
Q. And and I wanna make sure that were there two, I heard
two controlled buys, I'm, so I got a little confused, are you
saying that there were -- are there -- were there two buys
shown or three buys shown 'cause I, and I'll tell, the reason
I ask is there there are indictments of, uh, distribution PWID
on January 12th, distribution PWID on January 1l4th and then
trafficking on the 15th, did you get a view of all three days
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with a buy going on?

A. I don't remember. I know that I saw two of 'em, it was
the same truck with the same -- you -- the guy's voice was the
same, um, in at least the two, the two that I can remember,
that the gentleman's voice was for the same and the grenade
which was, it -- that that air freshener, that was the thing
that stood out the most to me 'cause I had to ask what it was
'cause I thought they were tryin' to hide somethin' with some
kinda thing on their computer and everybody agreed it was the,

um, the grenade and I asked Mr. Jeter if if he knew whose car

it was and he he knew whose car it was so I didn't really ever

need the name of the CI.

Q. And and the basis for not getting the entire copy of the
video was that if you pushed the solicitor's office to get an
actual copy of the video released the name of the CI that they
would have re -— um, completely taken all deals off the table
and they said they would have to, they would try all charges
separately?

A. The -- well it's their practice to if -- they'll give you
the CI's name and they'll ultimately give you the video as
part of your Rule 5 discovery request but if they do that

and I assume it's to protect their CIs, um, if they do that
they with, i1t's common practice for this solicitor's office to
withdraw any offer and I was told that the offer would be
withdrawn if I wanted it.
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Q. And so if that were the case are you saying he would have
faced the two, uh, April and May 2014 meth charges as well as
the three January 2015 meth charges?

A, It's my understanding they were gonna go forward on all
the charges, ---

Q. Okay.

A. --- I don't know if they woulda tried some together or
not, I I don't know.

Q. In terms of trying some together, was there ever any
discussion about there being a, uh, common activity defense or

something where these three very in close proximity charges

were —-— would be viewed as one actual activity instead of
separate?
A. Um, I I had thought about that but being as that they

were days apart rather than it's like a crime spree type
theory, um, they weren't all occurring in the same day, there
was time in between each one, I think they had a reasonable
basis to try the cases separately if they wanted to do so. I
think it's common practice for the sheriff's office to kinda
do do those cases with a -- they try to get a distribution,
they try to get a distribution and they try to get a
trafficking, um, it's 'cause the potential is they can try all
of them separately, um, you know, the, from my understanding
from Mr. Sams was that they really wanted to tc get Mr. Jeter,
um, and that's why they didn't agree to the 7 to begin with.
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Q. Uh, relative to the two buy -- buys versus three buys and
the PWID, uh, issue that we, that's been talked about in this
case, 1if Mr. Jeter waived presentment of the indictment that
would effectively end his ability to contest any of the issues
with the indictment.

A. I would agree with that.

Q. And what issues did Mr. Kennedy tell you about in the

detention center?

A. Uh, Mr. Jeter you mean-?
Q. Ch sorry, vyes.
A. Um, I met with him a couple times, that that detention

center is overcrowded I think would be a ---

(Indiscernible cross-talk.)
Q. Understatement?
A. Yeah, I mean, it's it's packed, um, and he he did tell me
that he couldn't get all of his medication that he thought he
needed, um, he said he was having some issues with some other
people that were in there. I do seem to recall the day of the
plea that he had a welt or somethin' from where he had been in
a fight or gotten jumped or somethin' like that but again
there was never any indication from him that he didn't know
what he was doing, that, uh, other than he wanted to get out
of the detention center, he ---
0. He —-——--
A. --- told --—-
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Q. --- he ---

A, —-—— me that specifically.

Q. —-—— he wanted to get outta the detention center and
do ---

A, Resolve ——-—

Q. --— or he —---

A. -——- the case, go down to whatever correctional

institution they were gonna send him to 'cause he thought he
could get them, the medications that he thought he needed and
he could get out of the environment he was in with these
people threatening him and and being violent towards him.

Q. I wrote down that you said the solicitor's off -- after
the 7 year plea offer was off the table that the solicitor's
office wanted more than a a 15-year cap on all these charges,
how was it that it went from whatever that respect was to a

15-year sentence?

A. I don't think, I don't think the solicitor's office
necessarily wanted it, I think it -- they -- he was getting
some pressure from the investigators. Um, I, to be honest

with you I was rather frustrated about the the whole 7-year
thing anyway 'cause I had already gone to Mr. Jeter and said,
you know, Look, they're offering you 7, after discussing
everything involved we were ready to go, we showed up the day
to do it, uh, I was, uh, again, I was told that he was gonna
confer with the, um, the sheriff's office, I didn't expect it
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to turn into such a big issue, um, you know, and a I felt bad
for him because, I mean, he ended up with 8 more years, do I
think we could have won those cases at trial, no, but it it
bothered me because he was ready and able to plea to a 7-year
sentence, a negotiated 7 and we couldn't do it, um, so and
that bothered me because I had to go back and say, Look,
they're not gonna do it now, what do you wanna do, um, we got
a continuance at that time but and that that part frustrated
me, still frustrates me about the case in general.

Q. Nothing further.

MS. COLEMAN: No further questions, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Alright, thank you, sir.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, Judge.

(Whereupon, the witness left the stand.)

THE COURT: Alright, anything further from the State?

MS. COLEMAN: ©No further witnesses, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright, I'll be happy to hear any
argument that either of you may have. Let me a -- let me ask
a question before you argue. I -- what what was the, uh, what
was the prior record, have have we determined that, the dates
in the record?

MR. EPPS: Sure, a and, Your Honor, I I will say this
with all, um, due candor to the Court, uh, there there's a
blip as I like to call it on his rap sheet, it shows, uh, and
I think Cliff Sams whom I know well made a mistake and not
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intentionally, it shows that he has a court conviction of June
of 2005, now I will say he alsc pled guilty in July of 2015 so
even that date would be problematic but for, um, possession I
I think it's cocaine base, uh, that that date though is the
date he reported toc the Department of Corrections from his
October of 2004 guilty plea to possession of cocaine base.

The possession of cocaine base under the en, uh, uh,
enhancement statute just it doesn't work, it's time-barred,
so, uh, when Mr. Kennedy got the cases writ large, there was
an April 2014 possession of meth, uh, charge and I'm just
gonna talk about meth because the marijuana issues I think are
largely irrelevant.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. EPPS: There was an April 2014 charge of possession
of meth, there was a May 2014 charge of possession of meth and
then there was January 12th, 14th and 15th 2015 charges for
distribution of PWID on January 2nd, distribution and PWID on
January 1l4th and trafficking ---

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. EPPS: --- on January 15th, the underlying charges
that were pled guilty to by Mr. Jeter in his July 2015
guilty plea all relate to the January block time, January
twif -- 2015 block time, the two prior currently pending at
that time meth charges were nolle prossed as a result of the
negotiations and that resolves all of what I like to call the
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"hard" drugs, there was also ~---

THE COURT: Right.

MR. EPPS: --- a guilty plea during the July 2015 plea
marijuana but that's just, again, and and somewhat irrelevant
to today's proceedings. He does not have, uh, that, well he
he does not and at the time of plea did not have an underlying
conviction for a hard drug to enhance his charges. Now I say
that in all candor to the Court that he did have two pending
possessions, it wasn't a possession first and possession
second, they ---

THE COURT: Right.

MR. EPPS: --- were just listed as possessions, um, that
were not even a year prior to his other charges, uh, had not
been convicted and then again those did nolle pross as a
result a this plea. Part a the issues that I have, I've
wrestled with Mr. Jeter on explained to him and things you've
got a situation where you've got, I call it a "stew." Um, the
PWID in my opinion is is problematic: basketball goals at a
church they don't fit in that statute and and there's actually
a case I'll cite it just for the record's purposes, uh, it is
Cutner, C-U~T-N-E-R, vs. State, it's PCR case 354 sS.C. 151, it
involves an indictment, it's a PWID but marijuana but still
PWID, um, near a park or school, uses ---

THE COURT: Uh, ---

MR. EPPS: --- the same statute, the indictment, uh,
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read, uh, Ridgewood Missionary Baptist Church. The State
contended, uh, after trial that that shoulda been Eau Claire,
think I'm sayin' that right, High School —---

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. EPPS: --- which obviously would fit within the
statute, the Court said, you, that indictment's faulty on its
face, we're already in the proceedings you can't amend the
indictment to, that's not a scrivener's error type a
correction, that is a material change to the indictment, that
will not lie, that that charge will be dismissed 'cause
there's no evidence, uh, to support, uh, that charge because
Ridgewood Missionary Baptist Church is not a public park and
it is pot a school, we're very similar to that even as to the
denomination of the church, Your Honor, so I think the PWIDs
are are problematic, uh, but then you look at the stew, Your
Honor, um, he was facing two charges when he, uh, was
allegedly in these Jul -- or January 2015, uh, drug
tfansactions, were there two or three that's another issue,
Your Honor, were there two buys or three 'cause we've got two
days of distribution of PWID and then a third day which is the
trafficking. Uh, Your Honor, it somewhat ---

THE APPLICANT: There wasn't but two.

MR. EPPS: --- and he again contends it was two sales.
Irre -- regardless of the mental health issues, the the
transcripts and things a that nature, Your Honor, my client,
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uh, with all due respect to Mr. Kennedy and he was faced with
a number of issues, we will give him that, uh, but my client
believes that there was an ineffectiveness there and he was
prejudiced, uh, because the charges that he ultimately pled
guilty to he did that based on the advice of his counsel, um,
a and he believes he should have instead, uh, gone to trial
because the facts just simply weren't there to make those
charge second or third level offenses and since they weren't
that drops the the time exposure dramatically, it drops LWOP
potential dramatically. Um, I've explained to him the
potential of what this court can do in a PCR and if the Court
does, uh, grant his PCR obviously it takes him back to the
beginning and exposure will be what it is but at the same time
he has the facts to be able to argue on those charges, um, a
as they're able to be argued, negotiations may take place that
could put him in a better spot, in the same spot, if he goes
to trial could be in a worse spot, could be in a better spot
at trial, uh, but, Your Honor, all this to say I I do believe
he relied on Mr. Kennedy as his attorney, um, he believes he
was ineffectively assisted and he was prejudiced in that, uh,
he relied on Mr. Kennedy's representations to plead guilty,
um, uh, to charges that just they weren't there.

THE COURT: Okay. Uh, let me ask this: If he, uh, had he
pled guilty or had he been convicted guilty of a distribution
of crack cocaine or methamphetamine, whatever the underlying
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drug was, that the maximum possibility penalty for that is
15 years, am I correct?

MR. EPPS: Well, uh, yes, Your Honor, even on the, uh,
SO ——-

THE CQURT: That right.

MR. EPPS: Well, lookin' at my notes, Your Honor, PWID
PWID meth and of course the problem with PWID ---

THE COURT: But he had two counts of ---

MR. EPPS: He's got --—-

THE COURT: ~-- distribution and then you got the two
counts of proximity and then you've =---

MR. EPPS: Right.

THE COURT: =--- got the trafficking so I, ya'll correct
me if I'm wrong 'cause I'm I'm not, I I'm I'm not tellin' you
that I have an encyclopedic memory of all of this stuff, I
think that the proximity charges, um, second are up to
10 years, uh, the trafficking charge if it were a first, if
it's between 10 and 28 grams and I think the factual
recitation indicated that it was 10.4 grams would be, what,
between 3 and 10 years?

MR. EPPS: Three and ten, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay, and then a possession with intent to
distribution or a distribution which I believe that this was
is up to 15 years on first offenses, right, so there were two
a those, am I correct?
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MR. EPPS: You're right, Your Honor, I, and that how I
got confused when I looked at my notes, I look at PWID and I
assoclate it immediately with that PWID near a school. He is
charged with PWID and PWID proximity. The PWIDs, uh, first
are 0 to 15 charges, you were right.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright, and and you you understand
the reason I ask that I'm I'm wondering about prejudice, um,
and, you know, if he got sentenced to 15 years, uh, and he's
askin' to go back and have that revisited but then he's still
facin' 15 years so the question is is there prejudice if he
got sentenced essentially in accordance with a first, I know
that that's not right, uh, that doesn't necessarily square
when you're talking about trafficking because that's 5 to 30
as opposed to 3 to 10 but if you decide that there's prejudice
on a trafficking and you decide that there is prejudice on a
possession with intent to distribute in proximity but you
decide there's no prejudice on the others, it really doesn't
gain him anything substantially.

MR. EPPS: And and, Your Honor, a again, I've discussed
that with Mr. Jeter, uh, if the PWID proximities go away
there's still potentially two PWIDs, uh, his contention would
be there should only be one because there were only two sales.
Uh, you've got potentially the PWID first with a 0 to 15 and
then a trafficking that could either be a first cor a second
depending on that conviction which would be a 5 to 30, ---
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THE COURT: Um—hum.

MR. EPPS: --- uh, yes, Your Honor, and and then and I'll
even, my encyclopedic knowledge I don't know exactly how this
works with a nolle pross as a part of the negotiations of the
plea because there were two other charges there that were
nolle prossed, --—-

THE COURT: = Uh, ---

MR. EPPS: --- so 1if those come back that's potentially a
first conviction, a second conviction and then a third if the
trafficking were to lie and if the trafficking does not then
it be a third PWID ---

THE COURT: Yeah, ---

MR. EPPS: —--- so —---
THE COURT: --- and that the stew becomes significantly
more difficult to digest. I I'm not so certain and I know,

uh, I'm certain that you had these conversations with him,
Mr. Epps, I'm not, I'm not so certain he understands what he's
askin' for fully, okay. Alright, yes, ma'am.

MS. COLEMAN: Yes, -—-

THE COURT: Alright, Ms. Coleman.

MS. COLEMAN: --- and can I beg the Court's indulgence
one moment, I need to check ---

MR. EPPS: Yeah, sure.

MS. COLEMAN: =--- on this with him.

(Whereupon, a discussion was held off the record.)
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MS. COLEMAN: Um, and, Your Honor, I I agree with you on
your thoughts you were expressing on prejudice, we don't
believe there's any prejudice in this case, I -- and, uh,
because the sentencing woulda been the same regardless on
those charges and also, I I don't think that the Applicant has
proven that that he would've gone to trial rather than plead
guilty, of course he says he would today but I don't know that
at least considering the weight of the State's evidence
against him: they have the buys on tape, you can see his face
on the tape, uh, he admitted his guilt to the Court at the
guilty plea, he was facing a significant amount of time if
he'd gone trial, 30 years for each a these charges, uh, I I
just don't believe that he can overcome his burden of proving
that he would have gone to trial rather than plead guilty;
furthermore, um, I would argue that trial counsel was not
ineffective on this, even if the charges were not correct or
the in -- the prior convictions are not correct, I think that
trial counsel indicated a wvalid strategy, trial strategy, um,
for taking whatever offer was given to him by the solicitor's
office in order to avoid getting s -- first, second, third
offenses, uh, convictions at trial and getting a significant
amounta time including potentially life without parole, um, I
think he acted in his best interest in that manner and that's
a a valid strategy in his representation so we would ask that
you deny the application. Thank you, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Alright, Mr. Epps, did you care to respond,
sir, I'll give you the last word if you like.

MR. EPPS: Uh, Your Honor, I, uh, my client is just, uh,
uh, he would rather go to trial, Your Honor, he believes that,
uh, the January 2015, uh, all threé days were the result of an
entrapment, that's a defense he was not able to present
obviously 'cause he didn't go to, he went through a guilty
plea as opposed to a trial, he did that on the, uh, advice and
information from his attorney, um, he believes that the
evidence, phone records, the video, et cetera would show, uh,
something very different than what actually was talked about
during his guilty plea, ---

THE COURT: Okay, thank ---

MR. EPPS: ——-— based on that, Your Honor, we would ask
the Court grant his PCR and, uh, remand him essentially for
trial on these charges.

THE COURT: Okay. Alright, um, first and foremost with
reépect to the discovery request, those discovery requests go
not to whether or nct the, there was ineffective assistance of
counsel, they go to the weight, sufficiency of evidence, that
was an issue which clearly in the plea was waived, um,
therefore I I'm not going to continue or leave the record open
for purposes of additional discovery.

With regard to mental health records, um, the Applicant
had the opportunity take the stand and at a threshold give
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evidence regarding a a lack of capacity, uh, and a lack of his
ability to assist in his defense. I recognize that there may
be records that, uh, the Applicant, Mr. Jeter, doesn't have
access to because of, well because, uh, he wasn't able to
subpoena the same, however, there are, there clearly based on
the record is information, uh, and there are records which are
within his control, um, and which he could have presented at
trial to support his assertion that he was suffering from some
sort of mental defect and that that significantly affected the
underlying plea, however, the self-serving assertion that he
couldn't get it together is not sufficient to meet the burden
to demonstrate that he lacked mental capacity to, uh, to enter
his plea at the time, I also find as a matter of fact having
reviewed the testimony of the defendant he is an intelligent
individual, um, and ha -- after having reviewed the transcript
of record as well it appears to me that there were intelligent
questions which were, which were posed and answered and that
there was a dialogue during the time of the trial. Trial
counsel indicates that he had the opportunity to talk to him
and that he in fact was active in his representation durin'
the negofiation of the plea and, uh, up and through the time
of the actual entry of the plea therefore I I don't think that
there's sufficient evidence in the record at this point to
leave the record open for additional information or evidence
regarding mental capacity.
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Um, at this point in time I'm ready and prepared to deny
the post-conviction relief with regard to the two
distributions charges. I find that the, notwithstanding
whether they were treated as first or second offenses that he
was sentenced to 15 years which is within the maximum or
within, is the maximum allowable penalty for a distribution
first offense, I find that in those two instances there was
not, uh, ineffective assistance of counsel and even if a
review of the record indicated that there were, there was no
prejudice that visited upon him because he was sentenced in
accordance with a first offense. With respect to the
remaining charges to which he pled, I will take those under
advisement, um, and I will view the same, um, and, Mr. Epps,
it it may be that you need to have a talk with him because
I've denied it with respect to the substantive charges, the
additional charges if he goes back to trial and brings it back
to trial court, he may be facing again, uh, more of that stew
that you had referred to earlier, it's a, it's it's it's not
entirely up to him because I'm ultimately gonna make the
decision but it's entirely up to him as to whether he
wants to assume that risk or not, okay, and that is a sig --
significant and substantial risk and when he calculates it he
better be very very careful what he asks for because he might
get it.

MR. EPPS: And, Your Honor, let me ask you just so I'm
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clear, -—-

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. EPPS: ———buh, the items you're taking under
advisement I I understand you denied as to the PWIDs, the
other items you'd be taking under advisement are most
importantly the trafficking but also PWIDs in proximity?

THE COURT: The proximity, I think there are two
proximity charges and then the, uh, the trafficking charge
because it was treated as a second, I don't know, I need to
look at, I need to look at the record and see, okay.

MR. EPPS: Thank, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Um, it changes, it changes the time
significantly and and it, the the problem with the, uh, with
those charges is he was actually sentenced as a second, he was
sentenced more than he would have been sentenced to for a
first offense on both a those charges, now again, I think it's
academic, you know, but I have, you know, in good faith and as
a matter of intellectual integrity I have to look at 'em all
independently, probly doesn't make a difference to him
ultimately unless he comes back and he géts more then it makes
a big difference to him but negatively, okay. Alright, thank
you very much, I appreciate. Good luck to you, ---

MS. COLEMAN: Thank ---

THE COURT: --- Mr. Jeter.

MS. COLEMAN: --- Your Honor. And would you like any
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kinda proposed order on that or just wait until you've made
your full ---

THE COURT: You can go ahead and do the proposed order on
the first two, ---

MS. COLEMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: =--- um, and you can send me a, you can send
me a propcsed order ---

MS. COLEMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: --- on the remaining three if you'd like.

MS. COLEMAN: Okay, could I —--

THE COURT: You're not ---

MS. COLEMAN: --- under this ---

THE COURT: =--- worried about the mar -- there's a
marijuana, uh, plea at the same time, correct?

MR. EPPS: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm not concerned with that, I'm I'm not
grantin' it on marijuanas, that that's obviously not an issue.

MS. COLEMAN: Right, okay.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. COLEMAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am. Thank you.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT

: )
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on 10t s . the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE MARIJUANA

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter lil, did in Cherokee County on or about
December 20, 2012, manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, purchase or aid,
abet, attempt, or conspire to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or
purchase, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or
purchase a quantity of Marijuana a schedule | controlled substance defined by
§44-53-190 SC Code of Laws, done in violation of §44-53-370, (1976}, as

amended, such possession not having been authorized by law.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF Cherakee ;
STATE VS. y  INDICTMENT/CASEA: __2013GS1100130
Alonzo Columbus Jeter 111 )  AWH_2012A1110100617
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y SC.Code §: { Y4-53-310
)  CDRCode #: QIR
)
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THE COURT: Good morning.
MS. COLEMAN: We are back on the record for

another hearing for Alonzo Columbus Jeter, the third,

vs. State of South Carolina. Docket number

2016-CP-23-0293. This matter comes before The Court
by way of Post-Conviction Relief action that was
filed on April 28th, 2016. Respondent submitted its
return November 15, 2016. And a evidentiary hearing
was convened on March 20th, 2016 here at the
Spartanburg County Courthouse before Your Honor.

The applicant was present at the hearing and was
represented was represented by Mr. Steven Eppes. I
was here, Julie Colemen, on behalf of the Attorney
General's Office.

After the evidentiary hearing, just by way of
procedural history, we did some further investigation
into the records that need to be before The Court.
And it came to our attention that there was an
additional prior conviction that we were not aware of
at the first evidentiary hearing. So, we're here
today on The State's motion to reopen the record.

And I an extra of copy of that if Your Honor would
like one.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. COLEMAN: May I approach?
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THE COURT: Yes, ma'am. I presume that
Mr. Eppes has seen it?

MS. COLEMAN: Yes. And I have a copy for him as
well if he would like it. This is the filed and it
was sent a month or two ago.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. COLEMAN: And, Your Honor, I move to reopen
the record. 2And I've attached to that motion, I've
got two prior convictions here. And they are No.
2004-GS-11-925 and 926. And apparently, the history
of these convictions is he pled guilty to open these
on the same day, on October 12, 2004. But by
reviewing the indictments, it appears that there were
two separate convictions, two separate events. One
occurring on January 30th, 2004. And the other one
on September 3rd of 2004. And it resulted in two
Sseparate convictions with concurrent sentences.

And, Your Honor, our motion and our argument,
based on this record, is that under the statute,
these charges were used to properly enhance his 2015
charges that he is challenging now in his PCR
application.

THE COURT: Okay. 2ll right. Good enough.

Okay, Mr. Epps.

MR. EPPS: Thank you, Your Honor. If my client
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were allowed to testify, by way of proffer, I believe
his testimony would be that both the 925 and 926
charges were reported to him to be merged. Which is
why he did not plead to a first and a second on those
charges. If you'll note, I think the materials that
were handed up, if you have the indictments, as well
as the sentencing sheet -- and I'm asking that Your
Honor because I don't know.

THE COURT: Yeah, I do. I've got two separate
sentencing sheets and warrants on the case.

MR. EPPS: Okay. And you will see on there, and
as the Attorney General alluded, there are two very
separate dates. One in January and cne in September.
Both of the year 2004.

THE COURT: TUh.

MR. EPPS: Both for possession of crack. So
temporally, I do not believe that they can be merged
together or viewed to be merged together as one event
because they happened the next day or couple days
after, something like that.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. EPPS: But, Your Honor, the issue that we're
faced here with -- and number one, Your Honcr, I
guess I should make this argument first. We have

already had a hearing in this. As The Court is well
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awére, PCR trials are a collateral attack. They do
have a lot of due process arguments within them. And
I think, number one, I have to make a due process
argument that this very easily could violate my
client's due process rights because The State has had
the opportunity to present evidence. The evidence
was that he had one prior conviction of possession of
cocaine or crack in 2004. The problem with that one
conviction as it stood on the prior hearing, is that
from a time standpoint, from the enhancement statute,
his convictions that we're here about today happened
in 2015. The enhancement statute provides that a
first violation will only serve to enhance when it is
faced with another conviction within a 10 year
period.

So, if we're left with just the one conviction
as we were at the last hearing, he nevér could have
been charged with or at least convicted of PWID
second. None of his charges could have been second
because they were all temporally connected and there
was no 10 year prior charge to enhance. Obviously,
what we're now looking at with these two -- or these
two charges is that there were two convictions. I
believe that number one it prejudices my client for

the record to be reopened to allow this other charge
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to be viewed as evidence.

Secondarily, Your Honor, I think also, as again
with the proffer, I believe under the enhancements
statute, this still should be viewed as a first
violation. I believe The Court interpreted it that
way. If you look at the sentence, it was sentenced
that way. And so, I believe notwithstanding the fact
that temporally these charges were not alleged to
have happened back to back, they were sentenced in
that way. And as a result, they still would not fit
within the 10 year requisite time period of the
enhancement statute.

Which brings us somewhat back to the forefront
of the issue this case faces. My client was charged
with PWID second, PWID proximity, from a
January 12th, 2015 alleged crime. PWID second, PWID
proximity second for a January 13th. And then
trafficking for a January 15th. All those very
temporally connected.  He was charged with the third
offenses, he pled -- I said earlier just now, that he
was charged with second offense, he was always
charged with third and they were brought down.

Assistant Attorney General and I have spoken,
but there are a lot of moving parts on this thing.

To show a just red flag prejudice issue, is somewhat
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difficult in that there are a lot of just moving
parts of potential, I hate to say the word mistakes,
but mistakes happen, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. EPPS: 1In this. His record was not clean or
easily defined. It did show one violation which was
more than 10 years. The guilty plea transcript
references marijuana convictions to enhance
methamphetamine charges which does not work under the
enhancements statute. And I think all of that lumped
together, sir, is what Mr. Kennedy was relying on to
advise his then client and lead my now client towards
this negotiated sentence. Because it was negotiated
my client never had the that opportunity to present
mitigation. And as a result, he pled guilty to
charges, specifically as it relates PWID, prqximity
to a school, on its face those charges should have
never gone forward. There was no school listed in
the indictment.

On the trafficking, Your Honor may recall, my
client has had his request to discovery as the amount
that was seized by SLED for testing, to actually
prove that there was over 10 grams. And Your Honor
did deny that motion. But his contention is that

there was not enough weight to support a trafficking
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charge. There was discussion entrapment. And all of
that, Your Honor, was never addressed by Mr. Kennedy,
certainly wasn't part of the guilty plea. I believe
my client feels he was prejudiced because he was led
down a primrose path on issues that really were not
there.

So, Your Honor, we would request and if The
Court would allow, I would put my client up on the
stand to testify about the 2004 charges. As to how
they were, in his opinion, or his recollection, they
were merged as one.

THE COURT: Yeah, I don't think. I don't think
you want to do that. Because 1f your client gets on
the stand and it becomes clear under
cross-examination that he recognized that they were
two separate and distinct convictions, I might be
inclined to hold him in contempt of court for making
a misrepresentation to the court in the first
instance.

MR. EPPS: And, Your Honor, I recognize that.

THE COURT: So, I don't know that I necessarily
need to hear from him.

MR. EPPS: Okay.

THE COURT: But if knowing that, if you want to

put him on the stand, you can. But understand that
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you know, for direct contempt of court, I can
sentence him to a consecutive period of six months in
jail for making a misrepresentation if I feel that
he's not credible in that regard.

MR. EPPS: Certainly, Your Honor. My client
informs me that he would like té take the stand.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. 1I'll give you two
minutes on the stand. Two minutes, okay.

MR. JETER: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm not retrying what we've already
talked about.

MR. EPPS: Certainly, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. All right.

Okay, Mr. Jeter, what I want you to do just
stand right there. Raise your right hand.

ALONZO JETER, after being duly sworn,
testified as follows:

THE COURT: Have a seat right there.

Mr. Epps, you can examine him from there.

MR. EPPS: And Your Honor, in the interest of
quick time, I'm just going to mention to him the
sentencing sheets.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. EPPS:

Q Mr. Jeter, before you are two sentencing sheets.
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One is on Indictment 2004-925. One is Indictment
2004-926. You see those sentencing sheetg?

A Uh-huh.

o] Is that a yes?
A Yes.
Q And did you sign those? Is that your signature

right here in the middle?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And those are for possession of crack
first, both of those charges; correct?

A Yes.

Q And it is your understanding that both of these
are separate convictions?

A That supposed to be merged into one conviction.

Q And when you say they were supposed to be
merged, how do you come to that conclusion?

A Me and attorney Thompson, that's what our
agreement was. That's why I signed the plea. And also,
my criminal background record, it only shows -- it only
shows one -- I got one of these -- I got one of these on
one date and one on another. I was trying to get it
straightened out because they had the PWID. And she
changed the date.

Q But irrespective of that, you agree there are

two sentencing sheets with your name on them or two
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charges of possession of crack first, right?

A Yes.

Q But your understanding was they were to be
merged into one charge from one conviction of possession
of crack first?

A Yes. Again, my -- my criminal background check
from the city and county both reflect that as stated as

only one charge there.

Q Can I have a copy of this to put in the record?

A Yes, sir. I want you to see two different ones
here.

Q Okay.

A Okay. 11/13 and 11/18. They got 11/13 they had
me for PWID crack. And I know something wasn't right.

Q Uh-huh.

A And I went and spoke with them and she says,
Yes, I pled to possession of cocaine. And on both of

these there's only one charge.

Q Okay.
A And.
Q So, 1it's your understanding after getting these

records, that you only had one conviction of--
A Yes.
Q Possession of--

A Cocaine.
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Q -- cocailne?

A Uh-huh. And also on my NCIC report, it shows I
just had one conviction. On this date in 2004. And I was
incarcerated in SCDC in 2005. And it reflects the other
charge. Or that they were merged.

Q All right. All right.

Your Honor, I'd ask to make these two
Cherokee County Records checks part of the exhibit or part
of the record.

THE COURT: All right, any objection?

MS. COLEMAN: I object, Your Honor.

Could I look at them real quick?

MR. EPPS: Sorry. And I've never seen them
before either, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. EPPS: So, I mean, she said, I've never seen
them before.

MS. COLEMAN: Your Honor, I would object on the
basis of -- there's no one here to authenticate that
document first of all. I don't know where it came
from, we don't know that it reflects the true and
accurate copy.

THE COURT: I'll allow it in.

MS. COLEMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: We've come -- and I presume that in
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as much as The Applicant is putting evidence into the
record, that he has no objection to reopening the
record for purposes of presenting additional
evidence. And in as much as that is the case, I'll
allow that in as The Applicant's next exhibit. I'1l1l
also allow in and take judicial notice of the record,
the warrants issued and the sentencing sheets of the
court. Okay. So, I'll go ahead and let you allow
that in -- let you put that in over objection.

MR. EPPS: And Your Honor, just so we have --
we'll need exhibits. Should I just go ahead and make
the sentencing sheets exhibits as well?

THE COURT: You're welcome to do that. Again, I
take judicial notice of them, they're part of the
public record.

MR. EPPS: Well, that's true, Your Honor. I
just didn't know if we had them in the record.

THE COURT: If you want to introduce those, you
can do that as well, sir.

MR. EPPS: Well, I think since we're talking
about them, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. EPPS: Okay. So maybe one, two, three,
four?

THE COURT: That's fine with me. Or you can put
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them all in collectively.

MR. EPPS: Maybe that would be better.

THE COURT: So, put yours collectively, that is
Applicant's -- it came in over objection, so they're
clearly identified. And I presume The State doesn't
have any objection to the sentencing sheets?

MS. COLEMAN: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So, it will be Applicant's
exhibit and -- well it can be a Court's Exhibit. All
right. Since I'm taking judicial notice of it, okay.

MS. COLEMAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on, let the court reporter --

MR. EPPS: Certainly.

THE COURT: -- mark and inventory all of that.
While she's doing that I'm going to take a very, very
brief break, I'll be right back.

THE COURT REPORTER: Judge, which one are the
Court's Exhibits?

THE COURT: The Court's Exhibits are the
sentence sheets. And the Applicant's Exhibits are
the information I believe he got from Cherokee County
Clerk of Court.

MR. EPPS: Yeg, Your Honor. And, Your Honor,
just so the record is clear, i1t just says Steve

Mueller, Sheriff of Cherokee County. I think it came
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ALONZO JETER-DIRECT BY MR. EPPS

sheriff's department.

COURT: Okay. All right, fair enough.

(WHEREUPON, Court's Exhibit No. 1 was marked for

identification and received into evidence.)

(WHEREUPON, Applicant's Exhibit No. 1 was marked

for
THE
anything
MR.

THE

identification and received into eVidence.)
COURT: All right, you ready? Do you have
additional of this witness?

EPPS: No, Your Honor, I do not. Thank you.

COURT: Okay.

Do you have any cross-examination of this

witness?

MS.

THE

this, ma’

MS.

THE

MS.

THE

it.

MS.

COLEMAN: Just very briefly.

COURT: Do you have any cross-examination of
am?
COLEMAN: No gquestions for this witness.

COURT: Okay.
COLEMAN: Just a brief argument in response.

COURT: Yes, ma'am, I'll be happy to hear

COLEMAN: Thank you. I was going to address

the due process argument, but since you've already

allowed those in, I don't know if there's a need to

do that.

THE

COURT: Okay.
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MS. COLEMAN: But what it all comes down to is
prejudice. To prove his PCR case he must prove
prejudice by this. And he pled guilty to second
offense. And it's clear from the record before The
Court now, these two prior convictions, even though
it was more than 10 years, the statute allows that
any time there is a second or subsequent offense,
conviction, then that can be used to enhance the
charge. He pled guilty to second offense. Yeah,
there were two convictions for first offense but one
of them -- it's our opinion that one of them counts
as the second or subsequent offense. Which would be
used to enhance his 2015 charges. So, he pled to
second, he can't show any prejudice based on this
report before the court.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. COLEMAN: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank vyou.

Okay, Mr. Epps, would you like to respond, sir?

MR. EPPS: Your Honor, I'm here to represent a
client. My client has mentioned certain things to
me. I would simply just ask The Court consider the
fact that both of the 2004 sentencing sheets
conviction that were just admitted into record, are

listed as first offenses. And they were more than 10
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years prior to his second -- his conviction on the
second charges. There were -- there was never a
second offense. The statute's wording is a little
interesting and difficult because it talks about for
an offense.‘ The offenses were both firsts, moré than
10 years for the conviction before the second. I
believe that's what my client would prefer me to
argue, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. EPPS: Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Good enough.

Now, do you believe, Mg. Coleman, that this is
subject to a 10 year timeframe?

MS. COLEMAN: ©No, Your Honor. Because there is
more than one offense. Even though they're both
labeled first offense, there's still more than one
conviction, which would make a second one a second or
subsequent conviction. Which would apply to part
four of that statute. Meaning they can use it
outside the 10 year.

THE COURT: Do you believe, Mr. Epps, that
Subjection 4, which is basically the salient
subsection where it says, Convicted of a second or
subsequent violation of a controlled substance

offense provision, do you believe that that
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technically means that it is a conviction of a
possession second or possession with intent to
distribute second? Or do you believe that that can
be taken to mean that it is simply a simple adjective
which describes the number of convictions? And the
guestion--

MR. EPPS: I'm not trying to make this
difficult, Your Honor. Are you asking me or you
asking me -- if you're asking me--

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. EPPS: Your Honor, here's what I believe. A
I could be wrong. But looking at this from a
hypothetical, if someone was convicted in 2000 of
heroin and cocaine first. BAnd then in 2015 was
convicted of meth first. The 2000 crimes,
convictions, would be subsequent but one would have
to be considered a first offense conviction. But the
next one, which was on the same day and right after,
during that same guilty plea, would have to be a
subsequent violation of what I term, a hard drug,
under this statute.

I believe under that hypothetical scenario, Your
Honor, that that individual would, under this
statute, for the rest of his or her natural life, be

forever having to face the enhancement statute
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without the benefit of the 10 years. I hope I've
answered that question for you.

THE COURT: You have. You have. And I
understand exactly what you're saying. And I don't
necessarily know that I disagree with you. I think
that would be an interesting argument at the time of
plea.

MS. COLEMAN: Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. COLEMAN: I'm sorry to interrupt. I
actually looked into this issue a little bit last
night, tried to find some case law. To my knowledge,
there is no case law on that. On the specific issue
that we're questioning. But it's my understanding
that the solicitor's office is interpreting the
statute loosely as second or subsequent, not as a
gsecond conviction.

THE COURT: Right. I understand.
Notwithstanding how it's characterized on the
sentence sheet, it's a matter of numerical
characterization. That means simply, how many has it
been? And I think given the fact that it's not
capitalized and it's written the way it is, I think
that is the simple interpretation of the statute.

And that's the way I've seen it customarily
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interpreted, as well. It's interesting. I really do
think that it's interesting. But I also do think
that it's an issue that should have been raised at
the time of trial. 2And my recollection of the guilty
plea is that all of those igssues were waived at the
time by and through the colloquy of the court.

Now, I will tell you, when I took this under
advigement, I had a very real concern as to whether,
in fact, The Court had jurisdiction to accept it has
a third or subsequent offense. Because we couldn't
determine whether it really was a third or subsequent
offense. Because it's kind of loocked like a second.
Well, that clearly would have been ineffective
assistance of counsgel if trial counsel had allowed
him to plead to a third offense when, in fact,
pursuant to his prior record it was clearly a second
offense. And that was of significant concern to me.
And if I remember correctly, even if I had granted it
based on the additional charges that were before The
Court, it would have been entirely academic, in any
event. But out of -- because I look at each and
every instance independent of one another, then I
thought it was fair to actually take that under
advisement and look at the statute.

But now, I understand Mr. Jeter's position is
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that he was under the impression, in locoking at all
of the information that was available to him, that it
simply was merged. And I believe, Mr. Jeter, that
you believe that, okay. I believe that you believe
that. But I wasn't concerned at the time of what you
believed. As a matter of fact, if you believed that
at the time of the plea, which you indicate you did,
then that means you are in a position to challenge it
at that time. And you waived the right to challenge
that at the time.

MR. JETER: I did.

THE COURT: Understand the logic here, okay.
You tell me today you always believed that that was a
first and it was your understanding at the time of
the plea that they were merged together. Okay, I
accept that. Okay, I accept that. But 1f you
believed that at the time of this trial, then you
could have raised that as an issue to the presiding
Judge.

MR. JETER: I did.

THE COURT: And you could have told him it's not
a third, it's a second.

MR: JETER: I did, I told my lawyer that.

THE COURT: And then you went before The Court.

And The Judge asked you to what offense you were
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pleading? And you indicated that you were pleading
and you accepted a plea to the third. And you
otherwise waived all of your constitutional and
procedural due process rights. You waived your right
to challenge those issues and you waived your right
to a jury trial. I don't know why you did that, I
really don't know why you did that but you did.

MR. JETER: No, sir. I spoke--

THE COURT: And you may have. You very well may
have. And you may have then had the opportunity to
have your attorney to inspect that more closely. And
if you didn't think that he had, if you didn't think
that he had, then you would have said to him, Hey
man, I'm not satisfied with what you're doing. You
really haven't investigated this enough. And you're
not representing me like you should. Which you very
well could have said. And that would have been fair
game.

But when The Judge asked you, Are you satisfied
with the services of your attorney?

You said, Yes.

MR. JETER: No, I didn't.

THE COURT: You did.

MR. JETER: No, sir.

THE COURT: Is that what the record
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demonstrates®?

MR. JETER: Yes.

THE COURT: What does it say?

MR. JETER: I was -- the record doesn't -- I
wasn't asked that question. But The Judge said, as
you said, that I said that I was satisfied with my
attorney. But I never said that. 2And I asked my
attorney about that, about those offenses. And he
kept telling me that yes, it would be a third, it
could be a third. And he was doing this basing on
the marijuana charge that couldn't be used. Your
Honor, I didn't have a law book to read the statute
at that time. I didn't know nothing.

THE COURT: Well, it appears to me from the
record that has been presented to me, that the
marijuana charge really wasn't relevant at all.

MR. JETER: Yes, but I--

THE COURT: Because there was two crack charges.

MR. JETER: But that's what he told me that that
was going to be used, the marijuana charge. 2And I
didn't have anything to refute what he was saying
other than to trust him. That he knew what he was
talking about. But I kept asking him.

THE COURT: Yeah. And I'm going to tell you

something, it looks to me from this record, like he
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was right. That it's two prior convictions. For
non-marijuana charge. I mean, that's what the record
clearly shows. I know what you're telling me, but
what I'm telling you is the record clearly shows two
prior convictions.

MR. JETER: Okay. 8o, the two prior
convictions, first offense, I should have been
pleading to a second offense straight up. Not a
negotiated to a second.

THE COURT: You should have brought that up at
the time.

MR. JETER: Your Honor, I didn't have a law
book, I didn't know. That's what my attorney.

THE COURT: I understand. I understand. I
understand exactly what you're saying. But I also
understand what I have to determine is not what you
found out after the fact. But whether counsel's
representation was deficient.

MR. JETER: And it was.

THE COURT: And I was concerned about that. I
really was. Because I was thinking to myself, boy,
if there weren't two convictions to substantiate a
third, then yeah, it was deficient. And I was going
to rule that way. But now I see there were two

convictions to substantiate a third.




144

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

MR. JETER: Your Honor, the statute speaks of
violations, not offenses. It doesn't say -- the
statute reads as if I had a first offense.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. JETER: And 11 years later I caught another
first offense, that would be another first offense.
And three years later I caught another offense,
that's not saying that I should get charged with
third offense there.

THE COURT: Well, you're reading--

MR. JETER: It's speaking of violations.

THE COURT: Well, you're reading Paragraph 3.

MR. JETER: Yeah.

THE COURT: You need to read Paragraph 4.

MR. JETER: Yea, I read four.

THE COURT: And that's basically what we had --
what we've had a discussion about, okay?

MR. JETER: Yes.

THE COURT: And if you think that I -- if you
think that I'm wrong about that, which is fair, I'm
wrong everyday, ask my wife. But if you think I'm
wrong, then you can appeal it. You can appeal my
decision. But I can tell you that my experience and
my reading of the law suggests that if under

Subparagraph 4 of Section 44-53-470(a), if you have a
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second conviction for drugs or drug offense, other
than marijuana, at any time, that's what it says, at
any time, then it can be used against you for
subsequent offense. Okay. That's my reading of it.
And again, I could be wrong. But that's my reading
of it.

MR. JETER: It's speaking of violations.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. JETER: It's speaking of -- I do admit if
they was to separate the charges --

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR.iJETER: Yes, that's two violations. But
that's two first offense violations. The statute
speaks of violations. It doesn't say it goes to the
next offense.

THE COURT: Yeah and I think we probably are
having a semantical disagreement about violations
versus convictions. The way I look at it is a
violation is an occurrence coupled with a conviction.
And that is clearly demonstrated that there are two
by way of warrants, which signify the specific date
and time; and sentence sheets which were each
independently signed by The Judge. So I see it as
two violations. Again, you can disagree with me, I

don't fault you for that.
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MR. JETER: What I'd like for you to see, Your
Honor, if -- if I was sentenced under the three in
that statute.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. JETER: Okay, I would have a first offense.
Ten years later, 11 years later, it would be another
first offense. So, are you telling me if I get
caught on the -- if I get caught the next year, that
that automatically goes to a third offense?

THE COURT: If it's a -- if you've had a second
violation for a drug offense at any time of your
life, the answer to your question is yes. That's how
I read that statute. Okay. All right listen, I'm
going to tell you something, the reason I took it
under advisement is because I thought you weré right.
And I was going to find that counsel was deficient,
okay. Because I take this stuff seriously. I'm not
hand waiving any of this. But the statute for an
offense involving a controlled substance, which it
is, okay, other than marijuana, which it is, pursuant
to this article the offender has at any time, at any
time, been convicted of a second--

MR. JETER: Violation.

THE COURT: -- non-capitalized--

MR. JETER: Violation.
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THE COURT: -- second or subsequent violation of
a controlled substance offense provision, other than
marijuana offense provision of this article. Or of
another state or federal statute related to narcotic
drugs, depressants, stimulants or hallucinogenic
drugs, 1t can be considered a second or subsequent
offense. So, under my reading of the statute, it.
seems pretty clear. Now, the only real room for
disagreement ig whether -- how you define a second or
subsequent offense. And most courts have interpreted
that as the numerical number and not the precise
charges to which one is convicted.

In this case, you got two. So, it wouldn't
matter if it was ten years or not. It would only
matter whether there were two and it happened in your
lifetime. Okay. That's my reading of it. Again, I
could be wrong. And you can -- you can appeal that
decision. But I base the decision, this decision, on
the relevant burden of proof. That is whether trial
counsel was deficient and whether you were prejudiced
by that deficiency. I thought that trial counsel was
deficient. Until I saw that there were, in fact, two
previous convictions. Now, how you interpret that I
really think is not material to my decision.

MR. JETER: And that's--
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THE COURT: But how you interpret that would be
a gquestion at the time of the plea.

MR. JETER: That causes that statute to be
unconstitutional, Your Honor. And it should be void
from--

THE COURT: And that would be a question for the
Supreme Court. Not for me but for the Supreme Court.
And I don't know that you have standing to challenge
the constitutionality. You may have to file another
suit or appeal and make that a portion of your
appeal. But it's my understanding, based on my
knowledge of the law, my reading of the law, my
experience in this job and formally as a defense
attorney. And someone who represented PCR applicants
éignificant and a substantial number of times, that
it's not unconstitutional.

MR. JETER: Your Honor, the rule amenity
[verbatim] was -- says that it's supposed to go in my
favor. If there's any unambiguity. And it's clear
and unambiguous.

THE COURT: Well, it's clear to you that it's
ambiguous. And again, you might be right. I promise
you, I'm not arguing with you. That's just my
interpretation of the law. Take it up to the Court

of Appeals, Supreme Court and argue with them that I
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was wrong. That's fair. That's fair. You're not
going to offend me by doing that, okay. Reasonable
people have reasonable disagreements everyday. Okay.
All right.

And I'm going to tell you as well, Mr. Jeter, T
don't mind whether you do it or not, but this issue
that we're talking about, if I'm not mistaken, if I
remember correctly, is entirely academic. Because
this was -- what was this a 15 year offense?

MR. EPPS: Fifteen year sentence, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Fifteen year sentence.

MR. JETER: But I was--

THE COURT: And you had additional 15 year
sentences as well to which this one is running
concurrent, right?

MR. JETER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. JETER: But my thing is that he -- that said
that I was pleading to a lesser included offense.
That shouldn't been only but a second offense. So,
it's not lesser included.

THE COURT: Okay. And you're an intelligent
man. And you make logical arguments, okay. And I
appreciate it. I've ruled. And I may be wrong,

appeal it, okay. Appeal it, okay. I don't think I'm
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wrong, okay. If I did think I was wrong I wouldn't

rule that way. Okay. All right. So, I wish you

luck, Mr. Jeter. Have a good day and a good weekend.

Ms. Coleman, if you'd send me an order, I'll
appreciate it.
MS. COLEMAN: Yes, Your Honor, thank you.

(WHEREUPON, the proceedings were concluded.)
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CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )

COUNTY OF GREENVILLE )

I, APRIL P. HERRON, Official Court Reporter for
the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of South
Carolina, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
accurate and complete Transcript of Record of the
proceedings had and evidence introduced in the trial of
the captioned case, relative to appeal, in the Court of
Common Pleas for Spartanburg County, South Carolina, on
the 30th day of June, 2017.

I do further certify that I am neither of kin,

counsel nor interest to any party hereto.

December 30, 2017

APRIL P. HERRON, Court Reporter
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE ) SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
)
Alonzo Columbus Jeter II1, #282902, ) 2016-CP-11-0293
)
Applicant, )
)
V. )
) MOTION TO REQPEN RECORD
) AND MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
State of South Carolina, ) OF DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF
)
Respondent. )
)

MOTION
This matter comes before the Court by way of a post-conviction relief (PCR) application
filed on April 28, 2016. Respondent submitted its Return on November 15, 2016. An evidentiary
hearing was convened on March 20, 2017, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse, Applicant was
present at the hearing and was represented by Steven D. Epps, Esquire. Respondent was
represented by Assistant Attorney General Julie A. Coleman of the South Carolina Attorney
General's Office.

After the evidentiary hearing, and upon further investigation of Applicant’s records, it
came to Respondent’s attention that Applicant had additional prior convictions that were not
known about or discussed at the evidentiary hearing. In order to allow the Court to fully consider
all pertinent information and make a fair ruling in the interest of justice, Respondent now moves

to reopen the record to submit additional records from the Clerk of Court of Cherokee County.

These supplemental records are attached. o
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MEMORANDUM

In light of the new information provided by the additional clerk’s records attached,
Respondent submits the following:

1. Applicant pled guilty on October 12, 2004, to two counts of Possession of Crack
(2004-GS-11-925 and 2004-GS-11-926, records of which are attached hereto as a
supplemental record to this action) in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375
(1976). Applicant did not appeal his guilty pleas or sentences.

2. Applicant was charged with the offenses which are the subject of this action in 2014
and 2015, including two counts of distribution of methamphetamine, third offense,
and trafficking methamphetamine, third offense, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-
53-375,

3. Applicant pled guilty to the charges for a negotiated sentence of fifteen years. He pled
down to distribution and trafficking methamphetamine, second offense, instead of
third offense.

4. Respondent submits that Applicant was appropriately charged with distribution and
trafficking, third offense, and his charges and guilty pleas to the lesser offense are
proper based on his prior convictions. Although both of his prior convictions are from
more than ten years before his guilty plea, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-470(A)(4)
provides:

(A) An offense is considered a second or subsequent offense if:

E;l”]for an offense involving a controlled substance other than
marijuana pursuant to this article, the offender has ar any fime
been convicted of a second or subsequent violation of a controlled

substance offense provision, other than a marijuana offense
provision, of this article or of another state or federal statute

Page 2 of 3
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relating to narcotic drugs, depressants, stimulants, or
hallucinogenic drugs.

S.C. Code Ann, § 44-53-470(A)(4) (1976) (emphasis added).

5. Respondent submits that any allegation presented by Applicant that his indictments
were insufficient, the plea court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, or that Plea
Counsel was ineffective based on the argument that he did not have the proper prior
convictions to support his enhancement should be denied.

6. For these reasons, Respondent asks this Court to deny and dismiss the application for

post-conviction relief with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549

Columbia, SC 29211
Telephone: (803) 734-3737

By:c AR O Qo ee —

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

O_kg\/u'( > 07
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April P. Herron
P.O. Box 17675
Greenville, SC 29606
MEMORANDUM
TO: Clerk of Court
FROM: April Herro
DATE: October 11, 2017

-
RE: - Exhibits .

Please find enclosed Exhibits from June 30, 2017. I was

working in Spartanburg that week and was going to mail them
te the Cherokee Clerk of Court after court. I

inadvertently filed them with my log sheets for that week
and just discovered them as I was pulling a file from that
week. Sorry for any inconvenience this may have caused.

Thank you.
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: - APPELLANT’S
FORR 24:11:11)
5 . .

/ é-aé_;- 7 |

Steve Mueller
Sheriff of Cherokee County
312 East Frederick Street
Gaffney, South Carolina 29340
PHONE: (864)489-4722

| hereby give my consent to a complete records check and further request that all information
concerning my arrest(s) and/or conviction(s) be furnished.

Alonzo CJeter Il
(NANE) .

- #4%  |DENTIFICATION 4

. - : - ..-l...'s(‘.' PR : .
S— St Carslign w0 R
: SDC.IALSECUR"Y NUMBER - ; .

(/13 /20,3
oA 7/

i &

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THE ABOVE NAMED SUBJECT: .

Does Not Have a Criminal History in Cherokee County

X| Does Have a.Criminal History in Cherokee County

05/07/96 A&B/E687401/guilty 05/24/96

05/12/97 Providing false info to police/90424AL/guilty bt time served 06/03/97
06/25/00 DUS/67324BC/guilty forf 07/05/00

05/07/01 Simple poss marijuana/68274BC/time served 09/03/01 ¢
05/07/01 DUS 5"/68272BC/time served 09/03/01 ‘
05/07/03, Disregarding stop sign/68270BC/time served 09/03/01
05/07/pf®ailure to stop for blue light/68271BC/time served 09/03/01
05/ ating uninsured vehicle/68273BC/time served 09/03/01
02/24/ 1/i001523/guilty plea/03/27/02

04/28/03 D) 24/%%323BY/guilty 90 days 11/19/03
04/28/03 DU %5284BY/guilty 6 months 11/19/03
01/29/04 DUS 3“2 4394R /suilty plea 04/13/04
01/29/04 Breach ofgfst/H005602/guilty plea 04/08/04
n9/04/04 Simple poss Gerijuana/H004829/guilty plea 09/29/04 <

.4/04/04 ﬂﬂﬂﬁf{%ﬂ cocaine/H004830/3 yrs & $5,000 susp CTS/3 yrs prob 10/12/04 -
11/30/06 Simple poss marijuana/H854986/pled guilty/ time served 08/18/08 ~

02/08/08 Simple poss/97413DV/guilty bt 03/13/08 _ >
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Steve Mueller
Sheriff of Cherokee County
312 East Frederick Street
Gaffney, South Carolina 29340
PHONE: (864)489-4722

| hereby give my consent to a complete records check and further request that all information
concerning my arrest(s) and/or conviction(s) be furnished.

T IDENTIFICATION <
.Snurh Cari h i CARD ' W .
» JETER,ALONZO cor_uM J = :
, ALONERD ... i
i GAFFuevsczsmazﬁ

~Alonzo Jeter li| G'\
{NAME)

(SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER)

11/18/2013 11:43:57 AM
{DATE)

Il J 1 T 4 71 | A

THIS 1S TO CERTIFY THE ABOVE NAMED SUBJECT: R

Does Not Have a Criminal History in Cherokee County

X | Does Have a Criminal History in Cherokee County

5-7-96 A&B/E687401/GUILTY 5-24-96

5-12-97 Providing false info to police/90424AL/guilty bt time served 6-3-97
6-25-00 DUS/67324BC/guiltyfgrf /7/5/00

5-7-01 Simple poss magitfBy

2@Bq{¢:me served 9-3-01

hegOFved 9-3-01

B $¥iEn/68270BC/time served 9-3-01

‘ @,595’;: for blue light/68271BC/time served 9-3-01

ing uninsured vehicle/68273BC/time served 9-3-01

2-24-02 CDV/H001623/guilty plea 3-27-02

4-28-03 DUI 2"/57323BY/guilty 90 days 11-19-03

4-28-03 DUS 7TH/GuiIty 6 mo/11-19-03

1-29-04 DUS 3'/27489CR/guilty plea/4-13-14

1-29-04 Breach of Trust/H005602/guilty plea 4-08-04

" 9-04-04 Simple poss marijuana/H004829/guilty plea 9-29-04

9-04-04 PWID crack cocaine/H004830/pled to poss of cocaine=3 yrs prob 10-12-04
11-30-06 Simple poss marijuana/H854986/pled guilty/ time served 8-18-08
2-08-08 Simple poss marijuana/97413DV/guilty bt 3-13-08
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Address:
City, State, Zip
DL#

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
countyor  CHAZOKAZ ;
STAT, VS. )
/ﬁ.on.lzo JrRTER. T )
AKA: )
Race! )
DOB: )
)

)

)

In disposilion of id indictment comes ppw the Qefendant who was O CONVICTED OF or
TO: Aﬁ@wj oF CMtE 1“—?-5

573 3 75 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code# __O_/

in violation of §
JSTNON-VIOLENT

[JVIOLENT [J SERIOUS

Y

Solicitol

IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

INDICTMENT/CASE#:
sGEa )T A A

[] Lesser Included Offense, ﬂ Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury.

AWE: =t Uir +
Date of Offense: [ - 20-0Y
S.C. Code § JIJ-53- 57 &
CDR Code #: o Y A . - ! o
] CASE RESTORED
SENTENCE

eiea DI TRIAL

PLEADS

{ , © ; ©
[ 17-25-45

] MOST SERIOUS

fgotiations or Recommendation, {_] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommgndation by the Staje. :
f e
Attorney for Defefidant

Defendant

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the [ES{ate Department of Corractions, [CIcounty Detention Center,

for a determinate term of

of §

deysfmomthtiyears or [] under the YouthfuLOﬁ
and/or to pay a fine of 5800 ; provided that upon the service of -t Mt idimonths/years andfor payment
; plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the baEaanSﬁu$enged with probation for

r Act not to exceed years

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardan Services standard conditions of probation,

%hi}h are incorporated by reference.
CURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:

he Defendant Is to be given credit for time served pursuant to

S.C. Code §24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by the State

Department of Corrections.
SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
] RESTITUTION: [] Heard, (] Waived, [] Ordered . PTUP
Total: plus 20% fee: days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED
[ set by SCOPPPS Attend Voc, Rehab. or Job Corp.
= A May serve W/E beginning
Reglni Alan Substance Abuse Caunseling v
*FIRG ‘ ' -$ Random Drug/Alcohol-Testing-~ ~»—~ - =& — = _~
§ ents 107.5%) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weskly/monthly
Y ircharge) $100 § __  pmis of§ beginning B L
: , ferge) 3100 _§ $ paid to Public Defender Fund

§56-5:2, DUF,gsse%Efent) $12 S Other:
§ 3513 lidD'eﬂPko%f' $500 _S
§73.3, 1 Lawnforce. Funding) $25 8
223.7. 1B I{PB E?rug Cl%urt Surcha}rge) $é Og 3

0-21-114({BUI Breath Test Fee 50 _§
§66-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea % [0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, §35.13 TP
3% to County (if pald in installments) Requires $500 be pald to Clerk dugng probation.

TQOT. P £ e s
St L NE Ao
@@J’xum (Daputy Clerk
; AL WF/\:\)

Court Reporter:

White - Cletk  Green — Corrections Canary - Probation

PRESIDING JUDGE

Judge Code: | B e D

Sentence Date: Crfvlosa 2. Xnd-
Pink - Defendant SCCAJ217 (7/2003)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT

)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

Af a Court of General Sessions, convened on SEP 3 0 2004 , the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

POSSESSION OF CRACK COCAINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jete; 11l, did in Cherokee County on or about Jan.uary 30..
2004, intentionally possess or attempt to possess a quantity of Crack Cocaine, a
schedule Il controlled substance, as defined by §44-53-110, under the provisions of
§44-53-375, THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976), as amended, such

possession not having been authorized by law. -

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contr the statute in such

case made and provided. < A

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

countvor K.
STAIE_ VS,

: ()20 SETRL T
AKA:

Race: 8x:

DOB:

Address!
City, State, Zip
DL#

SID#

161

IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
INDICTMENT/CASE#:
-GS- JIM - 997 ds

In disposifjon of the said jndictment comes now t Defendant who was [] CONVICTED OF or LEADS
R LS T gty Al )

in viotation of & /-5 37375 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code #

KINON-VIOLENT [] VIOLENT [] SERIOUS

g

ut Negd 5ions or Recommendation,

AW He 00 d S30
Date of Offense: ~2 -
S.C. Code §: Jg. S35 . 3.5
CDR Code #: [~ ¥ ity AT - { ©
[] CASE RESTORED
SENTENCE
ﬁ'PLEA ] TRIAL
il Oy 2
] MOST SERIOUS [] 17-25-45

¥ [4s Indicted, [] Lesser Included Offense.ﬁ Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury.

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the
far-a determinate term of

andfor to pay a fine of sgm : provided that upon the service
of §

months/years and subject te South Carolina Department of Probation, F‘arr;1|enlaI| ?Id

incorporated by reference.

deysfrmarths/years or [ under the Youth
of Ay

: plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the balancq.is suspgngled with probation for __,z__

[] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommsegdation by the State. -
Defendant Aﬁomey for Défendant

ESE{e Department of Corrections, [CJcounty Detention Center, -

ul der Act not to exceed

years
fs 'monthsfyears and/or payment

BaXion Services standard conditions of probation,

whi
%%jm.,r&cmaam or [] CONSECUTIVE lo sentence on:
h

= Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C, Code §24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by the State

Department of Corrections.

[J RESTITUTION: [J Heard, [] Waived, ] Ordered

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
PTUP

Total: _§ plus 20% fee: days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED
['set by SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.

e May serve W/E beginning E:
Recipient. R Substance Abuse Counseling L~
*Fing:  Ad JUY = Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
- §14.20808 Wy s Fine may be pd. in equal, consecuiive weekly/monthly
§14)14 - Surcts $100 §  _  pmis.of$ Beginning
§141-d1 Treharge) $100 _3 $ paid to Public Defender Fund
§56-5-29 : Rba) < $12 § Other:
§ 35.15¢F holjr ey $500 _§
§73.3, 1BHP (Caw Erifopes. Funding) 826 %
§33.7, 1B.JP-(Brog Qo .sfu;charge) $100 _%
§50-21-114(8W| Araath TestFee) $50 5 El/
§56-5-2942()) Tvehiele ssessment) $40fea _$ ‘Appointed PD or appointed other c:_:unsa!. §35.13 TP
3% to County (if paid in instaliments) $ Requires $500 be paid to Clerk,during probation.
TOTAL g

Ottad (3 (K o220
Court Reporter: G@&U%b

White - Clertk ~ Green— Corrections Canary - Probation

PRESIDING JUDGE
Judge Code:
Sentence Date:

Pink - Defendant SCCA/217 (7/2003)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT
)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )
At a Court of General Sesslons, convened on SEP 3 0 2004 . the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

POSSESSION OF CRACK COCAINE

POSSESSIUN VT LRAVH b ==

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter did in Cherokee County on or about
September 3, 2004, knowingly and intentionally possess a quantity of
Crack Cocaine, a schedule Il controlled substance, in violation of §§44-53- \7
375, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976), as amended, such
possession not having been authorized by law.

in such case

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and /contrary '\ha_stal

b

-

made and provided.

-
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) (NDICTMENT

)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

NSO SEP 3 o 2004
At a Court of Generai Sessions, convened on v . the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

POSSESSION OF CRACK COCAINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter llI, did in Cherokee County on or about January 30,
2004, intentionally possess or attempt to possess a quantity of Crack Cocaine, a
schedule Il controlled substance, as defined by §44-53-11Q, under the provisions of
§44-53-375, THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1978), as amended, such

possession not having been authorized by law.

Againét the peace and dignity of the State, and conir the statute in such

case made and provided. p

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR
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IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

INDICTMENT/CASE#:
I | - %95

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

countyor  CHALOKGZ

)
)
STAT, VS g
;ﬁ.ongo IETAR. 1T ) TAWHE kSt Uin ¥
AKA: )  Date of Offense: T QC,L
Race: )  8.C.Code §: gzq' -53 - 57 :‘«;
DOB: ) CDR Code #: { ! o
Address; ) O CA E RESTORED
City, State, Zip v, ) SENTENCE
DL# SID# ) PIEA [JTRAL
ln d;s osl on of id indictment comes gow the Defendant who was [_| CONVICTED OF or [MPLEADS
PO e B B o el e
in wo]atlon of § 53 -3 75 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CORCode #__ O+ | + © ; ©
[ NON-VIOLENT [ VIOLENT [] SERIOUS [] MOST SERIOUS [ 17-25-45
The charge Indicteds [] Lesser Included Offense, E Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury,

The pl ' out N tiatians or Recommendation, [_] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommgfdation by the Staje.
A :

7 Solicitor Defendant Attamey for Defefidant

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the tate Department of Corrections, [_JCounty Detention Center,

for a determinate term of dayshnmomtyears or [] under the Youthful OFf rActnottoexceed _____ years

andfor to pay a fine of 3502 : provided that upon the service of yslmon sfyears and/or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the béﬁRSﬁUﬁenged with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole ardon Services standard conditions of probation,

?éhi}u are incorporated by reference.
CURRENT or [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
he Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code §24-13-40 fo be calculated and applied by the State

Department of Camrections,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[J RESTITUTION: [] Heard, [] Waived, [] Ordered PTUP
Total: _§ plus 20% fee: 3 days/hours Public Service Empioyment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED
[] set by SCDPPPS ] Attend Voo, Rehahb, or Job Corp.

May serve W/E beginning

Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling el
*Fine: 5 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
§14-1-208 (Assessments 107.5%) 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/menthly
§14-1-211(A)(1} {Conv. Surcharge) $100 _§ pmts. of $ beginning
§14-1-211{A){2) (DUl Surcharge) $100 _$ $ paid to Pubiic Defender Fund
§56-5-29885 (DU] Assessment) $12 % Other:
§ 35,13 (Public Def/Prab) $500 §
§73.3, 1B TP {Law Enforce. Funding) $25 %

§33.7, 1B TP (Drug Court Surcharga) $100 “§

§50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea [1 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, §35.13 TP
3% to County (if paid in instaliments) Requires $500 be paid to Clerk dugng probation.

~—TOTA
Q\}LCV\D L) ﬂb QD,QQ) PRESIDING JUDGE

W puty Clerk Judge Code:
Court Reporter: LMD Sentence Date:

White —Cletk  Green - Corrections Canary — Probation Pink — Defendant SCCA/217 (7/2003)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROCLINA ) INDICTMENT
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE.) '
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on SEP 3 0 2004 , the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath;

POSSESSION OF CRACK COCAINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter did in Cherokee County on or abbut
September 3, 2004, knowingly and intentionally possess a quantity of
Crack Cocaine, a schedule [l controlled substance, in violation of §§44-53-
375, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976), as amended, such
possession not having been authorized by law.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and /contrary {to [the statut® in such case
made and provided. : // ] -
A i

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR
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\]

STATE OF SOUTH CARQLINA

countyor - CHAIHGE

IN THE COURY OF GENERAL SESSIONS

DC{ _GS.iNDICHAENTICA_SE#? 9 2 é

)
)
)
STAT;? V8. )
LaplZo  SETRL Zm )y AWE H- a0l 30
AKA: )  Date of Offense: 9 5.
Race: }  S.C.Code§: 99-53-325
DOB: ) CDR Code #: [ [ o /| &
Address: ) "] CASE RESTORED
City, State, Zip ) SENTENCE
DL# SID# ) JB‘PLEA I TRIAL -
In disposifion of the said indictment comes now the, Defandant who was ] CONVICTED OF or LEADS
TO: P o S5 Si-»J _}E—‘ =
in violation of § 2;!].33,375 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDRCode#__ & 4 | | © ; ©
KINON-VIOLENT ] VIOLENT [ serious [ MOST SERIOUS [ 17-25-45
The charge is¢ | _1As Indicted, [ ] Lesser Inciuded Offense.“g Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury.
B i dut Negbifations or Recommendation, { ] Negatiated Sentence, {| Recom dation by the State.
f «

BRAAS

3 ; Defendant

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the E’ﬁa't‘e Department of Corrections, [ ]County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of 2 deaystmorthsiyears or [[] under the Youthful Offepder Act not to exceed years

and/or to pay a fine of $,2;“_0W ; provided that upon the service ofﬁ"‘_"d s/mo‘r?gslyears and/or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as ‘applicable®; the balancp\is susp%:ged with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carclina Department of Probation, Paroﬁe'%’rd a?&‘tﬁSeNices standard conditions of probation,

Véh@.are incorporated by reference.
C

@/%JNCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on; -
e Defendant is to be given credit for ime served pursuant to 5.C. Code §24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by the State

Department of Corrections.

Solicitor Attomey for Défendant

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
(J RESTITUTION: [ Heard, [] Waived, [] Ordered PTUP
Total: _§ plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED
[]'set by SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.

May serve W/E beginning

Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling L
*Fina: ’ $ Random Drug/Alcohol Testing et
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekiy/manthly
§14-1-211{A}(1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 § pmts. of § beginning
§14-1-211{(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 _§ $ paid to Public Defender Fund
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 '8 Other:
§ 35.13 (Public Def/Prob) $500 §
§73.3, 1B TP {Law Enforce, Funding) $25 3
§33.7, 1B TP {Drug Court Surcharge) $100 3
§50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 “§
§56-5-2942(J} (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea % mmted PD or appaointed other counsel, §35.13 TP .
3% to County (If paid in instaltments) $ Requires $500 be paid to Cleik,during probation,

TOTAL

> )
&/LMI’&—I \I (\{FM PRESIDING JUDGE

Cte@%é&ﬁéh’%k Judge Cede:
Court Reporter: { . ) u) Sentence Date:

White - Clerk  Green —Corrections Canary — Prabation Pink — Defendant SCCA/217 (7/2003)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )  INTHE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )  SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
)
Alonzo Columbus Jeter IIT, #282902, ) 2016-CP-11-0293
)
Applicant, )
)
V. )
) ORDER OF DISMIS%‘\‘L = .
) = - n
State of South Carolina, ) ?Ci. «E B
) ey
Respondent. ) & -
) g >
< =

This matter comes before the Court by way of a post-conviction relief (Pg’i{) ap_b;licati n

filed on April 28, 2016, Respondent submitted its Return on November 15, 2016. An evidentiary

Applicant was

present at the hearing and was represented by Steven D. Epps, Esquire, Respondent was

represented by Assistant Attorney General Julie A. Coleman of the South Carolina Attorney
General's Office.

Applicant testified on his own behalf at the evidentiary hearing. Applicant’s plea counsel,
Christopher Kennedy, Esquire (“Plea Counsel”) also testified. The Court had before it a copy of
the guilty plea transcript, the records of the Cherokee County Clerk of Court regarding the
subject convictions, Applicant’s records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, and
the pleadings.

Following the evidentiary hearing, | ito
submit additional records from the Cherokee County Clerk of Court. Applicant objected to the
motion, the Spartanburg County Courthouse, At the
hearing, this Court granted the motion and took judicial notice that Applicant had two prior

convictions for possession of crack (2004-GS-11-925 and -926). The additional documentation

TP




;:f these convictions were added to the record before the Court and considered in making the
findings below. The Court finds as follows:
L PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The records before this Court indicate that Applicant is presently confined in the South
Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for
Cherokee ‘County. Applicant was charged with two counts of distn'butidh of methamphetamine,
third or subsequent offense (2015-GS-11-0461 and -0463), two counts of distribution of
methamphetamine within one-half mile of a park or school (2015-GS-]j1-0462 and -0464), and
one count of trafficking in methamphetamine 10-28 grams, third offense (2015-GS-11-0465).
Applicant was represented by Christopher Kennedy, Esquire. On July 16, 2015, Applicant
waived presentment to the grand jury on all charges and pleaded guilty to the lesser included
offenses of two counts of distribution of methamphetamine, second offense, and trafficking in
methamphetamine 10-28 grams, second offense. Pursuant to a negotiated recommendation of 15
years and concurrent sentencing, the Honorable Lee S. Alford sentenced Applicant to
imprisonment for concurrent terms of 15 years for each count of distribution of
methamphetamine and trafficking in methamphetamine, and 10 years for each count of
distribution of methamphetamine within one-half mile of school.! Applicant did not appeal his
guilty plea or sentence.

II. ALLEGATIONS
In his current application, Applicant alleges that he is being held in custody unlawfully

based on the following allegations:

! Applicant was also charged with possession of an ounce or less of marijuana (2014-GS-11-
591), second offense, and pleaded gnilty to that charge in the same proceeding. Judge Alford
sentenced him to time-gerved. Applicant does not challenge that conviction in his application.

lp? 2

Page 2 0f 15
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1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, in that:

a. “Counsel failed to investigate and request continuance, , , . A
continnance would have given counsel more time to
investigate, prepare for mitigation and bargaining, as well as
time to discover the applicant's state of mind and needs."

b. “Counsel failed to challenge insufficient indictments.

¢. “Counsel failed to present nor allow me to present mitigating
evidence and factors at opportunity

d. “Counsel failed to obtain the original plea offer of seven (7)
years.

e. “Counsel failed to inform me of my right to appeal and make
sure ] understood what it was and how to do it.”

f. “Charges were erroneously enhanced — Prior marijuana
conviction should not have been used {0 enhance my charges.
It also had been 11 years since my first conviction and
therefore should not have been used to enhance.”

2. Due Process Violation
a. “My constitutional rights of due process under the Fourteenth
Amendment, and applicable case law, was violated as counsel
failed to request a competency hearing.”

i. Absent counsel's errors there is a reasonable probability
that the evidence would have been reweighed and thus
it would have been concluded that the balance of
agpgravating and mitigating circumstances did not
warrant such harsh sentencing and punishment,

ii. Applicant also had the right to be competent when
entering a puilty plea and a complete picture of the
Applicant's mental condition would have established
that the Applicant was suffering from a mental or
emotional disturbance both at the time the crimes were
committed and at the time of entering a plea of guilty.

iii, Due process prohibits this conviction therefore the
conviction is illegal,

3. Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction
a. “The court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to accept my
guilty pleas.” '

III. APPLICABLE LAW

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant bears the burden of proving the
allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the

application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must



prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process

that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. 668, (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the ’attomey provided representation
within the range of competence required in ériminal cases. The courts presume that counsel
rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment, Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. Applicant must overcome this presumption in
order to receive relief, Cherry v, State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allepations of ir}eﬁ‘ective assistance of
counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was
deficient. ]Jd. Under this prong, courts measure an attorney's perfonnanc[c by its "reasonableness
under prevailing professional norms.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any
. deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have
been different.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty pleas, the Applicant must
show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for couﬁsel's alleged errors, he would not
have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart , 474 U.S. 52, 106
S.Ct. 366 (1985). | |

V. SUMMARY OF RELEVANT TESTIMONY

Applicant testified that the prior convictions the Solicitor relied upon in charging him
with a third offense in trafficking cocaine were incorrect and his convictions could not properly
be used to enhance his sentence. He testified that he was charged with a third offense of

trafficking, but he pled guilty to the lesser included offense of trafficking, second offense. He
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testified that he pled guilty to possession with intent to distribute within a half-mile of a park or
school, but he later found out that the park he was near was a church playground, not a public
park, and this charge was impropér. He stated that he did not mention the fact that it was a
church playground to Plea Counsel,

Applicant testified that he knew that he did not have any hard drug convictioné from after
2004, but could not think straight enough to tell Plea Counsel. He stated that Plea Counsel did
not discuss the defense of entrapment with him, but he knows that if he had gone to trial on his
charges and argued entrapment, he would have been acquitted. He stated that the separate
charges he picked up in April and May following this charge were dismissed after he pled guilty
to these offenses in exchange for his guilty plea. He testified that he was not taking his
medication during the guilty plea. He stated that Plea Counsel had mitigation materials about
how Applicant had tried to find work but was turned down for multiple jobs, and Plea Counsel
should have presented them to the plea court. He stated that he wanted Plea Counsel to appeal his
guilty plea, but he never got a chance to talk to him after the plea.

Plea Counsel testified that the Solicitor’s original plea offer to Applicant was a seven
year deal, but it was contingent on him speaking to the investigators in the case, He stated that
after the Solicitor spake with the investigator, they revoked their offer and told him that they
could not offer a seven year deal. He stated that he had nothing guaranteeing him this deal in
writing, it was only on his word and it relied on the approval of the investigator, which the
investigator did not give.

Plea Counsel testified that there was nothing that made him think that Applicant’s mental
health was an issue. He stated that he never thought that Applicant did not understand what was

going on during his proceedings, and there was no basis to seek a Learing over his mental
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competency. Plea Counsel testified that, as part of his investigation, he went to the church

playground in question and verified that it was within a half-mile of where Applicant was caught
selling drugs. He testified that he had mitigation records to present, but they did not need to
present them at the guilty plea because Applicant pled to a negotiated sentence, Plea Counsel
stated that he did speak to Applicant after the guilty plea, and he also remembered Applicant’s
girlfriend calling him and speaking to him after the plea, and neither of them asked him to file an
appeal. He stated that there was no indication that Applicant wanted an appeal.

Plea Counsel testified that he does not recall discussing an entrapment defense with
Applicant, and he did not think that an entrapment defense would have been successful in this
case. Plea Counsel stated that he did not think they would win if they had gone to trial, He stated
that he did not ask for-the identity of the confidential informant because the Solicitor’s Office
practice is to withdraw any plea offers if they reveal the identity. He stated that if Applicant had
gone to trial rather than pleading guilty, the Solicitor’s Office would have tried each charge
separately, and on the third charge, he would have been convicted of trafficking third offense and
received a life sentence. He stated that he believed there was a reasonable basis for the State to
try each charge separately because there were a few days between each drug buy.

VL.  FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This Court has had the opportunity to review the record in its entirety and has heard the
testimony at the post-conviction relief hearing. This Court has further had the opportunity to
observe the witnesses presented at the hearing, closely pass upon their credibility and weigh their
testimony accordingly. Set forth below are the relevant findings of facts and conclusions of law

as required pursuant to S.C. Code Ann, §17-27-80 (1985).
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INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Applicant has asserted several allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, This Court
finds these claims to be meritless and they should be denied and dismissed with prejudice. This
Coutt finds Plea Counsel’s representation did not fall below the standards of professional norms
in any manner, He communicated properly with Applicant and reviewed all discovery materials
with him. Based on this testimony and the record before the court, this Court finds Plea
Counsel's representation was not ineffective in any regard.

Failure to investigate and request a continuance

Applicant alleges that Plea Couxisel was ineffective for failing to investigate his case and
request a continuance before his guilty plea. This allegation is meritless.

Plea Counsel credibly testified that he investigated this case as well as Applicant’s
criminal history. He stated that he drove to the church playground in question to verify that it
was within a half-mile of the location Applicant sold the drugs, He read the SLED report and
verified its information. Based on the strength of the State’s evidence against Applicant, Plea
Counsel strategically nepotiated plea deals with the State and was able to obtain a negotiated
sentence, Plea Counsel testified that there was no reason to request a continuance before the
guilty plea.

Based on this testimony, this Court finds that Plea Counsel thoroughly investigated
Applicant’s case and was not ineffective in this regard. Therefore, this ﬁllegation is denied and
dismissed with prejudice.

Failure to present mitigation
Applicant alleges that Plea Counsel was ineffective for failing to present or allow him to

present mitigating evidence and factors at the guilty plea. This Court finds that Plea Counsel was
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not deficient for choosing not to present mitigating factors because Applicant pled guilty
pursuant to plea deal for a negotiated sentence. Presenting mitigating factors would not have
changed the plea court’s sentence because it accepted a negotiated plea, and there can be no
prejudice to Applicant. Therefore, since neither prong of the Strickland test is met, this allegation
is denied and dismissed with prejudice.
Failure to obtain original sever year plea deal
Applicant alleges Plea Counsel was ineffective for. failing to obtain the original seven
year plea offer from the State. This allegation is meritless.
| Plea Counsel credibly testified that the State’s original offer of seven years was
contingent upon approval from the investigator in the case, After the Solicitor consulted with the
investigator, the investigator indicated that he wanted a much higher sentence, and the Solicitor
rightfully revoked his offer. The Solicitor never promised to Applicant or Plea Counsel in
writing or orally that he would definitely offer a seven year deal. It was through no fault of Plea

Counse!’s that this deal was not offered. Any plea offer and its terms are within the discretion of

the prosecuting Solicitor. See State v. Johnson, 287 8.C. 171, 172, 337 S.E.2d 204, 205 (1985)
(holding a solicitor has broad discretion in choosing the offenses with which a defendant will be
charged and- in plea negotiations leading up to trial). Based on this testimony presented at the
evidentiary hearing, it is clear that Plea Counsel was not ineffective in this regard, and this
allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.
Failure to inform of right to appeal

Applicant alleges Plea Counsel failed to inform him of his right to appeal his guilty plea.

At the evidentiary hearing, Plea Counsel credibly testified that his practice is always to discuss

his client’s right to appeal before the actual guilty plea. He stated he was sure he did that in this

st /
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case, and the plea judge reviewed this right with him, as well, Tral tr, 17, Il. 25. Plea Counsel
testified that there was no indication that Applicant wanted an appeal, and he spoke to both
Applicant and his girlfriend after the guilty plea and neither mentioned an appeal. He further
stated there was no factual or legal basis for an appeal of his guilty plea and there were no
objections made during the guilty plea.

This Court finds that Plea Counsel did advise Applicant of his right to appeal and that he
received no indication that an appeal needed to be filed. Therefore, Plea Counsel cannot be
deficient. This allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

Failure to challenge insufficient indictments

This Court finds that Plea Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the
indictments in this case. Applicant was properly indicted and put on notice of his charges.
Applicant waived presentment to the grand jury on all of his charges. Plea Counsel credibly
testified that he saw no basis for challenging the indictments on the grounds that the facts didn’t
support the charge on the indicted offense, and this Court agrees.

Applicant alleges that the indictments for Distribution of Methamphetamine within a
Half-Mile of a Park or School (2015-GS-11-0462 and -0464) were improper because the park
within a half-mile of the sale was a private church playground that does not fall under the statute,
S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-445 (2010). However, this Court finds that this challenge to the
classification of the park is a factual argument against the State’s evidence and not a challenge to
the sufficiency of the indictment. Any factual challenge to this offense, meaning whether the

church playground was public or private, was waived by Applicant wher he chose to plead

guilty.
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"[Tln South Carolina, a guilty plea constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and
claims of violations of constitutional rights." State v. Rice, 401 S.C. 330, 331-32, 737 S.E.2d

485, 485-86 (2013) (citing Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 44, 723 8.E.2d 375, 379 (2012)). A

guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus,
a criminal defendant’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not definitely,
foreclosed. Dalton v, State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (2007). In Jamison, the
South Carolina Supreme Court noted it would be a "rare case" where the interests of justice
require the vacation of a knowing and voluntary guilty plea involving an admission of guilt and a

waiver of trial. Jamison, 165 S.E.2d at 130.

The factual argument that the church playground is not a public park is not a defect in the
indictment, but rather it is a challenge to the sufficiency of the State’s evidence that Applicant
and Plea Counsel could have raised if Applicant had chosen to go to trial. This Court finds that
Plea Counsel was not deficient for failing to challenge this as an attack on the sufficiency of the
indictments.

Furthermore, Applican’t can prove no prejudice because he knowingly and intelligently
pled guiity to this offense and received a ten year sentence for these charges, which he is serving
concurrently to his fifteen year sentence for the other offenses. Even if these indictments had
been dismissed, Applicant would still be serving a fifteen year sentence, so there can be no
prejudice. Because Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving both prongs of the

Strickland test, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.
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Failure to challenge improper enhancements

Applicant alleges Plea Counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the improper
enhancement of his charges. This allegation is meritless.

Applicant was charged with Distribution of Methamphetamine, third offense, and
Trafficking Ice, Crank, or Crack, ten grams or more buf less than 28 grams, third offense, After
plea negotiations with the State, Applicant pled guilty to distribution, second offense, and
trafficking, second offense; the State allowed him to plea to a lower offense in exchange for his
guilty plea. Applicant now alleges in his PCR action that he never had the proper prior
convictions to allow the State to enhance his charge to third offense. He argued to the Court that
his prior trafficking conviction was just outside of the ten year scope of offenses allowed and
should not have been used to enhance his charge. He further argued that the other prior
conviction used for enhancement purposes was a marijuana conviction, which under the law
cannot be used for enhancement purposes in this case.

At the evidentiary hearing, Applicant testified that he 'did not tell Plea Counsel about the
problezﬁs with his enhancement because he assumed they were correct. Plea Counsel testified
that he discussed Applicant’s prior convictions with him and the effect that they would have on
his sentencing if convicted at trial. He stated that Applicant was subject to a potential sentence of
Life Without Parole if convicted based on his prior record. Plea Counsel testified that his strategy
was to negotiate a plea deal with the State to allow Applicant to plea to a lesser sentence,
because he believed that the State could reasonably convict Applicant on all three separate drug
buys, which would definitely be three strikes against him, resulting in a life sentence, He stated

that there was video evidence of Applicant selling drugs, and the evidence was strong enough
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that Applicant likely would not prevail at trial, Because of this, Plea Counsel believed a plea deal
was in Applicant’s best interest, regardless of what his prior convictions were,

Based on Plea Counsel’s credible testimony of the strategy behind his negotiations, this
Court finds that Plea Counsel was not deficient in failing to challenge Applicant’s charges.

Most importantly, this Court further finds that Applicant’was not prejudiced by Plea
Counsel’s failure to challenge the charges against him because Applicant did have the proper
prior convictions to enhance his charge to a second offense. Applicant pled guilty on October 12,
2004, to two separate counfs of possession of crack, There is no question that these were separate
and distinct convictions because the drug buys were on two different dates several months apart,
and they resulted in two convictions with two concurrent sentences and sentencing sheets.

South Carolina law provides that an offense under the relevant statute is considered a
second or subsequent offense if “the offender has at any time been convicted of a second or
subsequent violation of a controlled substance offense provision” other than marijuana. S.C.
Code Ann. § 44-53-470(A)(4) (emphasis added). Neither 2004 conviction was a marijuana
conviction. Therefore, one of the 2004 convictions is a “second or subsequent” conviction under
the law, and can be properly used to enhance Applicant’s 2015 charges, even if they were more
than ten years before the current guilty plea.

Although it appears from the guilty plea transcript that the Solicitor used the wrong
charge to enhance the conviction (See Tr. 21:11-12, where the Solicitor cites a 2013 possession
of a controlled substance conviction that was actually marijuana and unable to be used to
enhance under the statute), there is no prejudice because Applicant did have prior convictions to
properly enhance his charges to at least a second offense. Applicant pled guilty to trafficking,

second offense, and thus his conviction was proper and should not be overturned,

Page 12 of 15 / ﬂ/?g/

185



186

Because Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving either pfong of the Strickland
test, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

DUE PROCESS

Applicant alleges that he was denied due process of law. Applicant's allegation claims
infringement of his rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution
based on Plea Counsel’s failure to request a mental competency hearing. This allegation is
meritless.

The testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing and the record of the guilty plea
indicate that Plea Counsel was not deficient in choosing not to challenge Applicant’s mental
competency. Plea Counsel credibly testified that he believed Applicant always understood what
was going on and show no indications of mental issues. He testified that he saw no reason to
request an evaluation or challenge his guilty plea based on a lack of competency. This Court
finds that Plea Counsel was not deficient in this regard.

Secondly, Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice because he has
not proven that he actually lack mental competency. The South Carolina Supreme Court “has
repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise
offer the testimony in accordance with tﬁe rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to
establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial." Bannister v. State, 333 5.C. 298,
303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). "The applicant's mere speculation what the witnesses'
testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing
prejudice.” Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995). Applicant did not

present any testimony from a mental evaluator or introduced any mental health records or



evaluation reports proving that he was incompetent, Therefore, as a matter of law, he cannot
prove prejudice,

Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving any due pfocess violation, and this
allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

Aﬁplicant alleges the court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over his charges. An
Applicant may challenge the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court and such a claim is one
that may be raised at any time. See Brown v. State, 343 S.C. 342, 540 S.E.2d 846 (2001),
overruled in part by Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 FS.E.2d 494 (2005). However, “[c]ircuit courts

obviously have subject matter jurisdiction to try criminal matters.” Gentry, 363 S.C. 93; See alsg

S.C. Const. Art. V, § 7. Thus, Applicant must present evidence that his case is of some class
over which the circuit court does not have the authority to preside. 'Applicant’s conviction
involved a criminal charge in General Sessions Couﬁ. Thus, the circuit cc;urt had 'subject matter
jurisdiction. Applicant has failed to present any evidence that the convictions he challenges in
this application are in a class over which the circuit court does not have the authority to provide.
Furthermore, to any extent that Applicant is challenging subject matter jurisdiction based
on what he alleges were faulty indictments, Applicant waived his right to challenge the
indictments by waiving presentment to the grand jury and pleading guilty. “When a defendant
timely objects to the sufficiency of the indictment, before the jury is sworn, a ruling that an
indictment is not sufficient will result in the quashing of the indictment unless the defendant

waives presentment to the grand jury and pleads guilty, State v. Means, 367 8.C. 374, 385,

626 S.E.2d 348, 354 (2006) (citing Cutner v. State, 354 S.C, 151, 155, 580 S.E.2d 120, 122-23
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(2003), overruled on other grounds, Gﬁl_tl_’}j, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494) (emphasis added).
Therefore, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.
VII. CONCLUSION

Based on all the foregoing, this Court finds and concludes that Applicant has not
established any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require this court to grant his
application, Therefore, this application for post-conviction relief must be denied and dismissed
with prejudice,

This Court notes that Applicant must file and serve a notice of appeal within thirty days

from the receipt by counsel of written notice of entry of judgment to secure the appropriate

appellate review., See Rule 203, SCACR. Pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453 (1991), an
Applicant has a right to an appellate counsel’s assistance in seeking review of the denial of post-
conviction relief. Rule 71.1(g), SCRCP, provides that if the applicant wishes to seek appellate
review, post-conviction relief counsel must serve and file a Notice of Appeal on the Applicant’s
behalf. Applicant is directed to Scuth Carolina Appellate Court Rule 243 for appropriate
procedures for appeal.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED:

1. That the application for Post-Conviction Relief is denied and
dismissed with prejudice; and

2. That Applicant must be remanded to the custody of the Respondent.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED this%y of {7t _%017.

j
- ~——,
ROBIN B. STILWELL
Presiding Judge
Seventh Judicial Circuit

Mﬁﬂ/f re.¢S, South Carolina
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| /%/Qf\i/c—s;a&/7 | Alonzo C Jeter II

‘Perry Correctional Institution
Q1-B-215/#282902

430 Oaklawn Road

Pelzer, SC 29669

-..-Steven-D:-Epps;-Esquire--
Epps Law Firm, LLLC
104-A Franklin Ave.
Spartanburg, SC 29301

RE: Alonzo C Jeter v State (PCR)
~ 2016-CP-11-0293 (Cherokee County)

" Dear Mr. Epps:

T am writing to you today in regards of my Post Conviction Relief (PCR) hearing

- which was held on March 20, 2017. T have received your letter and I would like for you

to file a motion for reconsideration on the issues in which The Honorable Judge Stillwell -
has denied my PCR once you have received the PCR Court’s Order. '

I also ask that you file a Rule ‘59(e) Motion in the event that the PCR Court fails to make
specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding any issues that I have raised.
The issues that I raised were: :

‘1) Improperly Enhanced Charges
(a) State used a prior first offense drug conviction from 2004 which was not supposed
to be used as an enhancer due to the charge being over 10 years old. This was an error.

~(b) My prior marijuana conviction from 8/15/2013 was used as an enhancer to my
charges. This was an error.

2) Proximity — I should not have been charged with proximity to a church.

" 3) Mental Health Competency / Duress — I wasn’t receiving my mentai health
medications while being housed at the Cherokee County Detention Center (Jail) prior to
my plea. I was being assaulted by the officers at the jail. I wasn 't able to a331st my
attorney (Mr. Kennedy) in my case.

4) Number of Controlled Buys — There were two controlled buys and not three. I also
dispute the weight of the buys.

5) Failed to file an appeal' or make sure that I knew how to invoke the appeal process
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- 6) Failure to Investigate

7) Subject Matter Jurisdiction

8) Motion for Discovery — The PCR Court’s Order should also address that this motion

was made and denied by The Honorable Judge Stlllwell and the Order should spemﬁcally -
- -address-and list-specific dlscovery motloned for. T

Mr. Epps, it is incumbent upon you that you file this Rule 59(e) Motion on my behalf
if these issues are not addressed and the PCR Court’s Order fails to make specific
findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding any issues that T have raised.

Lastly, please provide meé'with the following:
1) A copy of the filed Motion for Reconsideration
2)A cbpy'of the PCR Court’s Order as soon as you have obtained it

3) A copy of the filed Rule 59(e) Motion

4) A copy of the Amendments to my PCR application that you filed (or should have filed)

Thanks for your time, attention, and all that you do. |

Sincerely, M

Alonzo C Jeter



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA y IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
) SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE ) CASE NO.: 2016-CP-11-0293

Alonzo Columbus Jeter, I1], #282902

Applicant / Petitioner, PETITIONER'S NOTICE AND MOTION

FOR RECONSIDERATION
V.

State of South Carolina,
Respondent.

Nt St st Nl Nt ot vt

To: The Honorable Alan Wilson, Attorney General for the State of South Carolina and
Assistant Attarney General Julie Coleman, Esquires:

Please take note that the Petitioner, within 10 days or as soon as may be heard,

pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP, will move before the Court requesting it reconsider its final
order in this matter for the following reasons:

1. Improperly Enhanced Charges -

a)

During its presentation of the evidence during the original plea, the State
used improper charges, references, and convictions to support the alleged proper

“3¢ offense” original charges and the alleged “reduced” “2™ offense” charges
which were part of the recommended plea which was taken.
" b) The State used a prior drug conviction from 2004 which was not supposed

to be used as an enhancer due to the charge being over 10 years old and not being
second/subsequent charge(s).

c) The State improperly used a prior marijuana conviction from 8/15/2013 as
an enhancer to Petitioner's charges.
d) Plea counsel failed to properly investigate or object to the above and as a

result, Petitioner followed his counsel’s advice, to his detriment and prejudice, and

pleaded guilty to the recommended charges with an improper background to fqﬁ%
their basis.
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Proximity — Plea Counsel should have moved to have Petitioner's proximity drug
charges dismissed as the church was an improper reference which did not give
rise to that charge. As a result, Petitioner followed his counsel's advice, to his
detriment and prejudice, and pleaded guilty to two (2) separate PWID charges
which are classified as “"Seriocus” crimes.

Mental Health Competency — Petitioner did not receive his mental health
medications while being housed at the Cherokee County Detention Center and
was being assaulted there. This prevented him from being able to assist plea
counsel.

Number of Controlled Buys — Petitioner disputed the number of drug buys in that
there were two buys and not three. Plea Counsel did not properly investigate this
or any other aspect of this case. As a result, Petitioner followed his counsel's
advice, to his detriment and prejudice, and pleaded guilty to a trafficking charge
which is classified as a “Violent” and “Serious” crime.

Plea Counsel failed to file an appeal or make sure that Petitioner knew how fo
appeal his case.

Subject Matter Jurisdiction — The charging indictments were defective such that
the Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the Petitioner on these
charges.

Motion for Discovery — Petitioner properly filed a Motion for Discovery on March
10, 2017. This Court should have granted this Motion to allow Petitioner the
opportunity to fully present his issues before this Court.

Petitioner was additionally prejudiced in that plea counsel's failure to properly
investigate this matter and properly represent Petitioner led plea counsel to
recommend to Petitioner to accept the State’s recommended sentence as it was a



“lesser included plea” but, as a recommended plea, did not provide for the ability
to present mitigation. If plea counsel properly represented Petitioner, Petitioner
would have faced 2" offense charges, rather than 3%, and would have had the

opportunity to present mitigating circumstances during his plea.

Therefore, Petitioner requests this Court reconsider its ruling for the above reasons.

Respectiully submitted,

104-A Franklin leiue, # 281
Spartanburg, SC 28301

(864) 590-4848 Telephone
Spartanburg, South Carolina steven@eppslawfirm.com
August 8, 2017 ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
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202 STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

St

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEA

COUNTY OF CHEROKEE ) SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
YCASE NO:. 2016-CP~11-0293
Alonzo Columbus Jeter, ilI, #282902 ) MOTION FOR A NEW
APPLICANT/PETITIONER ) POST-CONVICTION RELIEF HEARING
) PURSUANT TO RULE 55(a)(2) SCRCP
v }
State of South Carolina )
RESPONDENT - )

NOW COMES the Applicant asking that this Court would grant him a new post-conviction
hearing. The Applicant would not that a Motion for Discovery was filed on March 10, 2017 prior
to his post-conviction hearing by and through his then court-appointed counsel, Steven D. Epps,
Esquire. The Applicant’s Mation for Discovery was denied on March 20,2017 by the Honorable
Judge Stilwell whom also presided over the Applicant’s post-conviction hearing which was held
on the same day. This denial of discovery effectively paralyzed and prevented the Applicant
from the ability to present the sought Discovery as exhibits and evidence which would have
given the Court a much clearer picture as to the Applicant’s issues, grounds, and facts for post-
conviction relief. The Applicant contends that although he did receive a “bite at the apple” , he
received an unfajr “bite”. The Applicant seeks Order for a New Post-Conviction Hearing.

.Respectfully Submitted,
Alonzo C Jeter, Il
PETITIONER

" 430 OaklawnRoad
Pelzer, SC 29669

Pelzer, South Carolina

““g., 7 , 2017

gt
@ &
pre) — P
> i
T = T
o Gy InAi
< PR Pt
— 0
= < 375
com
T P =35
for} =8
(o] i =<
PG
SR



203
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEA

COUNTY OF CHEROKEE ) SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
JCASE NO:. 2016-CP-11-0293

Alonzo Columbus Jeter, Ill, #282902 MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF

)
APPLICANT/PETITICNER ) MOTION FOR A NEW
) POST-CONVICTION HEARING
v ) PURSUANT TO RULE 59{a){2)
State of South Carolina )
RESPONDENT )
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Applicant provided an informant for the Cherokee County Narcotics Division with a quantity of
methamphetamine between the dates of January 12, 2017 and January 15, 2017. The Appellant

was arrested on March 31, 2017 and was charged with the offenses of trafficking in ice, crank,

or crack between ten and twenty-eight grams 3™ offense, two counts of distribution of
methamphetamine 3™ offense, and two counts of distribution of methamphetamine within a '
half mile of a school or park.

Applicant had-a prior conviction for 1 offense possession of crack on his record which he was
convicted of on October 12, 2004. Applicant also had a 2™ offense possession of marijuana on
his record in which he was convicted of on August 15, 2013. All of the Applicant’s current
charges were enhanced to 3! offenses based on these prior convictions.

A plea offer was extended to the Applicant through his attarney Christopher Kennedy. This
negotiated plea agreement would be that the Applicant would entera plea of guilty to lesser
included offenses of these charges, The lesser included offenses and negotiation would be to
plea guilty to the offenses of trafficking in ice, crank, or crack between ten and twenty-eight
grams 2™ offense, two counts of distribution of methamphetamine 2nd offense, and two
counts of distribution of methamphetamine within a half mile of a school or park and the

Applicant would receive a negotiated term of imprisonment of 15 years concurrent sentencing
on all of the charges. .

On July 16, 2015 the Applicant appeared before the Honorable Lee S. Alford. The Applicant
waived presentment to the grand jury and entered a plea of guilty and was sentenced 2 15 year
concurrent sentence on the offense of trafficking in ice, crank, or crack between ten and
twenty-eight grams 2™ offense, 15 year concurrent sentences on the two counts of distribution
of methamphetamine Znd offense, and 10 year concurrent sentences on the two counts of
distribution of methamphetamine within a half mile of a school or park in accordance with the

negotiated plea agreement. No appeal was filed on the Applicant’s behalf. o = 2 63
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IfW’M /Eé/ i Yo fvé’l»w7 G905 an Jq/ Alonzo C Jeter 11

fézﬂé‘p Perry Correctional Institution
Q1-B-215/#282902
430 Qaklawn Road
Pelzer, SC 29669

Steven D. Epps, Esquire
Epps Law Firm, LLC w =
104-A Franklin Ave. § =
Spartanburg, SC 29301 = g:;
- ]
z= -
RE: Alonzo C Jeter v State (PCR) *
2016-CP-11-0293 (Cherokee County) S =
rl""'.‘} M
B

Dear Mr. Epps:

[ am writing to you today in regards of my Post Conviction Relief (PCR) hearing
which was held on March 20, 2017. T have received your letter and I would like for you

to file a motion for reconsideration on the issues in which The Honorable Judge Stillwell

has denied my PCR. once you have received the PCR Court’s Order, Also, please

£ile e Rule SUR) Metioq for a flew) PLR Heariag due fo deotaf of Dlscavery:
I also ask that you file a Rule 59(e) Motion in the event that the PCR Court fails to make
specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding any issues that [ have raised.
The issues that I raised were:

1) Improperly Enhanced Charges
(a) State used a prior first offense drug conviction from 2004 which was not supposed
to be used as an enhancer due to the charge being over 10 years old. This was an error.

(b) My prior marijuana conviction from 8/15/2013 was used as an enhancer to my
charges. This was an error.

2) Proximity — I should not have been charged with proximity to a chucch.

3) Mental Health Competency / Duress — [ wasn't recetving my mental health
medications while being housed at the Cherokee County Detention Center (Jail) prior to
my plea. | was being assaulted by the officers at the jail. [ wasn’t able to assist my
attorney (Mr. Kennedy) in my case. :

4) Number of Controlled Buys — There were two controlled buys and not three. [ also
dispute the weight of the buys.

5) Failed to file an appeal or make sure that [ knew how to invoke the appeal process
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6) Failure to Investigate

7) Subject Matter Jurisdiction

8) Motion for Discovery — The PCR Court’s Order should also address that this motion
was made and denied by The Honorable Judge Stillwell and the Order should spectfically
address and list specific discovery motioned for. '

Mr. Epps, it is incumbent upon you that you file this Rule 59(e) Motion on my behalf
if these issues are not addressed and the PCR Court’s Order fails to make specific
findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding any issues that [ have raised.

Lastly, please provide me with the following:

1) A copy of the filed Motion for Reconsideration

2) A copy of the PCR Court’s Order as soon as you have obtained it

3) A copy of the filed Rule 59(e) Motion +o A Her/Amend Judgement

4) A copy of the Amendments to my PCR application that you filed (or should have filed)

5)ﬂ'w‘,oy of the Rule ST (3) nrotron 'iCOP a e FCR /765:,/‘5/73 that I arm
requesting thal you filfe..

Thanks for your time, attention, and all that you do.

Sincerely, M

Alonzo C Jeter
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COWNTrYy OF CHEROKELS

COURT OF COMMEn PLeas
CASE.. 3016 -CP-I{-OR73

Rlonwo o, .:J;,Lp//- T 2
APPLECANT, 5
D
:V‘ 3
Stete of Sl (s lwa, 3
REsPopocnt 7

[

389K A AONY Y

40 331440 M AT

Z b o L= 90V LIt
1HN0D 40 Y¥3TD

"O'SCALRNOD i ksl

T, Alereo ¢, veter Z 428290 &y ’

4 M
Z have served! Hhe e seCactorts st ered, Cdfy‘fyg/ A

Vo,
SWORN dad Sufiscrffe ) bEfore me Y Celedivgs £ oy
Yl g,c,iamL,.;wm 730 @’;‘{’%A/ﬂo,;ﬂ{ e

thss 0
Notary w Bleerysc %49
Expreess [~ 934 21723 —Jaﬁf—;—sg




207

Alonzo o Jeter IT
Rorry Cortectitnml Ty p;,

A, R1I-B-215 52829,
[ 2 430 CAR 1 RO
4“9“ Z/ % Pﬁ/g&;_;c R96E
%%ﬂomé/a 5/’4«7«:4, ly? Y e
/:3"46; dﬁd/’é o &9&-7/? C,@C/"f"
losi-O.47 evee g S
Q’/@zl‘;‘:/l/f&/‘fc ‘29'3?/9\
RE: S 4, “E90 7ot £5% (D s,
Ow:/%\w
F /%e,ﬁap/ 2 .
O%e ors - M:i/;’/";%/dﬂd SEH- "za@‘/ft_fka/jw&a/ Evelope.
. e
ftter,;, 4”7%0{:,0/ P “C P Yl 5 70 7708560 vz
fe/q Ay, p J%Waqo//%pd , e 5 )
Se/h’k%» eforéy’zco’o/ A s D ease
070/_/76 Vs’ ' J?'%C’. Coq o4 :%Q/ "’51% &
’JC/Q = (P4 n
27 5& %/0 E‘/d;/’/ é way
T4
A yo 7o, Sour
/7‘4217(_"@ / < /r
S }OC&E//‘// ’-'-f/’?véé-f:
orzo Tt . @
s B ik
= 4 asc
> =82
2 2 X7
B op s



WOCHT IV -
140250 gpy
Uaargsg

ZESE o5 o
I\u.\\v

Qw )&aﬁ\\w :

2
B0
PoLEST.

68962 3000 01z WOYd asTiviy

LL0Z b0 oy Liv6£80800 ;
0187200 ¢ dt e
SsInon g L L —




209

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE ) SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
)
Alonzo Columbus Jeter, I1I, #282902, )
) ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR
Applicant, ) RECONSIDERATION
) "PURSUANT TO RULE 59, SCRP
Vs. )
)
State of South Carolina, )
' )
Respondent. ) C. A. No.: 2016-CP-11-0293
)

This matter comes before the Court pursuant to the Applicant's Motion for Reconsideration
* of the Court’s Final Order, pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

After having had the opportunity to carefully review the Motion, this Court respectfully denies the

same.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED.

ROBIN B. STILWELL ——————

. P 5T

August Z %;2017
Greenville,' S

outh Caroli_na
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: FORM 4 4
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA JUDGMENTINA VIL CASE .
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE .
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS CASE NO. 2016-CP-11-293
- Alonzo Columbus Jeter, III, #282902 State of South Carolina
PLAINTIFF(S) ~ "DEFENDANT(S) .
Attorney for : [ {Plaintiff ~ [] Defendant
or

Submitted by:

(] Self-Represented Litigant

DISPOSITION TYPE (CHECK ONE)

lHﬂOfJ 40 ‘;!‘:13'1
40 331440 K G4

O JURY VERDICT. This action came before the court fora tnal by jury. The i issues
have been tried and a verdict rendered.
X DECISION BY THE COURT. This action came to trial or hearing before theiggurt. ¢4 2
The issues have been tiied or heard and a decision rendered. [_] See Page 2 for additional rmatg,
OO ACTION DISMISSED (CHECK REASON): "] Rule 12(b), SCRCP; [ ] Rule ﬂ(a), = %
SCRCP (Vol. Nonsuit); [ ] Rule 43(k), SCRCP (Settled); [ ] Other o 3
O ACTION STRICKEN (CHECK REASON): [[] Rule 40(), SCRCP; [] Bankr@ o o
[[] Binding arbitration, subject to right to restore to confirm, vacate or modify =X =]
arbitration award; [7] Other - (-3 > —ZA
[0  STAYED DUE TO BANKRUPTCY S :
m
1 DISPOSITION OF APPEAL TO THE CIRCUIT COURT (CHECK APPLICA Mw 0X):0

[] Affirmed; [[] Reversed; [] Remanded; [ Other
NOTE: ATTORNEYS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING .LOWER COQOURT, TRIBUNAL, OR
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE CIRCUIT COURT RULING IN THIS APPEAL.
IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: ] See attached order (formal order to follow) [| Statement of Judgment
by the Court:
ORDER INFORMATION
This order [3"ends [] does not end the case.
Additional Information for the Clerk :

INFORMATION FOR THE JUDGMENT INDEX
Complete this section below when the judgment affects title to real or personal property or if any amount
should be enrolled. If there is no judgment information, indicate “N/A” in one of the boxes below.

Judgment in Favor of Judgment Against Judgment Amount To be Enrolled
(List name(s) below)- (List name(s) below) (List amount(s) below)
N/A b
$
$

-1f applicable, describe the property, including tax map information and address, referenced in the order:

The judgment.information above has been provided by the submitting party, Disputes concerning the amounts contained in this
form may be addressed by way of motion pursuant to the SC Rules of Civil Procedure. Amounts to be computed such as interest
or. additional taxable costs not available at the time the form and final order are submitted to the judge may be provided to the
clerk. Note: Title abstractors and researchers should refer to the official court order for judgment details.

E-Filing Note: In E-Filing counties, the Court will electronically sign this form using a separate electronic signature page.

S/ Robin B. Stilwell 2158 - _August 16, 2017

Circuit Court Judge Judge Code Date
SCRCP Form 4C (02/2017) Page 1 of 4
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For Clerk of Court Office Use Only

This judgment was entered on the 16th day of August, 2017 and a copy mailed first class or
placed in the appropriate attorney’s box on this 16th day of August, 2017 to attorneys of record or

to parties (when appearing pro se) as follows:

Steven D. Epps SC Attorney General’s Office

104-A Franklin Ave., Ste. 281 PO Box 11549

Spartanburg, SC 29301 Columbia, SC 29211-1549

ATTORNEY(S) FOR THE PLAINTIFF(S) ATTORNEY(S) FOR THE DEFENDANT(S)

¥

date as reflected on the Electronic File

Court Reporter:

E-Filing Note: In E-Filing counties, the date of Entry of Judgment is the same
Stamp and the clerk's entering of the date of judgment above is not required in those counties. The clerk will mail a copy

of the judgement to parties who are not E-Filers or who are appearing pro se. See Rule 77(d), SCRCP.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING DECISION BY THE COURT AS REFERENCED ON

. PAGE 1.
This action came to trial or hearing before the court. The issues have been tried or heard and a decision rendered.

Wy 9
X D m_m
Z = 38
il - Rx
[ g L=
=
pros -
= o SFe
= . (i‘lc‘)ﬁ;.
S Eu(_.‘
oo - «crﬁ
m = FF
1 T =
Page 2 of 4

SCRCP Form 4C (02/2017)
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The Civcuit Court of the Thirteenth FJudicial Circuit

Robin B. Stilwell

Greenviile County Courthouse
Judge

305 East North Street, Sulte 315
Greenville, SC 29601-2113
Phone: (B84) 467-8406

Fax: (864) 235-3625
rstilwelij@scoourts,org

July 24, 2017

The Honocrable Brandy W. McBee
Cherokee County Clerk of Court
Post Office Box 2289

Gaffney, SC 29342

RE: Alonzo Columbus Jeter, III, v. State of South Carolina (2016-CP-11-0293)
Dear Ms. McBee:

Enclosed herewith please find an executed Order in the above-referenced matter. Judge
Stilwell has asked that I send it to you for filing and for distribution to all interested parties.

Please let me know if you should need anything else regarding this matter.

cor
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WITNESSES

Cherokee Counly Sherlff's Office

ey

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER

2014A1110700238

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUEBILL

Forepersoh of Grand Jury
Date: F e~/

VERDICY

Foreperson of Petit Juty
Date:

44GS-11- 0090

The State of South Carofina T e
Counly of Cherokee

Barry Barnetie, Solicitor

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

JUN 28 s
TERM

THE STATE

vs.

Alonzo Columbus Jeler
P e e
Indictment for
POSSESSION OF MARIIUANA

SC Code: 44-53-370



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT
COUNTY OF CHERQKEE )
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on e, the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter, did in Cherokee County on or about April 10,
2014, possess or attempt to possess Marijuana, a schedule | controlled substance
as defined under §44-53-190 of the Code of Laws of this State of South Carolina,
under provisions of §44-53-370, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1974), as

amended, such possession not having been authorized by law,

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided.

2190
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

TY OF Cherokee
A VS. INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2014381100591

Alonzo Columbus Jeter A/W#  2014A1110100238

) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

)

)

i )
P )  DateofOffense: _4/10/2014

)

)

)

)

)

Sex: S.C.Code § :_44-53-0370(dX4)
S5% CDR Code #: _ 0182

City,swe,
DL#: 2
*CDL Yes{ ] No[ ] CMYV Yes{] No[[] Hazmat Yes[ ] No[]

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [J CONVICTEDOF or EPLEADS
TO: Drugs/Poss, of 28g (1 0z) or less of marijuana or 10g or less of hash - 2nd ar sub, offense (0-1 year &/OR 200-1,000)

in violationof § 44-53-0370(1:!)(4) of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0182 o
[X] NON-VIOLENT () VIOLENT [JSERIOUS [JMOST SERIOUS  []Mandatory GPS{CSC [1617-2545

w/minor Ist or Lewd Act)
The charge is:  [X] AsIndicted, [7]Lesser Included Offense,  [T]Defendant Walves Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initlals)
Thepleais: [ JWithout }egotiations or Recommendation, [X} Negotjated Se [0 Recommendation by the State. M
ATTEST: . 7 @ 79

. %, 7 Attorney for Defendam SCB 0*‘"’
WHEREFORH, the Defendant is commited to the [ €tate Department of Corrections, X[ County Detention Center, C\':)O

for a determinate term of’ﬁ HE ysifionths/years or  [] underthe Youthful Offender Act nottoexceed _ years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the servics of days/months/years and/or payme payment

of » plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

SENTENCE SHEET

monthslyears and subject 1o South Carolina Department of Probation, Parvls and Pardon Services standard condmons of
ion, which are incorporated by reference.
CONCURRENT or ] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
e State Department of Corrections.
[ The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violatlon of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,iransport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammuouition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[ORESTITUTION: [} Deferred [] Def. Walves Heartog ~ [JOrdered  PTUP
Total: § plus 20% fee: $ days/ours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: e e i . ObhinGED [
0O Setby SCOPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
— May serve W/(E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling O
*Fine: 3 Random Drug/Alcohol testing
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.3 %) $ Fine may be pd, in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1:211A)(D) (Conv., Surchargey <310y $ prnts, of § beginning |
14-1-211(A)(2) (DUT Surcharge) $100 $ .
g 56-5-2995 (DUT As ) sz "% s paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) 525 3 Other:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $
§ 14-1-213(Drug Court Surcharge) [3
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) 330 $
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) %Dlea $ [0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) 3 § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% to County  (if paid in instailments) $ during probation.
TOTAL

Presiding Judpe
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk W&&‘ Judge Code:
Court Repaorter: Sentence Dgls

SCCA217(03/2011)




WITNESSES

Cherokee County Sheriff's Office

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
2015A1110100230

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

Foreperson of Grand Jury
Date:
VERDICT

foreperson of Petit Jury
Date:

15e@S-11-0040!

The State of South Carolina
County of Cherokee

Bany Barneffe, Solicitor

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

MAY 1 2 2085
_JERM
THE STATE
Vs,
ALONZIO COLUMBUS JETER I
Indictment for

DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE
SC Code: 44-53-375

ﬂ
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on HAY 12008 the
Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their cath:

DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter I, did in Cherokee County on or about January
14, 2015, manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, purchase, aid, abet,
attempt or conspire to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver or purchase, or
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, dispensé, deliver, or purchase a
quantity of Methamphetamine, a schedule Il controlled substance :under
provisions Code §44-53-375, THE CODE OF LAWS OF SdWH CAROLINA, (1976), as

amended, such distribution not having been authorized by law.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided. —Wlf z

ASSISTANF SOLICITOR

~—




TE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSTIONS
UNTY OF Cherokee ;
TE Vs, ) INDICTMENT/CASEH: 3015- /1~ 00
' Alonzo Columbus Jeter III )y AW _2015A1110100230
A \ S— : , — Date of Offense: _1/14/2015
Race: ' . y SC.Code §: 44-53-0375(BX3)
DOB: : )  CDRCode#: 3200
¥ 344 ) SENTENCE SHEET

*CDL Yes{T] No[] CMV Yes(] No[] Hazmat Yes[] No[l

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [T} CONVICTEDOF or (X|PLEADS
TO: Drips/ Distribution, ete, of methamphetamine, 2nd offense (5-30.years &/OR 0-50K fine)
in violationof § 44-53-0375 (3) of the S.C. Cade of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 3199 —-
& NON-VIOLENT | (3 VIOLENT [®SERIOUS [JMOST SERIOUS [IMendatory GPS(CSC [1§17-25-45

w/minor 15t or LewdjAct)
The c.harge i [ As Indicted, E]Luser Inciuded Offense, Defendant Wmm Presentment to Grand Jury. a; (defendant's initials)
3 endation by the State. |5 ‘lm

19072

. Attorpty for Defendant SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the State Department of Corrections, [] County Detentlon Center,

for a determinate term of 4_;_ days/month [J underthe Youthful Offender Act nottoexceed years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the serviceof - days/months/years and/or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the balance is suspended with pruhaﬂon for

monthsfyears and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
bation, which are incorporated by reference.
CONCURRENT or (3 CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
The Defendant is to be given credlt for time served pursuant to 5.C. Cods § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections.
[] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-68 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or recelve a firearin or ammunition,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
(ORESTITUTION: [ Deferred [[) Def.WaivesHearing [ ]Ordered  PTUP
Total: §$ plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: ObeinGED [
[ Set by SCOPPPS Attend Voc, Rehab. or Job Corp.
May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling ~ [J

*Fine;

_ Random Drug/Alcoho! testing O
B 14-1-204 (Assessments 107.5 %)

Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly

L1 )

8 :4- 121A)(1 )) (Conv. Surchargs) C’f@) 3 pmis. of § beginning
4-1-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) 100 "% .

g 56-5-2995 (DU Assessment) $12 S $ ___ paidtoPublic Defender Fund

§ 56-1-286 (DU Breath Test) $25 S Other:

Provise 47.9 (Public DefiProb) $00 §$

§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce, Funding) 3

§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) % [

§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fes) §30 [ s

§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Asscssment) $40/ca  § {7 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,

Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) 3 & 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk

3%to County (if paid in installments) $ X3 during probation,

Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Judge Code:

Court Reporter: L -~ - Seuntence Dste V /
SCCA/217 (03/2011) ' . ‘ .
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WITNESSES

Cherokee County Sheriff's Office

ARREST WARRANT

2015A1110100231

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

Foreperson of Grand Jury
Date:

VERDICT

Foreperson of Pefit Jury
Dafe:

¥8-G3S-11-00U02

The State of South Caroling
County of Cherokee

Banry Barneite, Solicior

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

MAY 122005 _—

THE STATE

vs.

ALONZO COLUMBUS JETER 1l

indiciment for

DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE
WITHIN ONE-HALF MILE OF PARK/SCHOOL

SC Code: 44-53-445
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT

COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

MAY 19
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on HAY 122009 . the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:
DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE
WITHIN ONE-HALF MILE OF PARK[SCHQ_OI.

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter 1, did in Cherokee County on or about
January 14, 2015, distribute, sell, purchase, manufacture, or unlawfully possess
with intent to distribute, a controlled substance, to wit: A quantity of
Methamphetamine, a schedule |l controlled substance, within one-half mile of
Macedonia Baptist Church playground, South Carolina, such distribution not
have been authorized by law, in violation of § 44-53-445, CODE OF LAWS OF

SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976), as amended

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

L&

ASSISTANTISOLICITOR

such case made and provided.




299 .
S‘I‘ATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSJIONS

Chergkee N _
VS. NDICTMENT/CASEH: AD/S- 1S -1 |- OOF 63
Alonzo Columbus Jeter 111 A/WE:  2015A1110100231

yd S.C.Code § :_44:53-0445(A)

CDR Code #: _ 0107

)
)
)
)
; Date of Offense: _1/14/2013
)
)
)
% SENTENCE SHEET

*CDLY&:D No[T] CMV Yes[3 No[] Hazmat Yes[ ] Neo[]

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [C] CONVICTEDOF or XIPLEADS
TO: Drups/ Distribute, sell, manuf. or pwid, of cont, sub., near school (0~10 years &/OR 0-10,000 fine)
inviolationof .§ 44-53-0445(A) . ofthe 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0107
X} NON-VIOLENT [0 VIOLENT [XISERIOUS [TJMOST SERIOUS  [Mandatory GPS(CSC [1817-25-45
w/minor Ist or Lgwd/Act)
The charge is:  [X] As Indicted, [JLesser Included Olfense, fendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury, (defendant’s initials)
Thepleais: [ Without Negotiations or Recommendation, {X] Negotiated Scz?i endation by the State, Corimreot
' % T3072 =,

5 JAttomey for Defendant SC Bar# A

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the H] State Department of Correctlons, [] County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of rf days/mor (0 under the Youthful Offender Act not toexceed _ years

and/or to pay a finc of § ; providédthat upon the service of days/months/years and/or paywe payment

of $ ; plus costs and assessmenls s applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.
CONCURRENT or [[] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant t6 S,C, Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections.
[J The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to 5.C. Code §17-25-135.

Parsnant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it Is unlawful for 8 person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or recelve a flrearm or smmunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
(JRESTITUTION: [] Deferred (] Def. Walves Heariig  [] Ordered  PTUP
Total: $§  plus20%fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Qbtain GED
[1J Setby SCOPPPS Attend Vo, Rehab. or Job Corp.
. May serve W/E begining
Recipieat: Substance Abuse Counseling O
*Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing O
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%).. $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
g 1210 (Con. Suchrge) CIIHOS pms. of $ beginning
14-1-21 §(AX2) (DUI Surcharge 3100 $ .
§ 56-5-2995 (DUI A ent) s12 % th — paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 [ .
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) £500 5
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce, Funding) 3
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $
§ 50-21-114(BU1 Breath Test Fee) $50 S
§:56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $4l/ea § [0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCIA Surchargs) G3E> 7§ § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% to County (if paid in installments) s . during probation.
TOTAL 3 .

Clerk of Court/ Deputy Cler!
Court Reporter:
SCCAR17 (032011)




WITNESSES

Cheyokee County Sheriif's Office

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
2015A1110100233

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

Foreperson of Grand Jury

Date:

VERDICT
Foreperson of Petit Jury
Dafe:

FHES-11-00403

_ The State of South Carolina
County of Cherokee

Bany Barnette, Solicitor

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

MAY 12785 yeam

THE STATE

vs§.

ALONZO COLUMBUS JETER IIi

Indictiment for
DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE

SC Code: 44-53-375
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT
)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )
g ‘-|1 4 <]
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on HAY 12208 _, the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter lll, did in Cherokee County on or about January
12, 2015, manufacture, dishibute, dispense, deliver, purchase, aqid, abet,
attempt or conspire 1o manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver or purchase, or
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase a
quantity of Methamphetamine, a schedule I controlled substance under

provisions Code §44-53-375, THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, {197¢6), as

amended, such distribution not having been authorized by law.

Against the peace and dignity of the S$tate, and confrary to the statute in

such case made and provided.

Assrsmmjéoucnora




ATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

)

TY OF Cherokee )

STA VS, )
Alonzo Columbus Jeter IlI )

AKAT \ ;
Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: 37 .
DOB; 1977 SS#: )
Address: Malone Rd )
City,State,Zip:  Gaflney, SC 29341-0000 )
DL#: SID#: 3

*CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Yes{] Neo[J

225

IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

INDICTMENT/CASE#; 2’370/5 -GS 1~ (XHFG3
A/WH: __2015A1110100233

Date of Offense: _1/12/2015
S.C.Code § :_44-53-0375(BX3)
CDR Code #: 3200

SENTENCE SHEET

In dispogition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [J CONVICTEDOF or X]PLEADS

TO: Drugs/ Distribution, etc. of mefhamphetamine, 2nd offense (3-30 years &/OR 0-50K fine)

in violationof § 44-53-0373(B)(3} of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 3 99

(X NON-VIOLENT  [J VIOLENT [XSERIOUS []MOST SERIOUS [ JMandatory GPS{CSC (18172545

The chargeis: [] As Indicted, [X]Lesser Included Offense, @(ﬁndant Walves Preseniment to Grand Jury.
Negotiated Sentey [0 Reco;

Without Népotiations or Recommendation,

AL
SC Bar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is cornmited to the

for a determinate term of / 5- days/monthafyears ¢
and/or topay a fineof §  _ © ;provi
of $

‘State Department of Corrections,

[] under the Youthlul Offender Act not to exceed
t upon the service of

; plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the balance is suspended with probation for ..

w/minor Lst or Lewd Act)
(defendant's initials)
ndation by the State. 15 o

(2
Atomey for Defendant ——'ZSIC%—

[J County Detention Center,

years
days/monthsfyears and/or payment

months/years and subject to South Carclina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of

probation, which are incorpaerated by reference.
CONCURRENT or [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:

The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C, Code

y the State Department of Corrections.

§ 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied

[ The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant (o 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawf{u! for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[CJRESTITUTION: [] Deferred [ Def. WalvesHearing ] Ordered  PTUP
Total: $ plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED D
[ Set by SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling O
*Fine: 3 Random Drug/Alcohol testing
14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) — 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/manthl
g 1412 11(AX1) (Conv. Surcharge) g pmts. :t? 3 ,pd eq’ — beginning d
§ 14-1-211(A)(Z} (DU Surcharge) 1o _$ 5 paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-3-2995 (DUl Assessmont) siz2 8§ ot
§ 56-1-286 (DU Breath Test) $25 3 *
Provisa 47.9 (Public DofProb) $500 S
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $
g§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) 3
§ 50-21-114(BUIL Breath Test Fee) £50 s
§ 56-5-2942(7) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca  § [0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, -
Provizo 90,5 (SCCIA Surcharge) s _ 8 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% to County (if paid in installments) S S92 during probation,
TOTAL SempSiss, I
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerg/  /
Court Reporier: }

SCCA217 (03/2011)
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WITNESSES
Cherokee County Sheriff’s Office

ARREST WARRANT

2015A1110100234

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

Foreperson of Grand Jury
Date:

VERDICT

Foreperson of Pelit Jury
Date;

F8EGS-11-0044

County of Cherokee

Barnry Barnefte, Solicilor

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

HAY. 122615

THE STATE

vs.

ALONZO COLUMBUS JETER I

tndictment for

DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE
WITHIN ONE-HALF MILE OF PARK/SCHOOL

S$C Code: 44-53-445




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

MAY 12200
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on . the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:
DISTRIBUTION OF METHAMPHETAMINE
WITHIN ONE-HALF MILE OF PARK/SCHOOL

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter lll, did in Cherékee County on or about
January 12, 2015, distribute, sell, purchase, manufacture, or unlc;wfully possess
with intent fo distribute, a controlled substance, to wit: A quantity of
Methamphetamine, a schedule [ controlled substance, within one-half mile of
Macedonia Baptist Church playground, South Carolina, such distribution nof
have been authorized by law, in violation of § 44-53-445, CODE OF LAWS OF

SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976}, as amended

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided. f {

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
UNTY OF Cherokee ;
TATE Vs, )  INDICTMENT/CASE#: 16-G5-1 -
Alonzo Columbus Jeter 111 ) AWH: zg ! §Al 1 lomogg"
AKA: ) Dateof Offense: _1/12/2015
Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: ) S.C.Code § :_44-53-0445(A)
DOB: S5#: CDR Code#; 0107
Address: ; '
City,State
Dﬁ: P ; % SENTENCE SHEET
[ 7 No[] €MV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Yes(] No[]
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was 7} CONVICTED OF or XIPLEADS
TO: Drugs / Distribute, ssll, manuf. or pwid, of cont. sub., near school {0-10 years &/OR 0-10K fine)
in violationof § 44-53-0445(A) = ofthe §.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0107
K] NON-VIOLENT I:] VIOLENT .SERIOUS [CIMOST SERIOUS (JMandatory GPS(CSC [1§17-25-45

wiminor 1st or Lg:

LhAct)
The charge [s: As Indicted, (]Lesser Included Offense, @gfendam Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. ]

(defendant's mmals)

Theplenis:  []Without Wegotiations or Recommendation, [X] Negotiated Sentence, [ Rec v;“‘;.» endauon by the State. Commvf
ATTEST:
..;Z-—- [0020~T 72072 a&l,.r
s CLETONM, SC Bar# rmey for Defendant SCBar# ¢
WHEREFORE, the Defendant Is commited to the X7 State Department of Corrections, [ ] County Detention Center,
for a determinate term of _{2 days/monthsTy. [] underthe Youthful Offender Act nottpexceed _ years
and/ar to pay a fine of ; provided that upon the service of days/months/years and/or payme payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
obation, which are incorporated by reference.
CONCURRENT or [[] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
y the State Department of Corrections,
[J The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant 1o 5.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Sectlon 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammuuaition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

[JRESTITUTION: [] Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [JOrdered pPTUP
Total: §  plus20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Pﬁ‘jﬂlﬂ“ Terms: Obtain GED D
O Setby SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab, or Job Corp.

— May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling 0
*Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohel testing
8 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211(AX)) (Conv. Surcharge) ~ <-$100.2"§ pmts. of § beginning
§ 14-1-211{A}(2) (DUI Surcharge) siond § 3 .
§ 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) 12 S ofh' — paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DU Breath Test) 25 § T er:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 §
B 14-1-212 (Law Enforce, Funding) ~ (C$250 ~§
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Coun Surcherge) <30T §
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $30 $
§ 56-5-2942(3) (Vehicle Assessment) %Uf ea $ [J Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 0.5 (SCCIA Surcharge) $ § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% 10 County (if paid in installments) $ S. @ during probation.
TOTAL S oD

Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Cleck Judge Code:
Court Réporter: Sentence Da

SCCA217 (03/2011) .




WITNESSES

Cherokee County Sheriif's Office

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER

2015A1110100235

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

Foreperson of Grand Jury
Date:

VERDICY

Foreperson of Peflt Jury
Date: i

19-11-00465

The State of South Carolina

County of Cherokee

Bamry Barnefle, Solicitor

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

WY 122005 TERM
THE STATE
v8§.
ALONZIO COLUMBUS JETER il
Indictment for

TRAFFICKING IN METHAMPHETAMINE
SC Code: 44-53-375

229
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT

)
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE )

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on MAY 120815 the

Grand Jurors of Cherokee County present upon their oath:

TRAFFICKING IN METHAMPHETAMINE

That Alonzo Columbus Jeter lll, did in Cherokee County on or about January
15, 2015, knowingly sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase or bring into this State, or
did provide financial assistance or did otherwise aid, abet, of’rerﬁp’t, or conspire
to sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or did knowingly
actually or constructively possess, or did knowingly attempt to actually or
constructively possess {10} ten grams or more, but less than (28) twenty-eight
grams of Methamphetamine, a schedule Il controlled substance, in violation of

§44-53-375, THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, (1976}, as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided.

ASSISTANT $OLICITOR
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IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

STATYE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
UNTY OF Cherokee g
STMTE VS, ) mDICT™MENTICASE!: 40/5-GS-1 {-00465
— Alonzo Columbus Jeter 111 ) AWH _2015A1110100235
\ -y  Date of Offense: _1/15/2013
Rnce:' BLACK Sex: . M Age. 37 ) S.C.Code § :_44-53-0375(C)(1)c)
) CDRCode#; _ 0452
)
: SENTENCE SHEET
"CDL Yes[J No[J CMV Yes{] No[J HazmatYes[] No[}
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [ CONVICTED gg or [XIPLEADS
TO: Drugs/ Trafficking in ice, crank or crack - 10 g or more, but less than 28 g -~ 2nd offense (5-30 &ys & SOK fine)
in violatlon of  § 44-53-0375(CX1)(c) of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # _0d451
[0 NON-VIOLENT [} VIOLENT [X|SERIOUS []JMOSTSERIOUS [ JMandatory GPS(CSC O§17-25-45
w/minor 1st or Lewd fct)
The charge is:  [[] As Indicted, P_l]l.lsser Included Oﬂense. [z&fendam Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. {defendant’s initials)
The pleais: 8 ! ! Reco ion by the State. | S
cos
9
) Arorney for Defendant Sé Bar#

K State Department of Corrections, [] County Detention Center,
for a detsrminate term of daysimon ’ ) underthe Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; providedthat upon the service of deys/months/years and/or payment
of § ; blus costs and assessments as applicable®; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parcle and Pardon Services stgndard conditions of

probation, which are incorporated by reference. /%;
CONCURRENT or  [] CONSECUTIVE tosentenceon: fReioteomTPS
‘The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied

y the State Department of Cormrections.
[0 The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person couvicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-23-65 (Criminal
Domestic Vlolence) to shlp,transpon,pnssess,or receive a firearm or ammaunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
Dnssnm'rlon: 0 Def:rrtd [] Def. Walves Heariog ~ { ] Ordered  PTUP
Total: $ _ plus20% fee: $ days/hours Publi¢ Service Employment
Payment Terma: : - Obtain GED [
[] Setby SCDPPPS _  Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
May serve W/E begining
Recipient: . ; - . " Substance Abuse Counseling ~ [J
*Pine: 3 Random Drug/Alcohol testing 0O
§ 14-1-206 (Asscssments 107.3 %) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-21 1{AX1) (Conv. Surcharge)  $ pmts. of § beginning
14-1-21 1(AX2) (DUI Surcharge) 1o 5 .
g o529 N1 Assmsmnt) Ny - $__ paidtoPublic Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 7§ Other: — ’
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) 0§ v .
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce, Funding) . T—
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $1 3 ‘
§ 50-21-114(BUT Breath Test Fec) $50 °$
§ 56-5-2942(F) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/en § [0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $ § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3% 10 County (if paid in installmeats) $ 3 during probation.
TOTAL ﬁ

Clerk of Court/ Deputy Cles
Court Reporter:
SCCA/217 (03/2011)






